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We feel confident  
in taking the company 
to the next level.

22
HTML-5

new brands launched 
in 2017

Launched our first proprietary
HTML5-based progressive jackpot 
slot game

Aspire Global Plc invites its shareholders to participate in the 
company’s Annual General Meeting on Tuesday May 8th 2018, 
at 13:00, in Berzelii park 9, Stockholm , Sweden.

Shareholders who would like to participate in the AGM must be 
registered in the share register maintained by Euroclear Sweden 
AB by Wednesday May 2nd 2018 and register their attendance 
with the company no later than Thursday May 3rd 2018, via 
email agm@aspireglobal.com

Interim report for the 3-month period  
January-March (Q1) May 8th 2018

Interim report for the 6-month period  
January-June (Q2) August 14th 2018

Interim report for the 9-month period  
January-September (Q3) November 8th 2018

Year-end report (Q4) February 14th 2019

 
Financial reports are available in English at the company website, 
www.aspireglobal.com/investors.

Tsachi Maimon, CEO 
tel: +356-79777898 or email: tsachi@aspireglobal.com

Motti Gil, CFO 
tel: +972- 73 372 3154 or email: mottigi@aspireglobal.com 

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING CALENDAR FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 2018

CONTACT

 
Revenues, € million

80

2017

71.9

20162015

60
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20

+18%



EVERYTHING WE DO, WE ARE DOING TO ENABLE 
OUR PARTNERS ACHIEVE THEIR FULL POTENTIAL.

OUR PLATFORM IS ROBUST, HIGHLY SCALABLE AND 
A TRUE “ONE STOP SHOP” SOLUTION. OUR PROFES-
SIONAL SERVICES ALLOW OUR PARTNERS TO FOCUS 
ON MARKETING WITH THE PEACE OF MIND THAT 
WE ARE TAKING CARE OF THE REST.

WE PROVIDE AN IGAMING PLATFORM WITH A  
FULLY MANAGED SERVICES PACKAGE.

WHY

HOW

WHAT



ASPIRE GLOBAL AND 
2017 IN BRIEF

FEBRUARY A 30% stake in Minotauro 
Media is acquired in February 
and later integrated, increasing 
revenues and scaling benefits and 
cash flow through the migration of 
brands to the company platform. 

SEPTEMBER Operations in 
 Australia are discontinued 
in September following new 
gaming legislation. 

JUNE Carl Klingberg and Fredrik Burvall 
are elected as board members in June, 
replacing Olga Finkel, who steps down 
in July and changes position to secretary 
of the board. Carl Klingberg is appointed 
Chairman of the Board.

AUGUST Neolotto in which Aspire 
Global has a 38% interest, is 
granted a nationwide license in 
Germany for charity lotteries and 
raises a convertible loan totaling 
€5.3 million, of which €2.7 million 
from Aspire Global.

JULY Application is submitted to list the share 
on Nasdaq First North Premier in Stockholm. 
Share offering is oversubscribed and trading 
commences on July 11th under the ticker sym-
bol ASPIRE with a share price of SEK 30, valuing 
the company’s shares at SEK 1,323 million, and 
with Pareto Securities AB as certified adviser, 
later replaced by FNCA Sweden AB. 

DURING SUMMER Comprehensive 
overhaul of Karamba results in 
a HTML-based user experience 
as well as an improved display, 
superior navigation and improved 
promotions. 

SEPTEMBER Enters the newly regulat-
ed Portuguese market in September 
through a strategic partnership with 
Cofina Media, one of the largest 
Media Groups in Portugal.

JUNE Aspire Global is 
nominated in the categories 
“Platform of the year,” “Best 
customer service,” “White la-
bel partner” and “Acquisition 
and retention partner” for 
the EGR B2B Awards 2017.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS 2017

148
EMPLOYEES

12
NATIONALITIES

2005
FOUNDED IN

60+
IGAMING BRANDS

6
REGULATED 
MARKETS  

UNDER LICENSE
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KEY RATIOS
€ million 2015 2016 2017
Revenues 57,9 61.0 71.9
Distribution expenses 34,2 36.8 42.9
Gaming duties 2,1 2.6 3.0
Administrative expenses 8,6 9.3 10.6
EBITDA 12,5 11.4 14.3
EBIT 10,8 10.6 13
Earnings after tax* 13,5 11.6 12.3
Earnings after tax*, per share, € 0,32 0.28 0.27
Dividend paid, per share, € 0  0,27  0,28 

* Excluding results from associated companies.

NOVEMBER Joint venture 
formed to co-launch Mr. Play in 
November. Mr. Play is a casino 
and sports betting site in 
which Aspire Global provides 
the technology and becomes a 
material shareholder, backing 
the new company up to €2 
million along with another 
investor. 

DURING Q3 Preparations 
for the launch of Sports-
book with the appointment 
of a Head of Sports and 
SBTech as a third-party 
supplier.  

SEPTEMBER The game portfolio is 
expanded with proprietary game “Re-
deem the Dream” (progressive Jackpot 
slots) as well as a number of titles from 
Swedish third-party supplier Playn’GO. 
Moreover, the partnership with NYX 
gaming group is strengthened through 
a new agreement covering numerous 
jurisdictions. 

JANUARY Game portfolio is ex-
panded through the game hub 
iSoftBet, adding new titles from 
around 25 suppliers, licensed in 
multiple jurisdictions, including 
the UK, Denmark, Portugal, and 
COM regions.

JANUARY Sportsbook launches with unique 
features, aiming to become a leader in turnkey 
solutions for sport operators. The initial launch 
through Karamba in January is followed by Nossa 
Aposta in Portugal in March after the latter 
platform is legally and technically certified for the 
sports vertical and local partner Cofina Media is 
granted a betting license. 

FEBRUARY The new operator 
Goliath Casino is launched, 
soon to include Sportsbook 
in its offering.

MAY Operational adjust-
ments are finalized before 
GDPR takes effect in May.

APRIL The company issues a €27.5 
million senior secured bond loan 
under a EUR 80 million framework, 
with the intention to apply for a listing 
of the bond on Nasdaq Stockholm.The 
bond loan has a 3-year tenor with a 
floating interest rate of Euribor 3m + 
7.0 percent and a Euribor floor of zero. 
The purpose of the bond is to explore 
a number of M&A-opportunities. 

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS 2018

25%
EBITDA-INCREASE IN 2017

Aspire Global is the first provider of a full turnkey 
solution to casino and sports operators, let alone 
with active presence in six regulated markets.
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LETTER FROM THE CEO

Much of the focus in the past year was on the IPO in July, 
preceded by intense preparations and meetings with poten-
tial investors. Interest from the capital market was over-
whelming, and we were pleased to welcome so many new 
shareholders to the company. We already see that the in-
creased exposure since the listing has generated a number 
of exciting business opportunities, as well as the privilege of 
being more selective in our choice of new projects.

In 2017 Aspire Global reached record heights. Revenues rose 18% to MEUR 
71.9 (61.0) and EBITDA rose 25% to MEUR 14.3 (11.4). This was achieved in 
parallel to some extraordinary events, such as the IPO which required our 
close attention on top of the core operations. If we entered the previous year 
with an ambitious agenda, it is nothing compared to expectations for the 
coming year. Strengthened by the fact that we succeeded in achieving all we 
had strived for, and more, we feel confident in taking the company to the next 
level - now with nearly a thousand new shareholders on our journey with us. 

Aside from the listing, the launch in Portugal together with 
Cofina Media was an important step for the company in 
keeping with our strategy to focus on regulated markets. 
Cofina Media also became one of the first partners to 
launch Sportsbook, once it was officially launched by Aspire 
Global after the turn of the year – another major milestone 
for us. The launch followed months of extensive prepara-
tions. At the same time, the platform as a whole underwent 
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an overhaul, being upgraded and scaled up, to take the 
company to the next level, in line with our growth strategy.

ORGANIC GROWTH - THROUGH NEW PARTNERSHIPS, 
ADDITIONAL BRANDS AND MORE GAME DEVELOPMENT
Aspire Global today is active in B2B and B2C, with both 
business segments operating side by side on the company’s 
platform, contributing to the company’s overall growth. 
Platform fees are mainly constituted of Aspire Global’s 
share of net gaming revenues (NGR). Organic growth is 
expected to come from more partnerships, from new and 
migrated brands, and from an increased focus on B2C 
through a newly established organization with clear focus 
on our single largest brand, Karamba. 

In addition, revenues are generated from the sale of 
games – those we develop ourselves and others’. We see a 
particular interest in our own games from our players, part-
ners’ players and external operators, another growing target 
group. Game development is a strength that we have not 
emphasized before, but it is an asset we intend to develop 
from now on, as it is a successful and profitable product that 
gives us to control over additional parts of the value chain.

BROADER OFFERING - FOR A WIDER TARGET  
GROUP OF PLAYERS AND PARTNERS
The company’s platform has unique scalability in the sense 
that we can add new revenue streams without significant 
effort. There is no limit to the number of new collaborations, 
brands, verticals or game titles - proprietary and third-party.

By launching more verticals, such as sports games or 
bingo, we reach new audiences and expand the number 
of potential partners. With the launch of sports games, for 
example, we entered the largest vertical in iGaming and a 
new type of collaboration.

In addition, we continuously improve our turnkey 
solutions to meet the highest standards in terms of speed, 
availability, and reliability. We also take our responsibility for 
sustainable gaming by developing services that enable fast-
er identification of players at risk, and routines for handling 
such behavior.

 
FOCUS ON REGULATED MARKETS - FOR INCREASED 
COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGES AND MORE SUSTAINABLE 
BUSINESS
We choose to focus on regulated gaming markets. This puts 
high demands on our ability to obtain and retain licenses, 
but in turn offers an important competitive advantage 
thanks to the collaborations with medium-sized companies 
that are not originally operators, such as media houses 

and affiliate companies. They have access to players but 
cannot obtain a platform for a casino/sportsbook. With our 
full-service solution, they can redirect traffic to a brand of 
their own, capitalizing on their existing assets.  

This focus on regulated markets also means more 
opportunities to promote sustainable gaming, because 
competition is on equal terms, with the same responsibili-
ties for all players.

At present, about 50% of our revenues are generated 
from regulated and taxed markets, or around 65% including 
markets that will soon be regulated. This is a significantly 
higher figure than our competitors. Next in turn is the 
Swedish gaming market, which is expected to be regulated 
in the coming year, and when that happens we will be ready.

M & A - FOR FASTER GROWTH
We are actively looking for opportunities to continue grow-
ing through acquisitions. We mainly look at two types of 
targets: operators and game developers. Operators can be 
acquired through majority or minority interests. In both cas-
es, brands are typically migrated to our platform, generating 
platform fees from day one. In a sense then the acquisition 
is retroactively self-financed, since the remaining shares can 
be acquired depending on the brand’s performance after 
scaling to our platform. The recent bond issue enables us to 
explore interesting investment and acquisition opportuni-
ties we have identified in a number of markets.

AN EXCITING YEAR AHEAD OF US
Given the great progress since the IPO less than a year ago, 
we look forward to the coming year. Aspire Global is the first 
provider of a full turnkey solution for sports operators, let 
alone one with operations in six regulated markets. We will 
monitor Sportsbook’s performance during the World Cup, 
prepare for the Swedish regulation and assess potential 
acquisitions closer. At the same time, day-to-day operations 
continue, and we are preparing new B2B launches while 
giving Karamba additional attention.

As a foreign player in the Swedish capital market, it is 
extremely important for us as a company to be seen as 
available and transparent. We want to maintain a regular 
and active presence in Sweden and look forward to meeting 
more of our current and potential investors in the coming 
year, starting at the annual general meeting. 

Tsachi Maimon
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ASPIRE GLOBAL AS 
AN INVESTMENT
Aspire Global offers a full-service iGaming solution that allows operators 
to focus entirely on marketing their brand and generating traffic. The 
company platform includes the first full turnkey solution to sports oper-
ators, let alone with operations under six licenses for regulated markets. 
Aspire Global is the ideal partner for casino and sports operators as well 
as experts in marketing such as affiliates and media companies capable of 
generating large amounts of online traffic. 

INVESTMENT CASE

BUSINESS CONCEPT 
Aspire Global is a service provider for the online gaming 
market, offering partners a full-service solution to launch 
and operate casino and sports games. Partners bring the 
idea, brand and players, while Aspire Global delivers the 
technical platform, services and knowledge gained from 
more than ten years of operational experience. A propri-
etary iGaming platform manages every aspect from regula-
tion and compliance to payment processing, risk manage-
ment, CRM, support and player value optimization, allowing 
operators to focus entirely on marketing their brand and 
generating traffic. 

In 2018, Aspire Global became the first provider of a full 
turnkey solution for sport operators, let alone one with six 
licenses, expanding its offering well ahead of the World Cup 
in Russia in June. Entering the biggest vertical in the gaming 
field enables new partnerships and innovative business 
setups, while increasing player value for existing partners 
through the promotion of a wider sports and casino offer-

ing. In time for the launch, the original casino platform was 
also updated to include a range of added value services. 
In addition to the B2B offering, Aspire Global operates a 
B2C business with several proprietary casino brands, such 
as Karamba, based on the same operational setup and 
technical platform.

REVENUE MODEL
Platform fees are mainly constituted of Aspire Global’s 
share of net gaming revenues (NGR). In addition, revenues 
are generated from the sales of games. Costs revolve 
around technical development, licenses, customer service 
and marketing of B2C brands. Being the license-holder 
in most partnerships, means that Aspire Global receives 
payment directly from players, as opposed to a royalty from 
partners, which is the case with most other B2B companies. 
For this reason, the company’s EBITDA margin is not fully 
comparable to the EBITDA margin of other platform provid-
ing companies.

Non-regulated 
markets 35%B2B 52%B2C 48%

Regulated 
markets 46%

Revenues per market 2017Revenues per segment 2017

Soon-to be regulated 
markets 19%
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FINANCIAL TARGETS

REVENUE GROWTH 
Aspire Global’s target is to increase 
revenues to €120 million by 2020. 

EBITDA MARGIN 
Aspire Global’s target is an average 
EBITDA margin of 15% over the medi-
um term (2017–2020). 

DIVIDEND POLICY 
Aspire Global’s target is to distribute 
annual dividends of at least 50% of 
net profits, subject to the discretion 
of the Board of Directors. 

INVESTMENT CASE

6
REGULATED MARKETS  

IN WHICH THE COMPANY  
OPERATES UNDER LICENSE

200+
PROPRIETARY GAMES

66
B2B-BRANDS OPERATING ON 
THE COMPANY’S PLATFORM

€0.27
EARNINGS PER SHARE  

AFTER TAX, FROM 
 CONTINUED OPERATIONS*

* €0.23 including results of 
associated companies

 €0,28
Dividend paid per  
share during 2017

 
Revenues, € million

80

2017

71.9

20162015

60

40

20

EBITDA, € million 
 and EBITDA margin, %

16

2017

14.3

20%

20162015

12

8

4

+18%

+25%
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UNIQUE STRENGTHS 
FOR RAPID AND  
PROFITABLE GROWTH 

SCALABLE PLATFORM
Aspire Global’s business model allows 
the company to acquire players with-
out investing the level of resources and 
funds required for effective marketing. 
New operators can easily be added to 
the scalable platform, increasing cost 
benefits and the number of partners, 
brands and players without substan-
tially raising fixed costs. New partners 
migrating from competing platforms 
also generate an immediate increase in 
revenues for Aspire Global.

LUCRATIVE PARTNERSHIP MODEL 
Thanks to a unique pricing model that 
aligns interests and incentives, all 
parties benefit when partners achieve 
their full potential as operators, result-
ing in a high degree of partner loyalty 
and long-term relationships. This is 
primarily done by keeping the mark-up 
on third party services to a minimum 
while increasing the revenue share 
element of the partnerships, which is 
believed to be competitive advantage 
over competitors who charge a higher 
mark-up. 

EXCLUSIVE FEATURES
The platform itself offers unique 
features that increase profitability for 
all parties such as a large, exclusive 
selection of in-house games as well 
as data-driven (CRM) performance 
evaluation, ensuring disciplined use 
of marketing resources. For instance, 
unprofitable campaigns can quickly be 
identified and ended and underper-
forming games replaced. 

REGULATORY CHANGES IN CURRENT OR FUTURE MARKETS

   Many markets, including the Nordic countries except Denmark, 
today lack a clear regulatory framework in relation to online 
gaming. Regulatory changes can affect the company positively as 
well as negatively.

Regulatory changes and greater stability increase the likeli-
hood that existing and potential partner brands can expand 
their operations and contribute to Aspire Global’s overall 
growth. In addition, the potential increases for Aspire Global 
to attract new non-operators as partners (such as media 
and online marketing companies), as they are often unable 
to own and operate online gaming brands in unregulated 
markets. It is the company’s ambition to increase its share 
of revenues generated from taxed markets in the future.

Increased regulation often introduces additional taxes 
and costs related to compliance, which could negatively 
affect Aspire Global’s results and margins. Moreover, the 
regulation of previously unregulated markets may increase 
competition within that market, which also could affect 
Aspire Global negatively.

MARKET GROWTH FOR ONLINE GAMING
   Aspire Global is primarily exposed to the European online gam-
ing market, which in recent years has seen considerable growth. 

Since 2007, Aspire Global has benefited to a large degree 
from the increased size of the European market, as it 
presents additional opportunities to expand the number 
of new partner brands, but also the company’s selection of 
proprietary casino brands. 

INVESTMENT CASE

KEY FACTORS AFFECTING 
ASPIRE GLOBAL’S RESULT  
OF OPERATIONS AND 
CASH FLOW
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RELATIVE SIZE AND IMPORTANCE OF BRANDS  
(B2B AND B2C) IN RELATION TO TOTAL REVENUES

   If one segment were to grow larger than the other, the costs 
unique to that segment (marketing expenses for the proprietary 
brands segment and royalty payments to partners for the part-
ner brands segment) would also increase in relative importance.

Although proprietary brands and partner brands operate in 
a similar way and share the same platform and operational 
services, there are a few differences between the segments.

Revenues from the partner brands segment is report-
ed on a gross level in Aspire Global’s financial statements, 
meaning that the partner’s share of the revenues is record-
ed as a royalty payment within “distribution expenses.” The 
company does not incur any costs for customer acquisition 
(marketing), as partners are responsible for financing these 
activities. 

Within the proprietary brands segment, Aspire Global 
is responsible for its own marketing expenses, which are 
also included in distribution expenses together with royalty 
payments to Aspire Global’s partners. 

ABILITY TO EXECUTE THE GROWTH STRATEGY
   M&A growth - The company’s ability to identify attractive acqui-
sition opportunities and successfully complete acquisitions. 

Aspire Global will seek to improve its operating results 
through acquisitions. We mainly look at two types of tar-
gets: operators and game developers. Operators can be 
acquired through majority or minority interests. In both cas-
es, brands are typically migrated to our platform, generating 
platform fees from day one. The recent bond issue enables 
us to explore interesting investment and acquisition oppor-
tunities we have identified in a number of markets. If Aspire 
Global is unsuccessful in executing its acquisition strategy, 
profit levels and margins could decline. 

   Organic growth - The ability to retain current partners as well as 
attract new partners to the platform. 

Historically, Aspire Global has seen very few partners leave 
the platform, while the number of new partners is grow-
ing strongly. The effect of new partner brands on Aspire 
Global’s revenues and earnings  normally is not realized 
immediately, but usually lags two to three quarters, and the 
full effect of newly launched partner brands can take up to 
a year to become evident in the company’s accounts.

ASPIRE GLOBAL AS AN INVESTMENT

   Broadening the offering - Aspire Global’s ability to successfully 
develop and expand its product and service offering.

Aspire Global must continuously develop and expand its 
product offering to ensure that it is attractive, competitive 
and relevant to existing and potential new partners as well 
as players of Aspire Global’s proprietary casinos. One way is 
to broaden the offering by developing the company’s tech-
nological platform and launching additional online gaming 
verticals. This may entail additional costs relating to R&D 
and marketing, which could affect Aspire Global’s profits. In-
creased levels of investments during certain periods of time 
may also be required to successfully develop the current 
product and service offering.

OPERATIONAL EFFICIENCY
   The single largest cost relates to distribution expenses, accounting 
for around 75% of total operating expenses. Distribution expenses 
relate to partner royalties (B2B) as well as advertising expenses 
and customer acquisition costs related to the B2C segment. 

By growing and offering a more attractive value proposi-
tion for partners, Aspire Global may be able to negotiate 
more attractive revenue share agreements with a positive 
effect on the company’s profits and margins. Conversely, 
increased marketing efforts aimed at both attracting addi-
tional partners and customer acquisition for Aspire Global’s 
proprietary brands could during periods of increased mar-
keting activity mean higher expenses and lower margins.

   The second largest cost item is administrative expenses related 
to staff and other operating costs. 

Due to the scalability of Aspire Global’s platform, additional 
growth can be sustained with relatively little increase in 
administrative expenses. During the last two years, Aspire 
Global has maintained administrative expenses at around 
19% of total operating expenses while growing revenues. 

   Fluctuations in the currencies to which Aspire Global is exposed.

Aspire Global generates revenues in a number of different 
currencies, primarily EUR and GBP. Aspire Global’s costs are 
mainly incurred in EUR and Israeli shekel. In addition, the 
company incurs some costs in GBP and SEK. To mitigate the 
effect of currency fluctuations, Aspire Global uses financial 
derivatives from time to time to hedge certain currency 
cash flow exposures, mainly forward exchange contracts.
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GROWTH STRATEGY AND INITIATIVES IN 2017 
STRONGER OFFERING

General approach Strategy Initiatives in 2017

Aspire Global continuously 
seeks ways to improve the iGam-
ing solution through product 
development and a broader 
offering. 

By launching more verticals and additional game titles, the company 
can reach new audiences, expand the number of potential partners 
and enter into new types of collaborations. Moreover, the platform 
and turn-key solution is continuously upgraded with new services and 
higher capacity to meet the highest standards of speed, availability, and 
reliability. 

Adding a sports vertical to the existing casino offering made the platform more com-
petitive for potential new partners. Growth is generated in two main ways: 
•  Existing partners are able to expand their casino offering, attracting new target 

groups while cross-promoting their casino and sports betting brands among exist-
ing players. 

•  The addition of sports betting products and solutions attracts sports betting oper-
ators as well as non-operators, such as affiliates or media companies active in the 
sports segment. 

A comprehensive overhaul of Karamba.com was completed, including the transition 
from a flash- to HTML-based user experience while maintaining the original visual 
expression. 

ORGANIC GROWTH
General approach Strategy Initiatives in 2017

Accelerate the number of new 
partners and brands without 
adding significant overhead.

The scalability of its platform and business model enables Aspire Global 
to achieve organic growth while maintaining marketing efforts and 
expenditure at a minimal level, especially in B2B. 

During the year, 15 (6) new partnerships were signed, resulting in 22 (5) launched 
brands, strong B2B growth and sustained profitability. As the partner base expands, 
the dependence on a few key accounts declines. At the same time, the B2C segment 
grew, mainly through Karamba, with 104.5 thousand (81.6) new players (FTDs) and 
138.1 thousand (110.3) active users in 2017. 

M&A STRATEGY 
General approach Strategy Initiatives in 2017

Aspire Global looks actively for 
acquisition opportunities and 
new projects that could broaden 
the offering for players, enhance 
the scale benefits of the plat-
form or accelerate growth.

Aspire Global actively looks for opportunities to continue growing 
through acquisitions, mainly of two types of targets: operators and 
game developers. Operators can be acquired through majority or 
minority interests. In both cases, brands are typically migrated to our 
platform, generating platform fees from day one. In a sense then the 
acquisition is retroactively self-financed, since the remaining shares can 
be acquired depending on the brand’s performance after scaling to our 
platform. 

Acquired a 30% stake in Minotauro Media, Aspire Global’s first acquisition. Minotauro 
Media was integrated and its brands were migrated to the company platform. Also, 
acquired at 40% stake in Mr. Play, a fully regulated casino and sports betting site, in 
which Aspire Global is providing the technology and becoming a material shareholder. 
Aspire Global continues to evaluate interesting projects and possible acquisitions.  
The recent bond issue enables the company to explore interesting investment and 
acquisition opportunities in a number of markets.

GEOGRAPHIC EXPANSION
General approach Strategy Initiatives in 2017

Aspire Global has a strong focus 
on regulated markets.

Aspire Global seeks to partner with companies who have strong local 
presence but lack experience in online gaming, such as media and on-
line marketing companies. Partnering with Aspire Global enables these 
companies to own and market online gaming sites in their domicile 
without a license or any operational or technical expertise. Instead they 
can concentrate entirely on generating traffic. As more countries adopt 
regulations, the target group of non-operators grows.

Left the Australian market for regulatory reasons in favor of the long-term potential 
in Portugal, entering this newly regulated market through a partnership with Cofina 
Media. Going forward, we are focused on obtaining additional gaming licenses in 
regulated markets and are currently preparing for the upcoming regulation of the 
Swedish gambling market.

 

INVESTMENT CASE

12 ASPIRE GLOBAL ANNUAL REPORT 2017



STRONGER OFFERING
General approach Strategy Initiatives in 2017

Aspire Global continuously 
seeks ways to improve the iGam-
ing solution through product 
development and a broader 
offering. 

By launching more verticals and additional game titles, the company 
can reach new audiences, expand the number of potential partners 
and enter into new types of collaborations. Moreover, the platform 
and turn-key solution is continuously upgraded with new services and 
higher capacity to meet the highest standards of speed, availability, and 
reliability. 

Adding a sports vertical to the existing casino offering made the platform more com-
petitive for potential new partners. Growth is generated in two main ways: 
•  Existing partners are able to expand their casino offering, attracting new target 

groups while cross-promoting their casino and sports betting brands among exist-
ing players. 

•  The addition of sports betting products and solutions attracts sports betting oper-
ators as well as non-operators, such as affiliates or media companies active in the 
sports segment. 

A comprehensive overhaul of Karamba.com was completed, including the transition 
from a flash- to HTML-based user experience while maintaining the original visual 
expression. 

ORGANIC GROWTH
General approach Strategy Initiatives in 2017

Accelerate the number of new 
partners and brands without 
adding significant overhead.

The scalability of its platform and business model enables Aspire Global 
to achieve organic growth while maintaining marketing efforts and 
expenditure at a minimal level, especially in B2B. 

During the year, 15 (6) new partnerships were signed, resulting in 22 (5) launched 
brands, strong B2B growth and sustained profitability. As the partner base expands, 
the dependence on a few key accounts declines. At the same time, the B2C segment 
grew, mainly through Karamba, with 104.5 thousand (81.6) new players (FTDs) and 
138.1 thousand (110.3) active users in 2017. 

M&A STRATEGY 
General approach Strategy Initiatives in 2017

Aspire Global looks actively for 
acquisition opportunities and 
new projects that could broaden 
the offering for players, enhance 
the scale benefits of the plat-
form or accelerate growth.

Aspire Global actively looks for opportunities to continue growing 
through acquisitions, mainly of two types of targets: operators and 
game developers. Operators can be acquired through majority or 
minority interests. In both cases, brands are typically migrated to our 
platform, generating platform fees from day one. In a sense then the 
acquisition is retroactively self-financed, since the remaining shares can 
be acquired depending on the brand’s performance after scaling to our 
platform. 

Acquired a 30% stake in Minotauro Media, Aspire Global’s first acquisition. Minotauro 
Media was integrated and its brands were migrated to the company platform. Also, 
acquired at 40% stake in Mr. Play, a fully regulated casino and sports betting site, in 
which Aspire Global is providing the technology and becoming a material shareholder. 
Aspire Global continues to evaluate interesting projects and possible acquisitions.  
The recent bond issue enables the company to explore interesting investment and 
acquisition opportunities in a number of markets.

GEOGRAPHIC EXPANSION
General approach Strategy Initiatives in 2017

Aspire Global has a strong focus 
on regulated markets.

Aspire Global seeks to partner with companies who have strong local 
presence but lack experience in online gaming, such as media and on-
line marketing companies. Partnering with Aspire Global enables these 
companies to own and market online gaming sites in their domicile 
without a license or any operational or technical expertise. Instead they 
can concentrate entirely on generating traffic. As more countries adopt 
regulations, the target group of non-operators grows.

Left the Australian market for regulatory reasons in favor of the long-term potential 
in Portugal, entering this newly regulated market through a partnership with Cofina 
Media. Going forward, we are focused on obtaining additional gaming licenses in 
regulated markets and are currently preparing for the upcoming regulation of the 
Swedish gambling market.

 

INVESTMENT CASE

172

22

30%

65%

NEW GAME TITLES  
IN 2017

LAUNCHED BRANDS  
IN 2017

ACQUIRED SHARE  
IN MINOTAURO  
MEDIA IN 2017

SHARE OF REVENUES 
FROM REGULATED, 

TAXED OR SOON-TO-BE 
REGULATED
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THE iGAMING VALUE CHAIN

* Novus, ”Allmänheten om spel”, October 10th,  2016

CONTROLLING THE  
VALUE CHAIN

  PLATFORM PROVIDERS
A platform is the infrastructure for an online gaming site. 
Large online gaming operators usually use proprietary 
systems, while small to mid-sized operators tend to use 
third-party platforms, choosing between a number of 
configurations, typically a turnkey solution or a white label 
solution. A turnkey solution is a ready-made, customizable 
gaming engine with varying levels of support from the plat-
form provider, while a white label solution covers the admin-
istration of bets and gambling, licenses and customer sup-
port, enabling the operator to focus entirely on the branding 
and marketing of the site. In the white label case, the end 
users, i.e. the players, actually place their bets through the 
platform provider, although it is not obvious to them.  

  ONLINE GAMING OPERATORS
Online gaming operators provide the B2C offering to play-
ers. Some operators focus exclusively on sports betting 
or online casino entertainment, while others offer a wide va-
riety of online gaming services. It is common for operators 
in the European market to offer their services in multiple 
countries, leveraging UK- or Malta-issued licenses, which 
cover all .com markets, to broaden their customer base.

  GAME DEVELOPERS
Platform providers in the gaming industry commonly use 
third-party game development studios. Games are often 
developed for “plug and play” use in platforms, allowing op-
erators to customize their offering to their specific products 
and branding strategy.

OTHER SERVICE PROVIDERS
In addition to the game and platform providers, other 
services handle payment processing, data analysis and 
research, and traffic lead. Affiliate companies specialize 
in traffic lead, marketing the iGaming operations, a wide-
ly-used service in the gaming industry. Strategies commonly 
include various forms of online and direct marketing as well 
as affiliate networks, which are networks of private individ-
uals that share revenues and other benefits from referring 
customers to partner sites.

END USERS
End-users are individual players who visit the operators’ 
gaming sites.  An estimated one in five Swedes, 26% of all 
men and 17% of all women, gamble on a regular basis (once 
a week or more), according to a survey* in 2016. 

MARKET OUTLOOK 

PLAYERS OPERATORS

B2B Brands

AFFILIATES

SEARCH ENGINES

PLATFORM
PROVIDERS

GAME
PROVIDERS
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STRONG FOCUS ON  
REGULATED MARKETS
The last decade has seen an increasing trend in Europe to-
ward adopting a licensing system for commercial operators, 
instead of the traditional monopoly system or prohibition. 
Countries such as the United Kingdom, Belgium, France, 
and Denmark have transitioned to a taxed licensing system 
for the remote gaming industry, and several other coun-
tries are set to or are evaluating a move toward the license 
model. This includes the Netherlands, where parliament 
passed a Remote Gambling Act in 2016 to liberalize the 
remote gaming market, and Sweden, which is currently eval-
uating a possible transition toward a license-based system 
instead of the current monopoly. Other countries remain 
entrenched in their regulatory position, with e.g. Norway 
and Finland reinforcing their monopolies. 

OPERATING IN SIX REGULATED MARKETS
Malta was one of the first European jurisdictions to regulate 
online gaming and betting, which are regulated primarily 
under the Lotteries and Other Games Act and the Remote 
Gaming Regulations. Maltese legislation authorizes the Mal-
ta Gaming Authority (MGA) to issue licenses for all forms of 
online gambling. Aspire Global has both B2C and B2B licens-
es from the MGA, covering all .com-markets. These licenses 
are the legal foundation for the company’s operations in ju-
risdictions where it does not hold a local license. In addition 
to Malta, the company is active in five regulated markets: 
the UK (15% gaming duty on GGR), Denmark (20% tax on 
GGR) Belgium (11% tax on gross profit and VAT 23%), Italy 
(20% tax on gross profit) and Portugal under the licenses of 

local B2B partner Cofina Media. Among the .com-markets, 
only Ireland and Germany are taxed. 

MARKETS SOON TO BE REGULATED
In the Netherlands, the Remote Gambling Act, which in-
cludes a 29% tax on GGR, was passed by the House of Rep-
resentatives in July 2016. If the new bill is passed by the Sen-
ate, it will regulate the market and allow operators, including 
foreign-based, to apply for interactive gambling licenses. 
The Swedish government is aiming to present legislation to 
parliament in 2018, including a licensing system with an 18% 
tax rate, for implementation in early 2019. As the Swedish 
and Dutch markets become regulated and open up for 
operators, Aspire Global intends to obtain licenses in these 
markets.

MARKET OUTLOOK 

Market potential overview

Online 
gaming

Own 
platform

70%
Big 

operators

80%
Yes

20%
No

30%
Medium

operators

Own 
platform

20%
Yes

80%
No

GLOBAL MARKET (2017) 
$385.3 BN

EUROPEEAN  
MARKET (2017) 
$98.3 BN

LAND BASED  
GAMING (2017) 
$78.0 BN

SKILL 

$0.9 BN
BINGO 

$0.9 BN
POKER 

$1.4 BN
LOTTERIES 

$0.9 BN

SPORTS AND  
HORSE BETTING 

$8.0 BN
CASINO 

$6.6 BN

ONLINE  
GAMING (2017) 
$20.3 BN

Source: H2, May 2017
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             THE COMPLETE    
            PLATFORM FOR  
  iGAMING OPERATORS  

LICENSES IN NUMEROUS MARKETS
Currently, Aspire Global operates in the six nationally regu-
lated markets: the UK, Denmark, Italy, Belgium, Portugal and 
Malta (MGA), with the latter license covering all .com-mar-
kets. Joining Aspire Global provides operators with access 
to all these markets without having to apply for licenses of 
their own. 

DATA ANALYSIS
Aspire Global’s partners get access to on-demand data 
analysis services in addition to a wide array of analytical 
tools that offer complete control of statistics and activity, 
such as data collection, daily report management, business 
intelligence, API gateway reports, back-office systems and 
real time data capabilities. To maximize returns on player 
acquisition costs and profitability at the player level, Aspire 
Global’s statistical tools and lifetime value model (LTV 
model) provide partners with valuable data analysis. The 
statistical model considers the impact on player lifetime 
value of various actions and determines strategies to pro-
mote casino and sports games, while the LTV model allows 
partners to make informed and accurate decisions on which 
player acquisition strategies and marketing campaigns to 
focus on and which ones to abandon.

REGULATION AND COMPLIANCE
The platform is continuously updated with new features 
relating to regulation and ongoing compliance. The in-house 
regulation and compliance team monitors all operations, 
conducts ongoing training and provides partners with 
regulatory updates and marketing guidelines for their juris-
diction. Aspire Global is licensed and certified by a number 
of recognized organizations, including the UK Gambling 
Commission, Danish Spillemyndigheden, Malta Gaming 
Authority, AAMS in Italy, Belgian Gaming Commission, SRIJ in 
Portugal iTech Labs and NMi.

CUSTOMER SUPPORT
To increase customer satisfaction and retention rates, 
in-house customer support is available in ten different 
languages - by phone, e-mail and chat, seven days a week. 
Aspire Global continuously monitors efficiency and satisfac-
tion through customer surveys and case studies. 

PLATFORM

Aspire Global offers its partners a full-service solution for launching 
and operating online casinos and Sportsbooks. Partners get access to 
a proprietary, turnkey platform, comprising all technical, operational 
and regulatory aspects of Igaming. 
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PLATFORM

CRM
Aspire Global’s CRM services are designed to complement 
the partners’ marketing strategy, allowing them to fully 
focus on customer acquisition and marketing, thereby 
increasing revenues.

 • A complete campaign management cycle: Aspire Global’s 
CRM services produce, execute and analyze campaigns 
based on advanced player segmentation in order to maxi-
mize retention and profit.

 • Player level segmentation: Players are periodically cate-
gorized into segments based on activity status, games 
orientation, deposit characteristics, reaction to previous 
promotional campaigns and account balance status. After 
being assigned to a segment, players are designated to 
a CRM cycle, which executes predetermined periodic ac-
tions aimed at offering individual and optimal promotion 
campaigns and bonus systems. 

 • Various conversion enhancement tools: Individual and 
dynamic offers for each partner’s traffic sources, in order 
to maximize conversion of traffic into depositing players.

 • Flexible bonus system: Aspire Global’s bonus system is 
highly flexible so that players in different segment catego-
ries are always matched with an appropriate bonus offer-
ing, such as free games, tournaments and loyalty points.

VIP MANAGEMENT
The VIP department works closely with the most valued 
customers of each brand, providing unique services on a 
case-by-case basis and creating strong relationships that 
lead to overall customer loyalty. The success of the depart-
ment is therefore best measured through the retention of 
VIP clients. 

PAYMENT SOLUTIONS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
Aspire Global’s platform is integrated with a number of 
trusted payment solutions in each market, such as Trustly 
in Sweden, NETELLER, Skrill and Paysafecard in the UK, and 
Giropay and Sofort in Germany, as well as credit and debit 
cards and bank transfers in all markets. This provides seam-
less and safe payment and pay-out handling. To further 
improve the customer experience, the platform also offers 
automated cashier optimization, express pay-outs and 
quick Know Your Customer (KYC) processes, where custom-
ers can upload their documents directly to the platform. 
The company has a highly secure fraud prevention scheme 
with constant payment analysis. 

Fraud and risk management is handled in four main pro-
cesses by an in-house developed system:

1.   Detection via automated rules within the management 
system

2.   Investigation by Aspire Global’s fraud section

3.   Verification in conjunction with the pay-out section and 
customer service department

4.   Actions and sanctions to quickly and accurately detect 
suspicious and fraudulent behavioral patterns.

Partners get access to a propri-
etary, turnkey platform, comprising 
all technical, operational and regula-
tory aspects of iGaming.
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EXAMPLES OF IN-HOUSE GAMES

GAMES – AN ADDITIONAL ASSET WITH HIGH BUSINESS POTENTIAL
Aspire Global offers a selection of around 1,300 games from third-party providers, in addition 
to more than 200 exclusive proprietary games with full support for Android, iOS and tablet 
devices. Moreover, a Sportsbook was launched after year-end, covering over 65,000 events per 
month, including 20,000 that are available for live betting. Aspire Global’s proprietary games 
are sold to partners and some external operators. They constitute around 13% of the total 
game portfolio, but have a higher profitability than third-party providers, generating 24% of 
total bets and around 32% of total GGR. Game development is a strength that we have not 
emphasized before, yet it is an asset that we intend to develop further from now on, as it is a 
successful and profitable product allowing us to control additional parts of the value chain.

4GAMES>32% >24% 
BETS IN THE NETWORK COMPANY’S GGR IN TOP 10 PERFORMING

PLATFORM

EXAMPLES OF THIRD-PARTY GAME SUPPLIERS

 • Evolution Gaming

 • PlayNgo

 • AMAYA

 • NYX Gaming Group

 • Quickfire

 • NETENT

 • Aristocrat

 • Barcrest

 • Cadillac Jack

 • NextGen Gaming

 • WMS – A Scientific Games 
company

 • Microgaming

 • Bally

 • iSoftBet
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PLATFORM

During the past year, the company’s game portfolio was 
expanded through both proprietary games and third-par-
ty suppliers. In January, Swedish game supplier Play’n GO 
launched its full suite of games across the network, includ-
ing popular titles such as Gemix, Book of Dead and Cloud 
Quest. In June, Aspire Global strengthened the partner-
ship with NYX Gaming Group, integrating their world-class 
content portfolio of more than 1,000 games with Aspire 
Global’s platform. In August, the company’s first proprietary 
HTML5-based progressive jackpot slot game, “Redeem the 
Dream,” was launched for use in the UK, Denmark and .com 
markets. “Redeem the Dream” includes a choice of four live 
progressive jackpots – Mega, Super, Major and Rapid – with 
a range of special features, such as Expanding Wild, Bonus 
Scatter, Dream Spin Bonus Round and Free Spins. 

After year-end, the gaming portfolio was expanded 
through iSoftBet’s game hub with access to dozens of 
additional games providers, in addition to in-house titles, all 
of which is licensed in multiple jurisdictions, such as the UK, 
Denmark, Portugal, and COM regions. Aspire Global is also 
planning to implement its CRM tool, including free games, 
to enrich the user experience and in turn improve retention 
rates and overall player value across the global network. 

A sports vertical was launched in the beginning of 2018. 
Sportsbook covers over 65,000 events per month, including 
20,000 available for live betting. It also features Robotip 
v.1.0 – a unique widget that scans live football betting mar-

In 2017, the platform un-
derwent intensive upgrading, 
boosted with the capacity to 
take the company to the next 
level, in line with our growth 
strategy.

PLATFORM DEVELOPMENT IN 2017

kets to offer players solid bet recommendations in re-
al-time, live or pre-match. The widget is exclusive to Aspire 
Global’s partners, is fully automatic and easy to integrate, 
and drives engagement, loyalty and profitability. In time for 
the launch, the original platform was upgraded to include 
a range of added value services, such as dedicated sports 
segmentation, comprehensive Sports CRM lifecycle man-
agement and fully managed trading settings, making Aspire 
Global the first provider of a full turnkey solution to sports 
operators, with SBTech as the sportsbook supplier.
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B2B – OFFERING

PARTNER OFFERING
Aspire Global is the ideal partner for mid-sized casino 
operators and experts in marketing such as large affiliates 
and media companies, offering different benefits for the 
two types of partner. Aspire Global’s long experience in 
online gaming, coupled with the capabilities of the technical 
platform, means a short time to market.

For experts in marketing, Aspire Global’s solution is 
a way to leverage online traffic through a fully branded 
gaming experience, where all regulatory, administrative, 
operational and technical aspects are managed by Aspire 
Global. Non-gaming operators such as large affiliates, media 
companies and online marketing groups typically have large 
amounts of latent internet traffic that can be monetized 
through a branded casino on Aspire Global’s platform. The 
iGaming solution allows affiliates, whose original business 
is to direct traffic to other operators, to redirect generated 
traffic to their own casinos, increasing the profitability of 
this traffic. The same goes for media companies with strong 
brands and marketing knowledge, which can leverage their 

strength to generate traffic to their own gaming sites, there-
by adding new revenue streams from current assets. 

For established operators, Aspire Global’s iGaming solu-
tion provides cost savings and scale benefits from joining 
a larger, professional and efficient network, as well as the 
opportunity to focus entirely on managing their brands. For 
small and medium-sized operators, profitability can be a 
challenge due to the cost to establish, manage and out-
source various required elements. Aspire Global provides 
the professional services and cost structure of a larger 
operator with multiple proprietary elements. Joining Aspire 
Global’s platform enables casino operators to cut overhead 
by sharing operational services with other partners. As the 
size and the number of partners grow, scale benefits in 
relation to third-party vendors such as payment solutions 
providers and game providers increase substantially. In 
addition, Aspire Global’s advanced CRM and data analysis 
services, in combination with an experienced risk & fraud 
department, maximizes player value while minimizing losses 
and cash leaks caused by fraud.

Aspire Global is the first provider of a full-service turnkey solution for 
sports operators, let alone one with licensed operations in six regulated 
markets. In 2017, the company signed 15 partnerships and launched 22 
B2B-brands, four of which are showing impressing growth. The B2B-seg-
ment now accounts for more than half of the company’s total revenues. 

MR. PLAY

OF THE FIVE FASTEST 
GROWING BRANDS,  
FOUR WERE  
LAUNCHED IN 2017
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NOSSA APOSTA PRIME SLOTS

REVENUE MODEL
Aspire Global’s earnings from partners are generated from 
three separate streams: a small fixed set-up fee, a moderate 
mark-up on supplier services and mostly a share of adjust-
ed net gaming revenues. The primary source is the split rev-
enues with partners, where Aspire Global succeeds when 
they do as our interests are aligned. Aspire Global believes 
it has achieved a competitive advantage over competitors 
who instead charge a higher markup. 

Set-up fee
A fixed set-up fee is charged immediately following the 
agreement to launch a new casino.

Mark-up on supplier services
The “cost plus” mark-up is charged for third party services, 
such as fees to payment solution providers and game pro-
viders. Aspire Global keeps the mark-up to a minimum while 
increasing the royalty-element of the platform fee.

Split of net gaming revenue
When the casino is launched, Aspire Global and its partners 
split the net gaming revenues (NGR).  Aspire Global keeps 
a royalty and pays the remaining share of NGR to partners. 
To limit downside risk, a minimum platform fee is charged, 
which is automatically replaced by a share of revenues once 
it has been exceeded. Typically, it takes 6–12 months form 
launch, sometimes faster, to reach significant levels. 

Competitors pricing modelAspire Global platform pricing model

3rd Party Sevices

Rev. Share

Set-up Fee
3rd Party SevicesRev. Share

Set-up Fee 
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For the full year, B2B revenues amounted to €37.1 million 
(30.0). 15 (6) partnerships were signed and 22 (5) brands 
were successfully launched on or migrated to Aspire Global, 
resulting in a total of 66 (44) B2B brands currently operating 
on the company’s platform. Out of the five fastest-growing 
brands, four were launched in 2017. As the customer base 
expands, the dependence on a few key accounts declines. 

In February, a 30% stake was acquired in Minotauro 
Media Limited. By late summer, Minotauro Media was fully 
integrated into Aspire Global and all its brands were migrat-
ed to the company platform as part of the B2B operations. 
This is Aspire Global’s first acquisition, but far from the last. 
If the brands meet their business targets, Aspire Global will 
acquire the remaining share of Minotauro Media and move 
the brands to its B2C segment. By acquiring and migrating 
existing operators to its platform, Aspire Global hopes to 
achieve an increase in revenues, cost reductions, scale 
benefits and the cash flow to finance the acquisition of the 
remaining stakes in partially acquired targets. 

Among the key launches in 2017, Mr. Play and Nossa 
Aposta (Cofina Media) are worth mentioning.  In September, 
Aspire Global entered the newly regulated Portuguese mar-
ket, launching the brand “Nossa Aposta” together with a lo-
cal partner, Cofina Media. Nossa Aposta is developing well, 
offering casino games, slots and sports betting, benefiting 
from Cofina Media’s position as one of the leading traffic 
providers to sports operators in Portugal, mainly through 
its leading online sports magazine Record. In November, As-
pire Global launched Mr. Play, a new casino and sports bet-
ting brand, through a joint venture with industry veterans. 
Aspire Global holds 40% of the shares in the joint venture 

and will invest up to €2 million of a total of €4 million, based 
on business milestones. Mr. Play was off to a good start in 
time for the holidays, reaching significant positions on im-
portant affiliates sites. Aspire Global will generate revenues 
by providing technology and core services on market terms.

Sportsbook was launched after year-end, expanding the 
company’s B2B offering in line with the long-term growth 
strategy. Aspire Global is proud to have be the first provid-
er of a full turnkey solution for sports operators. Entering 
the biggest vertical in the gaming field and operating in six 
regulated markets enables new partnerships and innovative 
business setups, while increasing player value for existing 
partners through the promotion of a wider sports and 
casino offering. 

B2B-PERFORMANCE IN 2017 

As the customer base expands, 
the dependence on a few key- 
accounts declines.

24%
INCREASE IN  

B2B-REVENUES IN 2017
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Transactions  
€ million

2017

1,220

20162015

First time depositing players 
(FTDs) thousand

2017

141.6

20162015

Active users
thousand

2017

194

20162015

Deposits  
€ million

2017

69.6

20162015

Net gaming revenues (NGR)  
€ million

2017

37.1

20162015

40 160 80

30 120 60

20 80 40

10 40 20

1,600 200

1,200 150

800 100

400 50

+24%

+17%

+45%

+45% +23%
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B2C OFFERING

PROPRIETARY CASINO BRANDS
Many years of operating successful online gaming sites have 
given Aspire Global extensive knowledge and experience, 
which translates into a higher quality service offering for 
partners. This is the main purpose of the B2C operations in 
addition to generating gaming revenues. In 2017, B2C gener-
ated 48% of revenues and 45% of EBITDA.  

The proprietary brands operate on the company plat-
form, side by side with B2B brands. Just as partners that 
connect to the Aspire Global platform gain scale benefits 
and cost reductions from joining a larger network, Aspire 
Global’s proprietary casino brands share these benefits as 
they add to the size and strength of the network as a whole. 

KARAMBA  
Karamba is Aspire Global’s leading proprietary brand, 
well-known for its wide selection of games, high levels of 
security and convenience, and quick and safe processing 

of transactions. Although Karamba is among the oldest 
online casinos, it has adopted some of the latest technolo-
gies, offering a fast, simple and responsive interface as well 
as a mobile app and, last but not least, a sports vertical, 
well ahead of many established brands in the market. The 
current brand identity was designed by the Danish creative 
agency CO/PLUS. 

REVENUE MODEL 
Revenues from the B2C segment are generated from the 
casino’s won bets and transactions. Expenses mainly relate 
to marketing and B2C-personnel to manage player acqui-
sition. Other costs are the same as for B2B: platform fee, 
taxes, certifications, licenses, technical maintenance and 
development, customer service and third-party suppliers of 
payment services and games. Marketing expenses are fairly 
consistent over seasons and brand lifetime, constituting 
around 35% of net gaming revenues.    

Proprietary brands provide valuable insight for product development 
as well as a marketing and validation tool for potential partners, with 
Karamba as the showcase for the platform’s capabilities and Aspire 
Global’s operations. In 2017, revenues increased to €34.8 million (31.0), 
while marketing expenses totaled €12.3 million, or 35% of B2C net  
gaming revenues (NGR), in line with the previous year. 

B2C OFFERING

B2C-PERFORMANCE IN 2017 
In 2017, a comprehensive overhaul of Karamba.com was 
completed, resulting in an excellent HTML-based user 
experience while maintaining a young appeal. Karamba now 
features a clean, streamlined display, superior navigation, 
live chat support, and numerous promotions, including daily 
bonuses. Moreover, a Karamba app was launched in app 
store and Google Play. 

28%
INCREASE IN FIRST TIME  

DEPOSITING PLAYERS (FTDS)  
IN 2017
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B2C OFFERING

Transactions  
€ million

AVERAGE SHARE OF RETURNS  
%

2017

1,182

178%

70%

115% 127% 139%

20162015

Same quarter 
as FTD

2 quarters  
from FTD

3 quarters  
from FTD

1 years  
from FTD

2 years  
from FTD

First time depositing players 
(FTDs) thousand

2017

104

20162015

Active users
thousand

Marketing expense as  
share of NGR,% 

2017 2017

138 35%

2016 20162015 2015

Deposits  
€ million

2017

66.9

20162015

Net gaming revenues (NGR)  
€ million

2017

34.8

20162015

40 120 80

30 90 60

20 60 40

10 30 20

1,600

200

160 40

1,200

150

120 30

800

100

80 20

400

50

40 10

+12%

+7%

+25% -5%

+28%
+12%
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ORGANIZATION
In 2017, Aspire Global had 148 (140) employees based at 
two offices in Malta and Tel Aviv, Israel. The Maltese office 
mainly focuses on management, operations, payments and 
risk, marketing and CRM, while the product development, 
technology and analysis departments are based in Tel Aviv, 
where operations moved to a new office at the end of 2017. 

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY
The company maintains a balance between women and 
men in most departments, including finance and technolo-
gy. Women accounted for around 50% of managers, 30% of 
directors and 13% of executives. Aspire Global’s employees 
come from a range of nationalities, like our partners and 
players, bringing together a diversity of cultural back-
grounds, perspectives and skills. The company has zero 
tolerance toward discrimination of any kind and acts firmly 
and swiftly to prevent all forms of sexual harassment based 
on ethnic/cultural background or sexual preference. 

RECRUIT AND RETAIN TALENT
The company is growing fast. This forces us to work actively 
to recruit and retain talent in competition with other com-
panies in the gaming hub of Malta. Tel Aviv is also a hub, 
but for tech, meaning that there are a lot of talented people 
with the right skills, and many companies trying to recruit 
them. In this environment, the company culture, working 
conditions and career opportunities are critical. 

Aspire Global offers individual career plans and ongoing 
training programs based on personal needs and goals, 
including management training. Workshops are occasion-
ally arranged on personal development themes, including 
business writing, multitasking and various soft skills. Aspire 
Global also encourages employees to share their individual 
talents and skills, promoting actions and events to pass on 
knowledge internally. 

Aspire Global is a young and fast-growing company based in 
Malta and Israel. We offer exciting career-opportunities in a 
modern, flexible, stimulating and healthy working environment. 

EMPLOYEES 

EMPLOYEES
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WORKING ENVIRONMENT
Aspire Global offers a modern, flexible, stimulating and 
healthy working environment that enables a work-life bal-
ance. We are a fairly young company in regards to employ-
ees, who have an average age of 31.5. Employment benefits 
include private health insurance, frequent eye exams, sub-
sidized meals, weekly breakfasts and yoga/pilates classes 
at the office, free gym classes and nutrition workshops to 
encourage a healthy lifestyle. Major holidays are celebrated 
in the office, with families invited, creating a personal and 
warm environment with cultural connections to the Tel Aviv 
and Malta communities.  

CHARITY WORK
Several times a year, employees engage in various chari-
ty projects to create awareness for the local community 
and people in need, including by supporting local NGOs 
and projects or through donations of money, groceries, 
clothes, books and toys, etc. In 2017, the company initiated 
a project to hire interns with no working experience to join 
Aspire Global for 2-4 months. This gave them the chance 
to enhance their skills and gain knowledge of the industry 
and areas they worked in, including HR and marketing. In 
addition, awareness of a number of global diseases such 
as breast and prostate cancer was created through various 
company events. 

WOMEN 57%
43% MEN

148EMPLOYEES

EMPLOYEES

Share of employees by department, and gender Time with the company

< 1 year
59 employees (40%)

1–3 years
46 employees (31%)

3–5 years
24 employees (16%)

> 5 years
19 employees (13%)

Administration  
total 18, 12 women

Operations 
total 115, 63 women

Karamba 
total 15, 10 women
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SUSTAINABILITY

Aspire Global wants to sustainably develop its business in a 
manner that reflects the high moral and professional values 
we believe in as well as our appreciation of customers, part-
ners, employees, society and the environment. With that in 
mind, we are committed to proactively conducting business 
in a manner that is fair, sustainable and responsible to all 
parties concerned, seeking to constantly improve our sus-
tainability work and take corporate responsibility.  

GDPR
On May 25, 2018, the EU’s new General Data Protection 
Regulation (GDPR) takes effect. Aspire has made consid-
erable effort to ensure that its practices comply with data 
protection laws and the industry’s best practices. Data 
protection is managed by a designated Data Protection 
Officer responsible for compliance. This work is based on an 
extensive review of operations, current contracts and other 
arrangements for sharing data with partners, vendors and 
clients, as well as internal procedures to safeguard protec-
tion prior to sharing personal data. Actions have then been 
taken to improve routines and technical, administrative and 
legal tools that enable adequate documentation of data 
processing activities. 

RESPONSIBLE GAMING
Aspire Global is responsible for daily operations and 
partners are updated on the company’s general approach, 
tools and strategies, also when it comes to responsible 
gaming. Aspire Global promotes a healthy gaming behavior, 
aiming at proactively identify and approach players who are 
showing an unhealthy playing behavior and/or are unsatis-
fied with their gaming habits. When it comes to minors, the 
company’s general approach is that people under 18 should 
not be playing for money, which is why minors are prohibit-
ed to access the company’s services.

Responsible gaming was a topic of debate in Europe in 2017, 
in response to which Aspire Global updated guidelines for 
proprietary brands and partners. In the UK for instance, 
marketing activities were restricted, including campaigns 
and game promotions. Aspire Global also published 
information on all the company’s websites to help players 
identify problems at an early stage. The company is proac-
tively offering support and tools for game-related problems 
and refer players to organizations specialized in dealing 
with gambling-related problems. An Officer of Responsible 
Gaming was recently appointed to ensure the guidelines 
and routines for responsible gaming are followed.

Operating in the gaming industry is an ethical challenge. How do you 
maintain social responsibility while maximizing profits? At Aspire Global, 
we believe it is through a sustainable business model and a focus on 
long-term relationships with all our stakeholders. 

SUSTAINABILITY

Conducting business in a manner 
that is fair, sustainable and responsible 
to all parties concerned
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SUSTAINABILITY

PARTNERS
General approach Actions/channels 2017

QU
AL

IT
Y

•  Full-service offering optimizing 
every aspect of casino oper-
ations, allowing partners to 
focus entirely on marketing  

•  Close, long-term partnerships

•  Ongoing meetings as well as ad hoc 
demands

•  Regular case studies

•  Regular meetings with key partners to 
get feedback on the road map

•  Monthly newsletter with recent update

•  Updated offering and platform with the 
launch of Sportbook

•  Aspire Global was nominated in the 
categories “Platform of the year,” “Best 
customer service,” “White label partner” 
and “Acquisition and retention partner” 
for the EGR B2B Awards 2017 

RO
I

•  Allowing both parties to focus 
on their respective strengths, 
optimizes growth and profit-
ability

•  Revenue model that aligns the interests 
of Aspire Global and its partners

•  Scale benefits from Aspire Global’s long 
experience in online gaming as well as 
the capabilities of the technical platform

•  Completed HTML roll-outs

RE
SP

ON
SI

BI
LI

TY

•  Licensed in many jurisdictions, 
each setting high standards 
that we constantly strive to 
meet and exceed

•  Features and services updated 
to accommodate regulations 
and guidelines in each juris-
diction

•  Platform continuously updated with 
new features relating to regulation and 
ongoing compliance 

•  In-house regulation and compliance 
team monitors operations, conducts 
training and provides partners with 
regulatory updates and marketing 
guidelines 

•  Aspire Global is responsible for daily 
operations and partners are updated on 
our approach, tools and strategies 

PLAYERS
General approach Actions/channels 2017

QU
AL

IT
Y/

 
SA

TI
SF

AC
TI

ON

•  Our B2C product is a showcase 
for our B2B offering: the best 
gaming experience out there

•  In-house customer support is available 
in ten different languages - by phone, 
e-mail and chat, seven days a week

•  Continuous monitoring of efficiency and 
satisfaction through customer surveys 
and case studies

•  Comprehensive overhaul of Karamba re-
sulted in a HTML-based user experience 
as well as an improved display, superior 
navigation and improved promotions

•  (2018) Increased focus on B2C with 
ongoing reorganization and newly ap-
pointed Karamba Managing Director

SA
FE

TY
/I

NT
EG

RI
TY •  Aspire Global welcomes stron-

ger integrity protection

•  Safe and trusted payment 
solutions 

•  Adhere to General Data Protection Reg-
ulation (GDPR) as of May 2018

•  Highly secure fraud prevention scheme 
with constant payment analysis

•  platform is integrated with a number 
of trusted payment solutions in each 
market

•  Operational adjustments were made for 
GDPR in time for enforcement on May 
25th. From the player perspective, the 
changes aren’t noticeable

RE
SP

ON
SI

BI
LI

TY

•  Minors should not be playing 
for money. Access to services is 
prohibited to those under the 
age of 18

•  Identify and support players 
who are not satisfied with their 
gaming habits

•  Apply identity verification methods to 
ensure our policy and restrictions are 
not violated

•  Publish information on all our websites 
to help customers identify problems at 
an early stage

•  Proactively offer support and tools for 
game-related problems

•  Refer to organizations specialized in 
dealing with such problems

•  Marketing activities were restricted, 
including campaigns and game promo-
tions, following an operational review

•  Responsible gaming was a topic of de-
bate in the UK during the year, to which 
Aspire Global responded with updated 
guidelines to local key partners
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SUSTAINABILITY

EMPLOYEES
General approach Actions/channels 2017

TA
LE

NT
  

M
AN

AG
EM

EN
T •  Offer attractive career oppor-

tunities in the global gaming/
tech hub of Malta

•  Continuous and ongoing training pro-
grams based on personal needs and 
goals, including management training

•  Occasional workshops on personal 
development themes

•  Prior to the launch of Sportsbook, a 
number of technically and commer-
cially skilled individuals with industry 
experience were recruited though social 
media, governmental websites and 
executive recruiters  

•  Workshops on business writing and 
multitasking

EQ
UA

LI
TY

/ 
DI

VE
RS

IT
Y •  Advocate of diversity

•  See great value in equality

•  Zero tolerance policy towards 
discrimination

•  Continually monitor and adjust gender 
distribution at all levels of the company

•  Act firmly and swiftly to prevent all forms 
of sexual harassment based on ethnic/
cultural background or sexual preference

•  Aspire Global has a balance between 
women and men in most departments, 
including finance and technology

•  Women accounted for 13% of execu-
tives, 30% of directors and around 50% 
of managers 

OC
CU

PA
TI

ON
AL

 
HE

AL
TH

 A
ND

 S
AF

ET
Y

•  Offer a modern, flexible, stim-
ulating and healthy working 
environment that enables a 
work-life balance

•  Various benefits such as parental leave 
and health benefits in accordance with 
the laws and standards of the two coun-
tries (Malta and Israel) 

•  Occasional surveys to monitor em-
ployee satisfaction and adjust various 
HR-guidlines

•  Benefits such as private health insur-
ance, frequent eye exams, subsidized 
meals, weekly breakfasts and yoga/
pilates classes in the office, free gym 
classes and nutrition workshops to 
promote a healthy lifestyle

INVESTORS
General approach Actions/channels 2017

RO
I

•  Deliver long-term value •  Business model focused on segments 
with long-term potential 

•  Revenue model with shared partner 
incentives 

•  Financial goals aimed at sustainable and 
healthy growth with healthy short to 
medium-term targets 

•  In 2017, we continued to focus on 
segments and markets with long-term 
potential, i.e. B2B, sports and regulated 
markets. We invested in Sportsbook, 
withdrew from Australia, entered 
Portugal (regulated) and increased the 
number of B2B partners 

TR
AN

SP
AR

EN
CY

/
RE

LI
AB

IL
IT

Y

•  Maintain a fair share value 
through predictability based 
on clear and relevant financial 
information

•  Evaluate, prioritize and allocate appro-
priate corporate resources

•  New website designed to improve inves-
tor relations

•  Adjust/improve routines and content for 
financial reporting based on feedback 
from the capital market

•  Identify additional forums to meet with 
potential and current investors such as 
capital markets days or seminars 

•  Prior to the IPO, the corporate com-
munications organization and routines 
were adjusted to the requirements for a 
publicly listed company

RE
GU

LA
TI

ON
S/

 
BU

SI
NE

SS
 E

TH
IC

S

•  Adhere to relevant rules and 
regulations as well as regula-
tions and standards for online 
gaming locally and interna-
tionally

•  Stay up to date on changes

•  Close dialogue with authorities and 
experts

•  Active part in industry dialogues 

•  Fine-tuned operations to comply with 
new regulations. The company was 
already operating fairly in line with GDPR
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SUSTAINABILITY

SUPPLIERS
General approach Actions/channels 2017

QU
AL

IT
Y/

 
RE

LI
AB

IL
IT

Y

•  Long-term relationships 

•  Sound business ethics

•  Choose local suppliers if 
possible to support the local 
community and because it 
makes sense business-wise 

•  Active dialogue •  Renovated offices in Malta and Tel Aviv in 
2017. Again, used same supplier for both 
projects, as we believe such long-term 
relationships benefit the outcome in 
terms of quality and consistency  

SOCIETY
General approach Actions/channels 2017

RU
LE

S A
ND

  
RE

GU
LA

TI
ON

S

•  Welcome and promote regu-
lation

•  Focus on regulated markets where 
Aspire Global can contribute to a better 
and safer gaming environment

•  Danish regulators make yearly visits to 
the company. In 2017, we presented our 
operational protocols to the market

EN
VI

RO
NM

EN
T •  Seek opportunities to lower 

what little impact we may have
•  Minimize the need for business travel 

through technological solutions such as 
video conferencing 

•  Minimize impact from infrastructure and 
daily operations

•  Took additional steps to reduce dis-
posables, e.g., at the new TA office we 
recently stopped using paper and plastic 
cups, switching to glasses only

•  Invested in new-energy-efficient servers, 
exchanging eight older models with two 
newer, stronger and less energy-con-
suming (Energy star-certified) models

“C
HA

RI
TY

”

•  Engage in/Contribute to the 
local community

•  Observe cultural traditions

•  Active in a number of charities such as 
donation campaigns and local social 
projects, where employees are encour-
aged to participate

•  Annual company donation to ”Krembo 
Wings”, an Israeli youth movement that 
brings together young people with and 
without special needs, emphasizing the 
importance of respect for diversity and 
every person’s right to be socially includ-
ed and accepted 

•  In November, 13 employees from the 
Maltese office visited Dar tal-Providenza, 
a Malta-based home for people with 
disabilities, to give a helping hand by 
doing laundry, washing and assisting 
with administration

Aspire Global ensures that the company’s 
routines for protecting data comply with data 
protection laws and the industry’s best practice
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CORPORATE  
GOVERNANCE REPORT

OVERVIEW AND REGULATORY FRAMEWORK
Aspire Global Plc (“Aspire Global” or “company”) is a Maltese 
public limited liability company listed on Nasdaq First North 
Premier Stockholm since July 11th 2017, with its registered 
office and headquarters in Malta. Prior to listing on Nasdaq 
First North Premier, the company’s corporate governance 
has been based upon the laws of Gibraltar, and following 
re-domiciliation in May 2017, upon Maltese law. 

The company complies with the corporate governance 
requirements for Maltese public limited liability companies. 
Furthermore, the company has a solid internal corporate 
governance framework that is built around the principles 
of control and accountability. The principal sources of 
corporate governance rules applied by the company are the 
Maltese Companies Act , the Market Abuse Regulation , the 
Memorandum and Articles of Association of the company, 
and the company’s internal rules and guidelines, in particu-
lar Charter of the Board, Working Procedures of the Board, 
CEO Instructions, the company’s Insider Policy and Infor-
mation Policy. The company also complies with the Nasdaq 
First North Nordic – Rulebook, applicable to companies 
listed on the Nasdaq First North Premier Stockholm.

This summary is not, and does not purport to furnish, 
a comprehensive outline of all the applicable laws and 
internal rules and guidelines and is intended to briefly sum 
up the most relevant aspects of corporate governance of 
Aspire Global. In this context, it should be read subject to 
the detailed provisions of the Maltese Companies Act, com-
pany’s Memorandum and Articles of Association and other 
laws and regulations applicable to the company.

Articles of Association
The Articles of Association of Aspire Global, adopted by the 
shareholders of the company on May 31st 2017, contain reg-
ulations for the management of the affairs of the company 
and the conduct of its business and serve as an important 
tool to supplement the statutory corporate governance 
provisions. The Articles of Association are available in their 
entirety at the company’s website (www.aspireglobal.com/
corporate-governance).  

Division of Authority
Aspire Global acts through two principal organs: the gen-
eral meeting of shareholders and the Board of Directors 
(“Board”), elected by the shareholders. The shareholders 
of the company may therefore exercise their influence and 
may vote on the matters which affect the company and its 
operations during the company’s general meetings. As a 
general principle, the Board is vested with all the powers 
of the company that are not reserved to the shareholders’ 
general meeting under the Companies Act or the Memoran-
dum or Articles of Association of the company. 

Shareholders
Some of the most significant powers reserved to the gen-
eral meeting of shareholders are the power to appoint and 
remove Board members, to alter the memorandum and ar-
ticles of association, to increase and reduce share capital, to 
approve annual financial statements, to declare dividends 
(not exceeding the amount recommended by the Board), 
to amalgamate or divide the company and the power to 
appoint and remove auditors. Shareholders of the company 

Corporate governance refers to the system of rules, practices and pro-
cesses by which a company is governed, defining how rights and obliga-
tions are delegated among the organs of the company, ensuring that the 
powers and interest of the shareholders, board, executive management 
and other stakeholders are balanced, and providing the framework for 
attaining the company’s objectives.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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exercise their powers at a general meeting of shareholders 
where they are called to vote on matters requiring their 
consent, in accordance with the Memorandum and Articles 
of Association and Maltese Companies Act. 

Shareholders Meetings
Shareholders meetings may be of two kinds: annual general 
meetings and extraordinary general meetings. Aspire 
Global must hold an annual general meeting once every 
year, within six months of the end of each financial year, and 
not later than fifteen months after the previous meeting. All 
other general meetings are extraordinary general meetings. 

In accordance with the Articles of Association of the 
company and subject to the conditions stated therein, each 
shareholder enjoys number of rights in connection with 
general meetings, including the right to receive a notice of 
a general meeting, the right to attend and vote at a general 
meeting, the right to appoint a proxy to attend and vote in 
his stead and the right to demand a poll. Each sharehold-
er is furthermore entitled to have a resolution put before 
a general meeting, provided that the Board has received 
such request at least seven weeks prior to the distribution 
of the notice convening an annual general meeting, or four 
weeks prior to the distribution of the notice convening an 
extraordinary general meeting. In addition, shareholder(s) 
holding not less than ten (10)% of the issued share capital of 
the company have the right to requisition an extraordinary 
general meeting.

Decisions at the general meetings are normally taken 
by the shareholders by a simple majority of votes. However, 
certain decisions prescribed under the Maltese Companies 
Act and the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the 
company require higher voting thresholds. 

2017 Annual General Meeting
The 2017 annual general meeting was held on June 21st 
2017. At the meeting, all shareholders were present and 
Tsachi Maimon, company’s CEO, assumed the function of 
the chairman of the meeting. In summary, the resolutions 
made by the general meeting of the shareholders included:

 • To approve the Audited Consolidated Financial State-
ments for financial year ending December 31st 2016;

 • To discharge the directors and CEO from liability for their 
administration of the company during the year 2016; 

 • To approve the new Dividend Policy for the company;

 • To approve the initial public offering (IPO) of the compa-
ny’s shares on Nasdaq First North Premier;

 • To approve the employee Share Options Scheme 2017 
and authorise the Board, until May 31st 2022, to issue 
(and restrict or withdraw any rights of pre-emption in 
relation to such issue) up to 775,800 ordinary shares in 
the company under the said option plan;

 • To approve the Board Scheme and to authorise the 
Board, until May 31st 2022, to issue (and restrict or with-
draw any rights of pre-emption in relation to such issue) 
up to 200,000 ordinary shares in the company under the 
said option plan; 

 • To authorise the Board, until May 31st 2022, to issue (and 
restrict or withdraw any rights of pre-emption in relation 
to such issue) up to 2,582,000 ordinary shares in the 
company under the existing Share Option Scheme 2007. 
Further details on all incentive programs of the company 
are presented in the annual report on page 36 and on the 
company’s website (www.aspireglobal.com/investors);

HQ/HR ANALYSIS SPORT
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 • To increase the composition of the Board from four to 
five Board members; to re-appoint Barak Matalon, Tsachi 
Maimon and Pinhas Zahavi to serve as Board members 
for another year; to re-appoint Olga Finkel to serve as 
a Board member until her effective date of resignation 
on July 31st 2017; to appoint Cark Klingberg as Board 
member and the Chairman of the Board; and to appoint 
Fredrik Burvall as Board member with effect from July 
31st 2017;

 • That the aggregate amount (excluding any applicable 
social contributions payable by the company) for one year 
payable to the Board for carrying out ordinary duties of 
the Board members and the Chairman by the members 
of the Board to be €150 thousand, and that the Chairman 
shall be entitled to a higher fee for carrying out his duties;

 • That 80,000 options are approved to each of Carl Klinge-
berg and Fredrik Burvall under the Board Scheme; and

 • To appoint BDO as the company’s auditor for the financial 
year ending December 31st 2017.

2018 Annual General Meeting 
The forthcoming annual general meeting of Aspire Global 
will be held on May 8th 2018. Shareholders who would like 
to attend the annual general meeting must be entered as 
shareholders in the share register maintained by the rele-
vant central securities depository five Swedish weekdays 
(including Saturdays) prior to the date of the general meet-
ing and must notify the company of their intention to attend 
no later than the day indicated in the notice convening the 
general meeting. Shareholders may attend the general 
meeting in person or via an authorized proxy and may be 
accompanied by up to two advisors.

Notice of the 2018 annual general meeting and further 
information will be published on the company’s website 
(www.aspireglobal.com/investors) and in Business Online 
Newspaper ahead of the meeting. 

Shareholding Structure
At year-end 2017, Aspire Global had 958 shareholders, 
holding in total 44,094,036 shares. The largest shareholders 

were Barak Matalon with 27% of the shares, Pinhas Zahavi 
with 17%, and Elyahu Azur with 17%. The ten largest share-
holders held an aggregate of 86% of total number of issued 
shares at the end of 2017.  

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board of Directors is ultimately responsible for the 
general governance of the company, its proper administra-
tion and management and general supervision of its affairs. 
Some of the purposes of the Board are to enhance the cor-
porate value of the company, promote the well-being of the 
company, and serve the legitimate interests of the compa-
ny. The Board determines the strategy, targets and funda-
mental management policies, and supervises the affairs of 
the company, in particular by overseeing the performance 
of the duties of the CEO and executive management and 
evaluating Aspire Global’s financial position and results. The 
Board furthermore ensures that the company has appro-
priate policies and procedures in place that aim to attain 
that the company, its management and employees adhere 
to the highest standards of corporate conduct and comply 
with the applicable laws, regulations and ethical standards. 
Board members are accountable for their performance to 
the shareholders of Aspire Global.

Composition of the Board
Pursuant to the Memorandum and Articles of Association of 
the company, the Board shall consist of not less than three 
(3) and not more than ten (10) members. Members of the 
Board are appointed by the general meeting of the com-
pany and all members of the Board shall retire from office 
at the end of each annual general meeting, after which 
they are eligible for re-election. The shareholders of Aspire 
Global may, by means of an ordinary resolution, remove any 
Board member from office. The process of appointment 
and removal of Board members is conducted in terms of 
the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the compa-
ny and the Maltese Companies Act.

At the annual general meeting of the company held on 
June 21st 2017 the shareholders re-appointed Barak Mata-
lon, Tsachi Maimon and Pinhas Zahavi as Board members 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

Name Position
Member 
since

Independent of the 
company and execu-
tive management

Independent of the 
company’s principal 
shareholders

Meeting  
attendance

Carl Klingberg Chairman 2017 Yes Yes 13/13
Fredrik Burvall1 Board member 2017 Yes Yes 10/10
Tsachi (Isaac) Maimon Board member 2015 No Yes 13/13
Barak Matalon Board member 2005 No No 13/13
Pinhas Zahavi Board member 2009 Yes No 5/13
Olga Finkel2 Board member 2012 No Yes 3/3

1) Fredrik Burvall was elected as Board member on the general meeting on June 21st 2017 and his assignment commenced on July 31st 2017
2) Olga Finkel resigned as Board member on July 31st 2017 when Fredrik Burvall commenced his assignment as Board member
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for another year, and appointed Fredrik Burvall as Board 
member and Carl Klingberg as Board member and Chair-
man of the Board. Olga Finkel was re-appointed to serve as 
Board member until her effective date of resignation on July 
31st 2017. Of the Board members, three are independent 
of the company and executive management and three are 
independent of the company’s principal shareholders. The 
members of the Board are presented in the annual report 
on page 38 and on the company’s website (www.aspireglob-
al.com/investors).

Chairman of the Board
The Chairman of the Board holds a special responsibility for 
leading the work of the Board, presiding over the meetings 
of the Board and ensuring that the Board operates in an 
organized and efficient manner. The Chairman is elected 
by the shareholders of the company and shall hold office 
no longer than until the end of the next annual general 
meeting. If a Chairman is not elected by the shareholders 
of the company, the Board may elect a Chairman from their 
number.

Board Meetings
The work of the Board is organised in accordance with the 
rules set under the Maltese Companies Act and company’s 
Articles of Association. Additionally, the Board has adopted 
the Charter of the Board, setting out (among other things) 
rules of procedure regulating the ordinary and case by case 
Board meetings, matters to be addressed at each meeting, 
number of ordinary Board meetings, duties of the Chairman 
and the members of the Board and instructions for the 
CEO. All Board meetings follow an agenda which, together 
with other materials which may be prepared for a meeting, 
are distributed to the Board members and other invitees (if 
any) prior to the Board meetings. The work of the Board fol-
lows a specific plan designed to ensure that the all matters 
requiring Board’s attention are addressed at the meetings 
and that the Board receives all relevant information. Chair-
man of the Board leads the meetings and supervises the 
work of the Board. 

Following the re-domiciliation of Aspire Global to Malta 
and conversion of the company to a public limited liability 
company, the Board of the company held 13 meetings in the 
period from May 2017 to year-end 2017, of which one was 
resolution in writing (per capsulam meeting) adopted by the 
Board. Also present at the Board meetings were company 
secretary and CFO of the company. Additionally, the Board 
from time to time invited other persons to deliver presen-
tations or participate in discussions on certain topics, when 
such persons could make a valuable contribution to the 
Board’s work.

During 2017, the Board devoted particular atten-
tion to the preparations of the company for initial public 
offering and assessing acquisition and other investment 
opportunities and new projects. In this context, the Board 

members reviewed various financing options, including 
different sources of debt financing. The Board continuously 
monitored financial performance of Aspire Global and the 
company’s organic growth. Focus was also directed to the 
most important developments within the company and the 
industry, such as monitoring changes in the regulatory envi-
ronment, assessing the impact of such changes and adapt-
ing the strategy of the company, evaluating possibilities of 
expanding customer base, entering new regulated markets, 
obtaining additional gaming licenses, establishing new 
partnerships, broadening the company’s offering with new 
verticals and enhancing the company’s existing offering. 

CEO AND MANAGEMENT
The CEO of Aspire Global is primarily responsible for the 
company’s day-to-day operations and reports to the Board. 
The CEO is responsible for leading, organising and devel-
oping the business of the company in such ways that the 
strategic targets set by the Board are achieved and that 
the value of the company and the brands of Aspire Global 
are enhanced. The division of responsibilities between the 
Board and the CEO is primarily set out in the Charter of 
the Board and the Instructions for the CEO adopted by the 
Board. 

The CEO is required to keep the Board and the Chair-
man informed of the company’s performance, financial 
position and important developments and is responsible 
to prepare proposals of budgets, business plans, financial 
reports and is generally responsible to prepare materials 
for the Board meetings, required for the Board to take deci-
sions on matters falling within its remit. The Board evalu-
ates CEO’s work on a continuous basis. 

The company’s CEO heads, appoints and is leading the 
work of the management team, which consists of seven (7) 
members, namely CEO, CFO, VP Sales, VP Marketing, VP 
Product and Technologies, VP Operations and VP Media. 
The CEO and management of Aspire Global are presented 
in the annual report on page 39 and the company’s website 
(www.aspireglobal.com/investors).

REMUNERATION AND INCENTIVE PROGRAMS
Compensation Committee
The Articles of Association of the company provide that 
the Board may delegate any of its powers or discretions to 
committees. In 2017, the company had no Compensation 
committee, but after year-end, in February 2018, a Com-
pensation Committee was established. The Compensation 
committee is responsible for determining and proposing to 
the Board compensations of persons within the company. It 
consists of Board members, who are appointed by and are 
responsible to the Board for carrying out their duties. The 
members of the first Compensation Committee are Barak 
Matalon, who is also the Chairman of the Compensation 
Committee, and Carl Klingberg.
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Board Remuneration
The Articles of Association of the company stipulate that 
the ordinary remuneration of the Board is to be deter-
mined by the Board, provided that such remuneration 
does not exceed an aggregate amount per year, as may be 
determined by ordinary resolution of the shareholders, 
and shall be divisible among the Board members as they 
may agree, unless specified by an ordinary resolution by 
the shareholders.

Any Board member who holds any executive office 
(including for this purpose the office of Chairman or Deputy 
Chairman, whether or not such office is held in an executive 
capacity), or who serves on any committee of the Board, or 
who otherwise performs services which in the opinion of 
the Board members are outside the scope of the ordinary 
duties of a Board member, may be paid such extra remu-
neration by way of salary, commission or otherwise or may 
receive such other benefits as the Board may determine. 
No deputy Board member shall be entitled to receive any 
remuneration from Aspire Global.

At the general meeting held on June 21st 2017, the 
shareholders approved that the aggregate amount (ex-
cluding any applicable social contributions payable by the 
company) for one year payable to the Board for carrying out 
ordinary duties of the Board members and the Chairman by 
the members of the Board to be €150 thousand, and that 
the Chairman shall be entitled to a higher fee for carrying 
out his duties. In consideration for performing their duties, 
Carl Klingberg, the Chairman of the Board, is entitled to 
receive annually a payment in the gross amount of SEK 
500 thousand, while Fredrik Burvall, as a Board member, is 
entitled to receive annually a payment in the gross amount 
of SEK 250 thousand. Olga Finkel, who resigned from her 
position as a Board member on July 31st 2017, received re-
muneration amounting to €8 thousand. The other members 
of the Board are not entitled to any remuneration. 

CEO and Management Remuneration
Remuneration to the CEO and other senior executives con-
sists of market-based basic salary, variable remuneration, 
customary fringe benefits and other benefits and pen-
sion, as well as financial instruments in the form of share 
options for some executives. The balance between fixed 
and variable remuneration is generally proportionate to the 
executive’s responsibilities, seniority and authority. 

In 2017 the CEO was, according to his employment 
contract, entitled to a gross monthly remuneration of €19 
thousand. The CEO is also entitled to variable remuneration 
consisting of an annual bonus. Having acknowledged that 
the financial targets of the company for the year 2017 have 
been met, the Board approved the full bonus payment of 
€174 thousand (gross) to the CEO of Aspire Global. In addi-
tion, the board approved a special bonus for the successful 
IPO process of €90 thousand (gross). The CEO was also 
eligible for other benefits amounting to approximately €40 
thousand.

The other senior executives in Aspire Global have a monthly 
salary that ranges between €8 thousand and €10 thousand 
and are entitled to a variable remuneration on a quarterly 
and annual basis. Actual levels of remuneration are gener-
ally determined by the company based on factors such as 
expertise, experience and performance.

Incentive Programs
Aspire Global has three separate incentive programs: one 
program for certain key employees introduced in 2007 
(“Share Options Scheme 2007”), one program for the board 
introduced in 2017 (“Board Scheme”) and one program for 
certain key employees introduced in 2017 (including CEO 
and CFO) (“Share Options Scheme 2017”). If all outstanding 
warrants are subscribed for and utilized in full, dilution 
would amount to about 7,5% of the share capital and votes 
in the company in relation to the number of shares after 
completion of the initial public offering.

Share Option Scheme 2007 
According to the Share Options Scheme 2007, various 
employees are entitled to buy a total of 2,582,000 shares in 
Aspire Global at a price of €0.50 per share (which is equal 
to €2 per share prior to the re-denomination of the nominal 
value of ordinary shares of the company from £0.01 per 
share to £.0025 per share, effected on June 9th 2017). 

Board Scheme
Aspire Global has introduced share-based incentive scheme 
for the Board, approved by the shareholders of the company 
during the general meeting held on 21 June 2017, designed 
to promote the company’s long-term interests by motivating 
and rewarding the Board members. In accordance with the 
Board Scheme, the company may issue 200,000 authorised, 
but not yet issued shares. Carl Klingberg and Fredrik Burvall 
have been approved 80,000 option shares each, which have 
not been exercised yet. The remaining option shares are 
reserved for future Board members of the company. If all 
issued warrants in the Board Scheme are utilized, dilution 
would amount to about 0.42% of the share capital and votes 
in the company in relation to the number of shares after 
completion of the initial public offering.

Share Option Scheme 2017
The Share Option Scheme 2017, approved by the general 
meeting of the company held on June 21st 2017, is an incen-
tive program for senior executives, key employees and oth-
er employees of Aspire Global in the form of an issue of up 
to 775,800 warrants. The company has reserved 775,800 
outstanding but not yet issued shares for the Share Options 
Scheme 2017.

The warrants are reserved for current and future 
employees, of which (i) management and other senior 
executives (not more than 20 persons) can be offered to 
acquire up to 615,800 warrants and (ii) other employees 
(not more than 200 persons) can be offered to acquire up 
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to 12,000 warrants per person, a total of no more than 
160,000 warrants.

If all issued warrants in the Share Options Scheme 
2017 are utilized, dilution would amount to about 1.63% of 
the share capital and votes in the company in relation to 
the number of shares after completion of the initial public 
offering.

INTERNAL CONTROL
The overall purpose of internal controls is to obtain reason-
able assurance that the company’s operational strategies 
and goals are monitored and that shareholders’ invest-
ments are protected. Additionally, internal controls should 
provide reasonable assurance that internal and external 
financial reporting is reliable, and prepared in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting practice, that applica-
ble laws and regulations are complied with and that the 
regulatory requirements imposed on the listed companies 
are observed. 

Control environment
The Board is responsible for internal control. At the group 
level, the CEO is responsible for all subsidiaries together 
with the Group’s finance department, and the CFO for en-
suring that the necessary controls are conducted together 
with adequate monitoring. Internal control comprises of 
the control of the company’s and the Group’s organisation, 
procedures, policies and support measures. The objective 
is to ensure that reliable and accurate financial reporting 
takes place, that the company’s and the Group’s financial 
reporting is prepared in accordance with law and applicable 
accounting standards, that the company’s assets are pro-
tected and that other requirements are fulfilled. The system 
for internal control is also intended to monitor compliance 
with the company’s and the Group’s policies, principles 
and instructions. Internal control also includes risk analysis 
and follow-up of incorporating information and business 
systems.

Risk assessment
The Board of Aspire Global conducts continuous and 
systematic risk-assessment work aimed at identifying 
risks and taking the necessary actions to mitigate them. 
When conducting risk assessment, the Board evaluates the 
probability that a risk will be incurred and the implications 
of such a risk resulting in a real event. If any risk exposure is 
identified, the members of the Board discuss the appropri-
ate actions the company should take in order to mitigate, 
limit, monitor, or control such risk. Particular focus is placed 
by the Board on the company’s operational, legal, regulato-
ry and financial risks. Risk assessment is also performed in 
such way to identify risks that may have a significant impact 
on internal financial reporting. A more detailed description 
of the company’s exposure to risk and other uncertainties 
is provided in the prospectus, available on the company’s 
website (www.aspireglobal.com/investors).

On the basis of risk assessment carried out within the 
Aspire Global group, control measures of both preventive 
and corrective nature are implemented to ensure that any 
identified risks or potential risks are adequately addressed.

Monitoring compliance
As part of its internal control activities, the company is 
regularly conducting monitoring of compliance with internal 
policies, principles, manuals and codes, as well as of the 
appropriateness and functionality of established control 
activities. The process has been also designed to ensure the 
reliable financial reporting in accordance with IFRS, appli-
cable laws and regulations, as well as the other standards 
the companies listed on Nasdaq First North Premier are 
required to apply. The company’s CEO and CFO regularly 
provide the Board with the information required to monitor 
the company’s financial position and compliance with the 
laws in the countries where the company’s subsidiaries op-
erate. The annual report and interim reports are reviewed 
and approved by the Board prior to the publication. 

In connection with the listing process, the company en-
gaged a Certified Adviser, approved by Nasdaq, to guide the 
company through the application process, and to provide 
support and ensure that the company continuously com-
plies with Nasdaq First North rules and regulations. Aspire 
Global’s Certified Adviser is FNCA Sweden AB. 

Auditor 
The auditor is appointed by the shareholders at the general 
meeting to review the company’s annual reports and 
accounting, as well as the management of the Board and 
the CEO. Following each financial year, the auditor shall 
submit an audit report and a consolidated audit report to 
the annual general meeting. The auditor of Aspire Global 
is BDO, which has held this office since the 2008 annual 
general meeting, with Christian Summerfield as auditor in 
charge. In 2017, the remuneration of the company’s auditor 
amounted to €105 thousand and related fees amounted to 
€30 thousand.

Investor Relations
Aspire Global is a listed company in a highly regulated in-
dustry. In addition to the disclosure requirements imposed 
by Nasdaq and those emanating from the Market Abuse 
Regulation, Aspire Global has adopted internal policies and 
procedures designed to ensure that correct information is 
communicated in a timely fashion to its shareholders, the 
market, its employees and other stakeholders.  

The company’s CEO and CFO are responsible for con-
tact with the shareholders of the company. Aspire Global 
provides information to the shareholders and the market 
through the annual report, year-end report, interim reports, 
press releases and the company’s website (www.aspireglob-
al.com). 
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
1. CARL KLINGBERG 
Chairman of the Board since 2017

Born 1961 

Education: B.A. from Stockholm School of 
Economics with majors in marketing and data 
processing

Other current assignments: Chairman of the 
Board of Mackmyra Svensk Whisky AB, Heads 
Svenska AB, DHS Venture Partners AB, Pay & Pray 
AB. Board member of Scandinavian Weldtech 
Holding AB. 

Previous assignments: Partner at Cula Invest HB 
and Handelshuset Cula C.K.

Shareholding in the company: 0 shares and 
80,000 stock options on 80,000 shares

2. FREDRIK BURVALL 
Board member since 2017 

Born 1972

Education: M.A. in Economics from Örebro Uni-
versity, Sweden, MBA from Stockholm University 
Sweden 

Other current assignments: Chairman of 
the Board of myTaste AB. Board member of the 
Gambling.com Group (plc), Enteractive Ltd as well 
as Board member and CEO of The Networked 
Nation – tNN AB. 

Previous assignments: CEO of Cherry AB (publ), 
deputy board member of Bell Maritime Gaming 
AB, board member and CEO of Cherry Casino 
Syd AB, Playcherry PR & Media AB and Svenska 
Klubbspel AB. Board member of Cherry Malta 
Ltd, Esprom Ltd, Inprom Ltd, Cherry Gaming Ltd, 
Playcherry Ltd, Yggdrasil Malta Ltd, Cherry Ltd, 
Yggdrasil Gaming Ltd and Yggdrasil Software Ltd.

Shareholding in the company: 0 shares and 
80,000 stock options on 80,000 shares 

3. TSACHI (ISAAC) MAIMON 
Board member since 2015 and CEO since 2013 

Born: 1978

Education: M.A. in business from the College of 
Management (COMAS) in Israel. B.A. from Hebrew 
University of Jerusalem - Interdisciplinary studies 
for outstanding officers (PUM) 

Other current assignment: Board member of 
Neolotto 

Previous assignments: Head of Casino at TNT 
Marketing (2009-2013), Call center Manager at 
Cellcom, one of Israel’s largest telecom companies 
(2006-2009)

Shareholding in the company: 0 shares and 
200,000 stock options on 800,000 shares

4. BARAK MATALON 
Board member since 2005

Born: 1970

Education: B.A. in Economics from Tel Aviv 
College, Israel

Other current assignments: Board member of 
Neo-Games S.A.R.L and Neolotto 

Previous assignments: VP Sales and Marketing 
at the Israeli broadcasting channel NCP (1999-
2005), Sales Director at Internet Gold (1996-1999)

Shareholding in the company: 12,048,000 
shares

5. PINHAS ZAHAVI 
Board member since 2009

Born: 1942

Education: Bar-Ilan college, Israel

Other current assignment: Board member of 
Neo- Games S.A.R.L. 

Previous assignments: Football agent (1988-) 
and before that 20 years as a journalist and editor 
for publications such as Hadashot (1984-1988) 
and Yedion Achronot (1974-1984) 

Shareholding in the company: 7,503,000 shares 

AUDITOR 
The Annual General Meeting in 2008 elected BDO 
Ltd, Gibraltar (BDO Gibraltar, 5.20 World Trade, 6 
Bay-side Road, Gibraltar, GX11 1AA) as auditor of 
the Group. Christian Summerfield, born in 1977, 
has been the Auditor-in-Charge since the end of 
2008.

1. 2.

3.

5.

4.
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1. TSACHI MAIMON 
For more information, see “Board of Directors”

2. MOTTI GIL 
CFO since 2016 and Chief Officer of Responsible 
Gaming since 2018

Born: 1973

Education: B.A. in Accounting and Economics 
from Hebrew University, Jerusalem, Israel. Certi-
fied Public Accountant (CPA) in Israel 

Other current assignment: – 

Previous assignments: Senior roles at a number 
of technology enterprises, from startups to public 
companies. Previously CFO of GoNet Systems 
(2010-2016) and Vice President of Finance and 
CFO of IXI Mobile (2007-2009) 

Shareholding in the company: 0 shares and 
75,000 stock options on 150,000 shares

3. ARNAUD SEROUR 
VP Operations since 2015, Head of B2C as of 2018

Born: 1983

Education: Long experience from the online gam-
ing industry and several courses in management

Other current assignment: CEO of LoueAFF Ltd

Previous assignments: Various management 
roles in iGaming, specializing in international call 
center operations. Previously VP Operations at As-
pire Global (2014-2017), Casino Division Manager 
at CSMS (2009-2014) and various casino manage-
ment roles at The Nation Traffic (2007-2009) 

Shareholding in the company: 0 shares and 
65,000 stock options on 140,000 shares

4. JOEL MOMIGLIANO 
VP PPC & Media since 2015

Born: 1980

Education: M.A. in Economics, Industrial and 
Management Engineering from Polytechnic Uni-
versity of Milan, Italy

Other current assignment: – 

Previous assignments: Acquisition and Web 
Conversion Manager at 888holdings (2007-2015), 
responsible for launches of casino, poker and 
sports betting in various regulated markets 

Shareholding in the company: 0 shares and 
53,000 stock options on 92,000 shares

5. DMITRI REIDERMAN 
VP Marketing & CRM since 2015, COO as of 2018

Born 1981

Education: B.A. in Economics and Management 
from the Ruppin Academic Center, Israel, with a 
major in Financing and Banking 

Other current assignment: – 

Previous assignments: Various positions in 
e-commerce, specializing in sales and customer 
retention. Previously CRM Director at Neog-
ames (2013-2015), Head of Sales & Retention 
at Nextrade Ltd (2012-2013) and Head of Sales 
Department DSNR (2009-2012) 

Shareholding in the company: 0 shares and 
65,000 stock options on 140,000 shares

6. GALIT SHANI-MICHEL 
VP Product and Technologies since 2016

Born: 1978

Education: M.A. in Business Management from 
the University of Haifa, Israel. B.A. in Social 
Sciences from the Faculty of Social Sciences and 
Information Systems, Jezreel Valley College, Israel

Other current assignment: - 

Previous assignments: Various management 
roles in Internet companies, specializing in online 
payments and risk. Previously VP Payments 
and Compliance at Aspire Global (2015-2016), 
Payments Director at Neogames (2009-2013) and 
Head of Risk at SafeCharge (2007-2008) 

Shareholding in the company: 0 shares and 
65,000 stock options on 140,000 shares

7. JOV SPIERO 
VP Sales since 2014

Born: 1977

Education: International Baccalaureate in Eco-
nomics and History from the Albert Thijm College, 
Netherlands 

Other current assignment: – 

Previous assignments: Ten years in various 
roles in Internet and mobile application compa-
nies. Previously Director of Customer Relations at 
Neogames (2010-2014), Director of Account Man-
agement at Zlango (2006 -2010) and Marketing 
Operations Manager at 888.com (2005-2006) 

Shareholding in the company: 0 shares and 
65,000 stock options on 140,000 shares
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MANAGEMENT REPORT
The Board of Directors present the annual report together 
with the consolidated financial statements of Aspire Global 
p.l.c, registration number C80711, for the financial year 
 ended December 31st 2017. The Group is active as a limited 
liability Group headquartered in Malta, with subsidiaries in 
Malta and Israel. The address of the head office is 135, High 
Street, Tas-Sliema SLM 1549, Malta. 

The Group consists of the parent company, Aspire 
Global plc, corp. reg. no. C80711, and its wholly owned 
material subsidiaries Aspire Global International Limited, 
corp. reg. no. C42296, AG Communications Limited, corp. 
reg. no. C48328, AG Software Limited, corp. reg. no. C41837 
and Aspire Global Marketing Solutions Ltd., corp. reg. no. 
512816828. The Maltese subsidiaries are the operating com-
panies of the group, holding the licenses and conducting 
the operations. The Israeli subsidiary provides the parent 
company with marketing and development services.

OPERATIONS 
Aspire Global plc is a gaming company and a Business to 
Business (“B2B”) service provider for the online gaming 
market, offering partners a unique full-service solution for 
launching and operating online casinos and sports. With 
more than ten years of operational experience in managing 
casino networks and developing in-house proprietary tech-
nology, Aspire Global is proud to provide an online gaming 
solution that ensures every aspect of the partners’ casinos - 
from regulation and compliance to payment processing, risk 
management, CRM, support and player value optimisation. 
Aspire Global manages the operations, allowing the opera-
tors to focus entirely on marketing and traffic to the casino. 

In addition to the B2B-offering, the Aspire Global op-
erates several proprietary casino brands, mainly Karam-
ba, based on the same operational setup and technical 
platform that is offered to the partner brands. After the 
year-end, in January 2018, Aspire Global became the first 
provider of a full turnkey solution to sport operators, let 
alone with active operations in six regulated markets.

Organic growth
Aspire Global’s B2B business model enables the company 
to acquire players without investing the amount of resourc-
es and funds that are required for effective marketing. New 
operators can easily be added to the scalable platform, 
increasing cost benefits as well as the number of partners, 
brands and players without substantially increased fixed 
costs. New partners migrating from competing platforms 
also generate an immediate increase in revenues for Aspire 
Global. Moreover, there is no limit for additional verticals 
and game titles, allowing Aspire Global to target new audi-
ences and partnerships. Proprietary game development is 
a strength that we have not emphasized before, yet it is an 
asset that we intend to develop further, as it is a successful 
and profitable product allowing us to control additional 
parts of the value chain  

Revenue model
The revenue model for B2B-partnerships is characterized 
by relatively low set-up fees, moderate mark-up on suppli-
er services and mainly a share of the adjusted net gaming 
revenues. Main operational costs revolve around technical 
development, licenses, customer service and marketing of 
B2C-brands. Being the license holder, Aspire Global receives 
net gaming revenues (NGR) directly from the players and 
keeps a royalty-share before splitting revenues with part-
ners, as oppose to many other platform-providers who are 
receiving a royalty-payment from the operators. For that 
reason, the company EBITDA-margin is not fully comparable 
to the EBITDA-margin of other platform-providing compa-
nies.

WORKFORCE 
Aspire Global’s total number of employees at December 
31st 2017 amounted to 148 (140), of which 85 were women, 
which constituted 57%. Due to growth, the company is con-
tinuing to recruit new employees. For additional information 
please see Note 9. 
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE AND POSITION
During 2017, revenues totaled €71.9 million (61.0), up 18%. 
B2B-segment accounted for €37.1 million (30.0), an increase 
of 24% which was mainly driven by the higher number of 
partners and brands operating on our platform. During 
2017, 15 partnerships were signed and 22 brands were 
launched or migrated to our platform, bringing number of 
partners to a total 40 and number of brands to a total of 66. 
The B2C-segment stood for €34.8 million (31.0), an increase 
of 12% attributable primarily to our enhanced marketing 
activities resulted in an increase in number of FTDs and 
effective CRM work to maintain existing players. In 2017, 
a comprehensive overhaul of Karamba.com was complet-
ed, resulting in an excellent HTML-based user experience, 
whilst maintaining the young appeal. Karamba now features 
a clean, streamlined display, superior navigation, live chat 
support, and numerous promotions, including daily bonus-
es. Moreover, a Karamba application was launched in App 
store and Google Play. 

Revenues amounted to €26.7 million (23.7) in the 
Nordics, €14.3 million (12.7) in UK and Ireland,  €24.9 million 
(16.9) in rest of Europe and €6.0 million (7.6) in the rest of 
the world.

PROFIT/LOSS 
The company’s distribution expenses increased by 16% 
to €42.9 million (36.8), primarily driven by higher royalty 
payments to partner casinos and an increase in marketing 
and customer acquisition expenses related to the compa-
ny’s proprietary brands. Gaming duties increased by 16% to 
€3.0 million (2.6) related to higher revenues from regulated 
markets. Administrative expenses increased by 14% to 
€10.6 million (9.3), primarily driven by an increase in staff 
expenses, employee stock option scheme, rent and mainte-
nance and professional services. 

The EBITDA for the year ended 2017 increased by 25% 
and amounted €14.3 million (11.4). The EBITDA margin for 
2017 amounted to 20% (19%). 

Amortization and depreciation increased by 47% to 
€1,228 thousand (837), primarily driven by higher capi-
talized development costs and additional depreciation 
expenses on our new data center.

The company’s interest income and foreign currency 
exchange differences with respect to funding to a related 
group decreased to €504 thousand (€2.7 million), primarily 

driven by a weakened USD against the EUR. Net finance in-
come and expenses decreased to €-508 thousand (- 1,056), 
primarily driven by currency exchange rate differences. The 
company’s income taxes increased by 11% to €780 thou-
sand (700) driven by an increase in the taxable income. Net 
income before company’s share in the results of associated 
companies amounted to €12.3 million (11.6). 

The company share in the results of associated compa-
nies totaled to €-2.5 million in the full year of 2017, attrib-
utable to Neolotto’s investment in the Christmas lottery 
project. Money lent to NeoLotto in Q4 2017, served for ag-
gressive marketing campaign and the creation of infrastruc-
ture to support 2018 activities. There was no such effect on 
the company’s result in the full year that ended December 
31st 2016.

Net income and comprehensive income from continued 
operations amounted to €9.8 million (11.6).

 
INVESTMENTS 
Net investments in intangible assets during 2017 mainly 
consist of: 

 • Capitalized development costs

 • Gaming licenses  

Capitalized expenditure for development work amounted 
€2.9 million (2.1) and gaming licenses amounted of €0.2 
million (0.2). Development work directly attributable to 
the continuous investment in our platform infrastructure, 
adapting it to new regulatory markets, development of new 
games, etc. See Note 14 for further details of intangible 
assets. In 2017, the Group invested €0.6 million in property 
and equipment, compared with €0.1 million the previous 
year. 

LIABILITIES 
Non-current liabilities consist of employees benefits and 
loans related to leasehold improvements. The non-current 
liabilities as at December 31st 2017 amounted to €0.7 mil-
lion (0.7). For contingent liabilities please see Note 20.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL POSITION 
Aspire Global is a cash generating company, cash flow gen-
erated from operating activities increased by 23% to €16.0 
million (13.0), primarily driven the company’s increased 

Segment revenues
Full year ( January-December)  

2017
Full year ( January-December)  

2016

 € '000
% of total  
revenues € '000

% of total  
revenues 2017/2016

B2B (partner brands) 37,095 52 30,008 49 24
B2C (proprietary brands) 34,828 48 31,010 51 12
Total revenues 71,923 100 61,018 100 18
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EBITDA. Aspire Global will continue to invest significant 
resources in research and development and in business 
development. At present, these efforts are covered by avail-
able cash and cash equivalents and commercial revenues, 
and the company is in a good financial position. 

Cash flow used in investing activities increased by 171% 
to €7.6 million (2.8), primarily driven by investments and 
loans in associated companies. The company started to in-
vest in companies in 2017 and intends to further consider a 
number of attractive investments and acquisition opportu-
nities that it identifies. See section “investment” below.

 Cash flow used in financing activities decreased to €7.3 
million (11.6), driven by the net proceeds from the compa-
ny’s IPO partially offsetting a higher dividend compared to 
previous year. 

On March 21st 2018, after the turn of the year, the 
company announced the issuance of a €27.5 million senior 
secured bond loan, under a €80 million framework, with 
the intention to apply for a listing of the Bond on Nasdaq 
Stockholm. The Bond has a 3-year tenor with a floating in-
terest rate of Euribor 3m + 7.0% and a Euribor floor of zero. 
The issue date is set to April 3rd 2018. Additional terms and 
covenants are specified in the Bond terms and conditions. 
The bond loan is aimed to enhance the company’s business 
by mergers and acquisitions activities. 

Cash and cash equivalents amounted to €13.4 million at 
the end of the year compared with €12.3 million at the end 
of 2016. 

KEY EVENTS IN 2017 
We set four goals for 2017: to list the company’s shares on 
Nasdaq First North Premier, to carry out investments and 
acquisition activities, to expand our offering with sports 
betting, to focus and to increase our B2B-arm. As we sum-
marize our performance this year, we can confirm that we 
achieved all our objectives and more. Revenues increased 
by 18% and EBITDA increased by 25%. We completed our 
successful IPO process on July 11th 2017, launched opera-
tions in Portugal, completed two transactions, prepared the 
launch of Sportsbook and entered into a record high num-
ber of partner agreements. Since the company officially de-
cided to focus more on B2B, the number of partners have 
increased by 60%, totaling 40 by the end of 2017. B2B-reve-
nues increased by 24% year-on-year, to €37.1 million (30.0), 
now accounting for more than half of the company’s total 
revenues. 

OPERATIONAL EVENTS
Broader offering
Overhaul of Karamba
After the summer, a comprehensive overhaul of proprietary 
brand Karamba was finalized, resulting in a HTML-based 
user experience as well as an improved display, superior 
navigation and improved promotions. 

Sports betting integration
After material effort and investments in both technological 
development and new talent during 2017, Sportsbook was 
launched in January 2018, well ahead of the World Cup in 
Russia in June 2018. The sports vertical was initially through 
the proprietary brand Karamba, later followed by B2B-part-
ners. Sportsbook is an attractive addition to the B2B-offer-
ing and Aspire Global aims at becoming the leading provider 
of a full turnkey solution to sport operators, in line with the 
long-term plan for strategic growth. Aspire Global is the first 
a unique full-service turn-key solution to casino and sports 
operators, let alone with licensed operations in six regulat-
ed markets.

Games from iSoftBet
After year-end, in January 2018, Aspire Global expanded 
the company’ gaming portfolio through the game hub of 
iSoftBet with access to dozens of additional games provid-
ers, in addition to iSoftBet’s in-house titles; all of which are 
licensed in multiple jurisdictions such as the UK, Denmark, 
Portugal, and .com-regions.

Focus on regulated markets
Withdrawal Australia
In September, operations in Australia were discontinued 
following new gaming legislation. The market accounted for 
around 8% of company’s total revenues, which was com-
pensated through strong performance in other markets 
during the fourth quarter. 

Launch in Portugal
Later in September, Aspire Global entered the newly regu-
lated Portuguese market through a strategic partnership 
with Cofina, one of the largest Media Groups in Portugal. 
Aspire Global is now operating Cofina’s brand Nossa Apos-
ta, offering casino games, slots and, since the first quarter 
of 2018, also sports betting. 

Acquisitions and investments 
Acquisition of Minotauro Media Ltd
In February 2017, Aspire Global, through its wholly owned 
subsidiary AG Communications Limited, acquired 30% of 
the shares of Minotauro Media Ltd for a total consideration 
of €1,183 thousand, of which €828 thousand and €355 
thousand were paid on 3 February 2017 and June 30th 
2017, respectively. Minotauro Media is engaged in the busi-
ness of marketing and promoting online gaming services via 
its domain names. Aspire Global was granted a call option 
for the remaining 70% of MML and the seller was granted a 
put option, exercisable from August 2018 to June 2021. 
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Convertible loan to Neolotto Ltd
Aspire Global holds 38% of shares in Neolotto Ltd, a compa-
ny that in 2017 was granted a nationwide license in Germa-
ny for charity lotteries. In order to explore the business 
potential of this license, Neolotto was, during 2017, granted 
a convertible loans of €5.3 million from its shareholders. 
Aspire Global’s share of the loan amounted to €2.7 million. 

Launch of Mr.Play
In November 2017 Aspire Global launched Mr. Play, a new 
casino and sports betting brand through a joint venture 
with industry veterans. Aspire Global holds 40% of the 
shares in the company and will be investing up to €2 million 
of totally €4 million, based on business milestones. 

FINANCIAL EVENTS AND CORPORATE EVENTS
Initial Public Offering  
On July 11th, 2017, Aspire Global was listed for trading on 
the NASDAQ First North Premier in Stockholm, Sweden. The 
offering price had been set to SEK 30 per share, corre-
sponding to a value of the company’s shares of SEK 1,323 
million after the completion of the offering. The offering was 
significantly over-subscribed and trading commenced on 
Tuesday July 11th. On August 3rd Pareto Securities had fully 
exercised the over-allotment option regarding 1,641,977 
existing shares in the company. As part of the process, 
Aspire Global, re-domiciled to Malta. On May 23th 2017, the 
company completed a 4:1 share split of its share capital and 
issued 31,495,740 new ordinary shares. In addition, on June 
9th 2017 the company changed its name from Aspire Global 
Limited to Aspire Global Plc. 

New Board appointments
Carl Klingberg and Fredrik Burvall were elected as members 
of the board. In addition, Carl Klingberg was elected as the 
Chairman of the board. Fredrik Burvall replaced Olga Finkel 
as board member. She is now secretary of the board. 

Bond issuance
After the year-end, on March 21st 2018, the company 
announced the issuance of a $27.5 million senior secured 
bond loan, under a $80 million framework, with the inten-
tion to apply for a listing of the Bond on Nasdaq Stockholm. 
The Bond has a 3-year tenor with a floating interest rate 
of Euribor 3m + 7.0% and a Euribor floor of zero. The issue 
date is set to April 3rd 2018. Additional terms and cove-
nants are specified in the Bond terms and conditions. The 
bond loan is aimed to enhance the company’s business by 
mergers and acquisitions activities.

INSURANCE 
In addition to corporate directors’ and officers’ insurance, 
Aspire Global’s insurance policies include coverage of its 
core operations against losses and/or potential liability in 
relation to claims from third parties. The risks covered are 
damage to property, remuneration and benefits to employ-
ees. The company deems that its insurance coverage is 
appropriate for the current scope of the business. 

ENVIRONMENT AND LIABILITY 
Aspire Global does not conduct any operations that involve 
particular environmental risk or require specific environ-
mental permits or decisions from authorities. Aspire Global 
is of the opinion that the Group generally operates applica-
ble regulations and offers its employees a safe and healthy 
working environment. 

DISPUTES 
Aspire Global is not a party to any legal proceedings or 
arbitration proceedings, which at any time have or have had 
a significant impact on the company’s financial position or 
profitability. 

WORK OF THE BOARD IN 2017 
At the Annual General Meeting (AGM) in 2017, five Board 
Members were elected for the period until the next AGM. 
the Board of Director’s expertise encompass the on-line 
gaming, marketing, financial and strategic issues. The Board 
held 13 meetings during the year, via conference calls or 
actual meetings. Reports at the meetings were presented 
mainly by the CEO but also by other members of the man-
agement team. 

The focus of the Board’s work in 2017 was on strategic 
issues, particularly matters relating to acquisitions, product 
development, business development and capital procure-
ment, as well as the further development of the Group’s 
business plan. The Board’s work follows established rules 
of procedure, which regulate areas such as the division of 
responsibility, the number of compulsory meetings, the 
form of convening notices, fundamental documentation 
and minutes, conflicts of interest, obligatory matters that 
the CEO must submit to the Board, and authorized Group 
signatories. The Board handles on an ongoing basis matters 
such as the current business situation, closing of accounts 
for each period, budget, strategies and external informa-
tion. 

For detailed information about the Board of Directors, 
see page 38. 
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COMMITTEES 
During 2017, the board didn’t establish committees and all 
issues were addressed by the Board as a whole. In February 
2018, the board appointed a compensation committee that 
will prepare proposals on remuneration issues. The com-
mittee consists of Board members Barak Matalon (Chair-
man) and Carl Klingberg. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
See pages 32-37 for the Corporate governance report. 

INFORMATION DISCLOSURE 
On July 3rd 2017, the company adopted information policy 
that states the guidelines for all internal and external 
communication in Aspire Global plc. The purpose of this 
policy is to clarify how the responsibility has to be shared 
and to contribute to uniform communication, both within 
and outside the company. The company’s full obligations 
with regard to insider information is described in the insider 
policy.

Aspire Global strives to uphold good communication 
with shareholders. Group information must be correct, 
clear, factual, credible and timely. Communication from 
Aspire Global must also be characterized by openness, with 
regular interim and annual reports published in English. 
Events considered to influence the value of the share are 
announced in a press release. 

REMUNERATION OF SENIOR EXECUTIVES
Remuneration to the CEO and other senior executives con-
sists of basic salary, other benefits and pension. The CEO 
and other senior executives receive a marketable monthly 
salary, variable remuneration and customary fringe bene-
fits. In 2017 the CEO was, according to his employment con-
tract, entitled to a monthly remuneration of €19 thousand. 
The CEO is also entitled to variable remuneration consisting 
of an annual bonus. Having acknowledged that the financial 
targets of the company for the year 2017 have been met, 
the Board approved the full bonus payment of €174 thou-
sand (gross) to the CEO of Aspire Global. In addition, the 
board approved a special bonus for the successful IPO pro-
cess of €90 thousand (gross). The CEO was also eligible for 
other benefits amounting to approximately €40 thousand. 
The other senior executives in Aspire Global have a monthly 
salary that ranges between €8.5 thousand and €10 thou-
sand (based on EUR/NIS exchanges rate as of December 
31st, 2017) and are entitled to a variable remuneration on 
a quarterly and annual basis. Actual levels of remuneration 
are generally determined by the company based on factors 
such as expertise, experience and performance.

OUTLOOK FOR 2018 
Aspire Global aims to create value and generate a solid 
return to shareholders through continuous growth, with 
a long-term EBITDA margin of at least 15%. The Group’s 
growth strategy includes organic growth, acquisitions, 
expansion of its offering and broadening its partners base. 
During 2018, focus will be placed on launching sportsbook, 
M&A transactions and continuous organic growth. 

PROPOSED DISTRIBUTION OF APPROPRIATED PROFIT 
(TSEK) 
On February 7th 2018, the Board of Directors proposed a 
dividend to the company’s shareholders on behalf of the 
2017 financial year results in the amount of approximately 
€3.8 million equivalent to SEK0.85 per share. The dividend is 
subject to the shareholders’ approval.

The amount available for appropriation at the Annual 
General Meeting comprises the following unrestricted 
reserves, profit carried forward and the profit for the year in 
the Parent Group: 

The Board of Directors proposes that profit for the year 
be carried forward. Following appropriation, unrestricted 
equity amounts to: 

Equity attributable to the equity  
holders of the company
Share capital and premium 4,882
Share based payment reserve 1,642
Reserve with respect to funding transactions 
with  a related group (15,371)
Retained earnings 23,342
Profit for the year 11,097

25,592
Non-controlling interests (217)

TOTAL EQUITY 25,375
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RISK AREA – REGULATION
Type of risk Risk level Risk mitigation

The online gaming industry is a regulated industry 
characterized by a high variance over jurisdictions, fre-
quent changes, and uncertainty regarding future legal 
developments. 

Probability 
      

Effect 
      

Despite the uncertainty, changes do take time which 
enables the company to prepare for different outcome 
thanks to close and on-going dialogue with relevant 
authorities and stakeholders.   

The company’s growth rate, strategy and future income 
may be affected by new regulation or re-regulation caus-
ing closure of existing online gaming market in various 
jurisdictions. 

Probability 
      

Effect 
      

Aspire Global’s goal is to increase its share of revenues 
generated from regulated and taxed markets. Increased 
regulation introduces additional taxes and affects prof-
itability, however, contributes to the revenues stability 
and opens additional opportunities to attract partners, 
including companies that are not originally operators 
but wish to launch a casino or sportsbook of their own, 
such as media companies or affiliate companies. 

Part of the company’s operations is subject to official 
approval in the form of licenses and permits. The com-
pany is dependent on maintaining its licenses, permits 
and certifications and may be required in the future to 
obtain new licenses, permits and/or certifications in 
other jurisdictions.

Probability 
      

Effect 
      

In regulated markets, Aspire Global is working with 
certified labs that are approved by the regulators, as 
well as with local lawyers that advise the company in 
the market. The process of any new development for 
an existing or new regulated market, is done with close 
cooperation with and guidelines from both the lab and 
the local advisor.  
Development only starts once Aspire Global Regulation 
Manager and VP Product approves that the solution is 
compliant. Part of the development cycle is the review 
by the Regulation Manager and approval of the solution. 
It is then moved to certification, where comments from 
the lab are being implemented in the product.

The legal and technological solutions and marketing lim-
itations that the company applies in certain jurisdictions 
to block or limit the access to and the use of services to 
end users may prove inadequate. 

Probability 
      

Effect 
      

Aspire Global operates and is in compliance with 6 
different regulations. As part of our compliance we are 
implementing such limitations on marketing and access 
on an on-going basis. We are constantly monitoring it in 
our services for  adequacy. 

In conducting our business, we face many risks that may 
interfere with our business objectives. Some of these risks 
could materially and adversely affect our business, financial 
condition and results of operations. In particular, we are 
subject to various risks resulting from changing economic, 
political, industry, business and financial conditions. The 
risks and uncertainties described below are not the only 
ones we face, for a more elaborate explanation of the com-

pany’s risks, please visit our website and read the company 
prospectus. You should carefully consider the following 
factors and other information in this annual report. If any of 
the negative events referred to below occur, our business, 
financial condition and results of operations could suffer. 
In any such case, the trading price of our ordinary shares 
could decline.

Probability   low   average   high

Effect   minor   average   significant

RISK FACTORS 
RISK FACTORS 
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RISK AREA – SUSTAINABILITY
Type of risk Risk level Risk mitigation

The Company’s procedures for counteracting GDPR 
could prove to be inadequate. 

Probability 
      

Effect 
      

Aspire Global has made considerable efforts to ensure 
that its practices comply with data protection laws and 
the industry’s best practices. Data protection is man-
aged by a designated Data Protection Officer responsi-
ble for compliance. This work is based on an extensive 
review of operations, current contracts and other 
arrangements for sharing data with partners, vendors 
and clients, as well as internal procedures to safeguard 
protection prior to sharing personal data. Actions have 
then been taken to improve routines and technical, 
administrative and legal tools that enable adequate 
documentation of data processing activities.

The Company fails to Identify and support players who 
are suffering from gambling problems

Probability 
      

Effect 
      

Responsible gaming was a topic of debate in Europe 
during the last year, to which Aspire Global responded 
with updated guidelines to its proprietary brands and 
its partners. Aspire published information on all the 
company’s websites to help players identify problems at 
an early stage. Aspire Global proactively offers support 
and tools for game-related problems and refers to 
organizations specialized in dealing with such problems. 
The company has also appointed Officer of Responsible 
Gaming to ensure that the guidelines and routines are 
followed.

RISK AREA – TECHNOLOGY
Type of risk Risk level Risk mitigation

The company must adapt to technological advances. 
The company must continuously refresh and improve 
its offerings and services to maintain its competiveness. 
Widespread adoption of new technology and the greater 
application of more rigorous technical standards in the 
gaming industry could require the company to set aside 
significant resources for replacing, upgrading, modifying 
and/or adapting its existing technology and systems. 
If the company fails to adapt to technological changes 
and innovation in a timely fashion and cost-efficiently, it 
could have a material adverse effect on the company’s 
operations, financial position or earnings.

Probability 
      

Effect 
      

Aspire Global is working preventively with continuous 
development, keeping an ear to the ground to stay up-
to-date with external trends, needs and demands. 
Securing resources in advance in the roadmap for 
technology improvements such as replacing, upgrading, 
modifying and/or adapting existing technology and 
systems.  

The company is exposed to certain risks attributable to 
the operation’s IT-systems. 

Probability 
      

Effect 
      

Aspire Global is investing a lot of resources in the 
infrastructure. During 2017 the company built a new 
data center to allow Active-Active technology, where in 
case of any failure the activity is routed to the 2nd Data 
Center. 

The company may be vulnerable to network failure, 
disruptions, cyber-crime attacks and player fraud and 
significant resources may be required to protect the 
company from such risks. 

Probability 
      

Effect 
      

Dedicated department with highly qualified personnel 
combined with consistent routines and preventive ac-
tions were implemented. Aspire Global is highly security 
minded and priorities preparations to deal with such 
attacks. 

RISK FACTORS 
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RISK AREA – MARKET
Type of risk Risk level Risk mitigation

The company operates in a fast-growing and com-
petitive market. The company has a large number of 
competitors, including certain competitors that have 
considerably larger financial and operational resources 
than the company. If the company is unable to compete 
effectively, it may lose customers and may not be able to 
attract new customers. 

Probability 
      

Effect 
      

Aspire Global offers unique turn key solution for iGa-
ming, enabling its partners to focus on marketing and 
players acquisitions. In case that additional competitors 
should provide a similar offering, it may negatively affect 
Aspire Global’s results.

The demand for the company’s offerings is subject to 
end-users’ preferences that change over time. 

Probability 
      

Effect 
      

Aspire Global constantly expanding its offering by add-
ing additional content from leading content providers 
and recently launched a new vertical – sports betting. 
Aspire Global has also developed proprietary CRM sys-
tem in order to better monitor end-users’ preferences 
and to adjust its offering accordingly.

The company is active in an industry that could be sub-
ject to negative publicity and the industry is dependent 
on social acceptance. 

Probability 
      

Effect 
      

Aspire Global’s operates and intends to increase its 
activity regulated and taxed markets in which social 
acceptance for the gaming industry is relatively higher 
and governed by local gaming regulation. 

Adverse changes in the global economic outlook may 
adversely affect the gaming industry and the company’s 
financial results. 

Probability 
      

Effect 
      

Aspire Global’s business activity is well spread, without 
having a single territory comprising over 25%. Such di-
versity mitigates the concern of material adverse effect 
on Aspire Global’s results.

RISK AREA – STAKEHOLDERS
Type of risk Risk level Risk mitigation

The company relies on third-party vendors for its 
operations. For example, the company depends heavily 
on suppliers in areas such as payment processing, tele-
communications, advertising, technology, banking and 
other service providers. If one or more of these external 
parties do not meet its undertakings towards the com-
pany or, if third party suppliers are unwilling or unable 
to provide services to the company, it could adversely 
affect the company’s operations, brand, reputation or 
financial results. 

Probability 
      

Effect 
      

Aspire Global maintains on going relations with its key 
suppliers, calls, meetings, etc.
Aspire Global aims to have several suppliers for the 
same service. In addition, Aspire Global reviews suppli-
er-agreements on regular basis in order to ensure terms 
are fulfilled.

The company relies on a small number of partners. As 
of the date of this report, the company’s five largest 
partners contributed to a material part of the company’s 
revenues. The company’s revenue stream from these 
partners may be adversely affected by any deterioration 
or decline in the business of these partners or if any 
of these partners would terminate or not renew their 
agreements or cooperation with the company. 

Probability 
      

Effect 
      

Aspire Global materially increased the numbers of 
partners in 2017, going from 25 at the end of 2016 to 40 
at the end of 2017, while launching 22 brands. The share 
of revenues generated from the five largest partners 
decreased in the past years, currently totaling just 
above 30%. 

The company depends on key individuals. Probability 
      

Effect 
      

Aspire Global offers individual career plans and ongoing 
training programs, based on personal needs and goals, 
including management training and promotion oppor-
tunities. Working conditions are modern, flexible and 
stimulating enabling a balanced life style.

Promissory notes that were issued to the company by 
NeoGames as part of the consideration in the collabora-
tion with William Hill may not be paid, or be paid in less 
their face value

Probability 
      

Effect 
      

The company evaluates its assets on an on-going basis. 
Currently the company does not foresee any indications  
or reasons to doubt the repayment of the Promissary 
notes. 

RISK FACTORS 
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RISK AREA – LEGAL RISKS
Type of risk Risk level Risk mitigation

The company depends on its intellectual property rights 
and its failure to protect it or to maintain the right to use 
certain intellectual property it licenses may negatively 
affect its business. 

Probability 
      

Effect 
      

Aspire Global has not applied for patents to cover its 
proprietary platform. Instead, Aspire Global maintains 
copyrights and trade secrets in order to protect its 
intellectual property.

The company may face claims alleging infringement of 
intellectual property rights held by others. 

Probability 
      

Effect 
      

Aspire Global Complies with legal norms and laws to 
minimizes the risk of intellectual property infringements. 

The company may be involved in litigation. There is a risk 
that the company may become the target of claims in 
respect of, for example, regulatory compliance, contract 
matters, customer-related issues, including matters re-
lated to gaming, intellectual property rights and tax mat-
ters. Such disputes and claims can be time consuming, 
disrupt normal operations, involve large amounts and 
entail substantial costs. Ongoing and future disputes 
may lead to substantial damages which could have a 
material adverse effect on the company’s operations, 
financial position or earnings.

Probability 
      

Effect 
      

The company is constantly working, and dedicated sub-
stantial resources, to reduce compliance and litigation 
risks by closely monitoring its policies and practices, 
obtaining legal advice, addressing each event that may 
develop to a litigation or an investigation and acts quick-
ly to resolve any such disputes.

RISK AREA – SAFETY
Type of risk Risk level Risk mitigation

The company is dependent on functional and secure 
payment solutions. If the company will fail to provide 
payment solutions and withdrawal options, which are 
compliant and un-interrupted, it could have a material 
adverse effect on the company’s operations, financial 
position or earnings.

Probability 
      

Effect 
      

In order to reduce the risk, Aspire Global has multiple in-
tegrations in place for different payment providers. This 
allows Aspire Global not to relay and be dependent on 
one providers for both deposit and cash-outs. We also 
support redundancy to secondary payment providers in 
case of a technical failure.
In addition to that, Aspire Global monitors the pay-
ment-KPIs on a periodic basis. If identifying any problem, 
the company would either approach the relevant provid-
er or route the specific traffic to an alternative provider.

The company’s procedures for counteracting money 
laundering and fraud could prove to be inadequate. 

Probability 
      

Effect 
      

Aspire Global maintains anti-money laundering proce-
dures and processes in accordance with regulations and 
licensing requirements.

The company’s processing of personal data. The com-
pany frequently registers and processes personal data 
when registering new customers and in connection with 
such activities as deposits and payments. If the compa-
ny was to have shortcomings in its handling of personal 
data, or if the rules regarding. treatment of personal 
data and data confidentiality were to change to the 
detriment of the company, this could entail a material 
adverse effect on the company’s operations, earnings 
and financial position.

Probability 
      

Effect 
      

Aspire Global has taken considerable efforts to ensure 
that its data protection practices comply with data 
protection laws and the industry’s best practices. Data 
protection is managed as a corporate issue with a desig-
nated Data Protection Officer holding responsibility for 
data protection compliance. The basis for the compli-
ance work has been an extensive review of operations, 
current contracts and other arrangements for sharing 
data with our partners, vendors and clients, as well as 
internal procedures for safeguard protection prior to 
the sharing of personal data. Actions have then been 
taken to improve routines as well as technical, adminis-
trative and legal tools that enable adequate documenta-
tion of data processing activities.

RISK FACTORS 
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RISK AREA – OPERATIONAL
Type of risk Risk level Risk mitigation

The company may pursue strategic investments and 
acquisitions in the future which are associated with risks 
and may not be successful. 

Probability 
      

Effect 
      

Aspire Global has an established a process for acquisi-
tions. The process is continually updated and improved 
to address and mitigate risks. Before any acquisition is 
completed, a detailed due-diligence will be performed in 
order to evaluate risks involved.

The entry into Sports Betting may not have the expect-
ed results

Probability 
      

Effect 
      

Aspire Global has launched its sports betting solution 
by using an industry leading product. 
Prior to the launch of Sportsbook, a number of techni-
cally and commercially skilled people with industry-ex-
perience were recruited.

In order to finance investments, technology develop-
ment or expansion by way of acquisition, Aspire Global 
may need to secure additional financing. If we are 
unable to finance ourselves and lack of liquidity, it may 
have negative impact on our long-term ability to operate 
the business

Probability 
      

Effect 
      

Aspire Global monitors the cash position, expected 
cash-flow and budget regularly. The company performs 
short-term and long-term financing and liquidity anal-
ysis, in order to ensure sufficient liquid assets to fulfil 
company goals.

RISK FACTORS 
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For the year ended Dec 31st
€000, except per share data Note 2017 2016
Revenues (including EU VAT) 71,923 61,018
EU VAT –1,148 –844
Net revenues 70,775 60,174

Distribution expenses –42,876 –36,832
Gaming duties –3,019 –2,603
Administrative expenses 6 –10,618 –9,345

–56,513 –48,780

EBITDA 14,262 11,394

Amortization and depreciation –1,228 –837
Operating income 13,034 10,557

Interest income and foreign currency exchange differences with respect to 
funding to a related group 21B 504 2,750
Finance income  7A 177 184
Finance expenses 7B –685 –1,240
Income before income taxes 13,030 12,251
 
Income taxes 8 –780 –700
Net income before company share in the results of associated companies 12,250 11,551

Non-recurring expenses and company share in the results of associated  
companies and other related –2,465 –
Net income from continuing operations 9,785 11,551

Profit on discontinued operations, net of tax 25 1,309 3,593
Net income and comprehensive income 11,094 15,144

Net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss) attributable to: 
Equity holders of the company 11,097 15,145
Non-controlling interests –3 –1

Earnings per share attributable to the equity holders of the company (€)*: 11

Net income from continuing operations attributable to the equity holders  
of the company: 
Basic 0.23 0.28
Diluted 0.22 0.28

Net income attributable to the equity holders of the company:
Basic 0.26 0.36
Diluted 0.25 0.36

*  On May 23rd 2017, the company completed a 4:1 share split of its share capital and issued 31,495,740 new ordinary shares,  
which was applied retrospectively for the calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share.

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at Dec 31st
€000 Note 2017 2016
ASSETS
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property and equipment  13 1,313 1,134
Intangible assets  14 4,950 2,772
Capital notes, loans and accrued interest due from a related group 21B 9,001 14,152
Investments and loans - associated companies 12 1,939 380
Deferred income taxes 63 31
 17,266 18,469

CURRENT ASSETS 
Trade receivables 15 9,575 5,066
Other receivables 1,215 378
Income taxes receivable 9,058 4,751
Related group receivable 21C 224 511
Restricted cash 854 1,523
Cash and cash equivalents 16 13,412 12,260

34,338 24,489

 TOTAL ASSETS  51,604 42,958

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
 Equity attributable to the equity holders of the company
 Share capital and premium 17 4,882 62
 Share based payment reserve 1,642 1,333
 Reserve with respect to funding transactions with a related group (15,371) (9,716)
 Retained earnings 34,439 35,342
Total equity attributable to the equity holders of the company 25,592 27,021
 Non-controlling interests (217) (214)

TOTAL EQUITY 25,375 26,807

 NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 
 Employee benefits  304 176
 Loans with respect to leasehold improvements 438 566

742 742

 CURRENT LIABILITIES 
 Client liabilities 18 3,515 3,016
 Trade and other payables 19 11,505 6,840
 Income taxes payable 10,467 5,553
  25,487 15,409
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 51,604 42,958
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Equity attributable to the owners of the company

 

Share 
capital and 

premium

Share  
based  

payments  
reserve

Reserve with 
respect to  

funding trans- 
actions with a  
related group

Retained  
earnings

Total 
equity 

attributable  
to the own- 

ers of the
company

Non- 
controlling  

interests
Total  

equity
Balance as at January 1st 2016 62 1,252 –9,716 25,197 16,795 –213 16,582

Changes in equity for the year  
ended December 31st 2016:
Comprehensive income (loss) – – – 15,145 15,145 –1 15,144
Dividend – – – –5,000 –5,000 – –5,000
Employee stock option scheme – 81 – – 81 – 81
Balance as at December 31st 2016 62 1,333 –9,716 35,342 27,021 –214 26,807

Changes in equity for the year  
ended December 31st 2017:
Issuance of ordinary shares,  
net of related expenses 4,820 – – – 4,820 – 4,820
Comprehensive income (loss) – – – 11,097 11,097 –3 11,094
Dividend – – – –12,000 –12,000 – –12,000
Benefit to the company equity holders 
with respect to funding transactions – – –5,655 – –5,655 – –5,655
Employee stock option scheme – 309 – – 309 – 309
Balance as at December 31st 2017 4,882 1,642 –15,371 34,439 25,592 –217 25,375

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

52 ASPIRE GLOBAL ANNUAL REPORT 2017

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended Dec 31st
€000 Note 2017 2016
Cash flows from operating activities:
Income before income taxes 13,030 12,251

Adjustments for:
Amortization and depreciation 1,228 837
Employee stock option scheme expenses 309 81
Interest income and foreign currency exchange differences with respect to 
funding to a related group –504 –2,750
Profit on discontinued operations, net of tax 25 1,309 3,593

Increase in trade receivables –4,509 –269
Decrease (increase) in restricted cash 669 –524
Decrease (increase) in other receivables –837 285
Decrease (increase) in a related group receivables 287 –232
Decrease (increase) in income taxes receivable net of income taxes payable –95 81
Increase in trade and other payables 4,665 257
Increase (decrease) in loans with respect to leasehold improvements –21 23
Increase in client liabilities 499 132
Increase in employee benefits 128 22

16,158 13,787

Income taxes paid, net –110 –830

Net cash generated from operating activities 16,048 12,957

Cash flows from investing activities: 
Purchase of property and equipment –575 –143
Investment in and purchase of intangible assets –3,067 –2,267
Investment and loans – associated companies  12 –3,967 –380

Net cash used in investing activities –7,609 –2,790

Cash flows from financing activities:
Repayment of loans with respect to leasehold improvements –107 –99
Issuance of ordinary shares, net of related expenses 4,820 –
Dividends payments to equity holders of the company –12,000 –11,500

Net cash used in financing activities –7,287 –11,599

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,152 –1,432
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 12,260 13,692

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 13,412 12,260
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 1 GENERAL

Aspire Global plc (the “company”) was incorporated in Gibraltar on 
December 17th 2003. On May 9th 2017, the company re-domiciled 
to Malta. Further, on May 23rd 2017, the company completed a 4:1 
share split of its share capital and issued 31,495,740 new ordinary 
shares. On June 9th 2017, the company changed its name from 
Aspire Global Limited to Aspire Global plc.  

On July 11th 2017, the company completed an Initial Public Offering 
(“IPO”) on the Nasdaq First North Premier in Stockholm, Sweden, 
under the ticker ”ASPIRE”, pursuant to a prospectus published on 
June 26th 2017: 
A.  The company registered 12,598,296 shares (including 1,641,977 

over-allotment), of which 2,099,716 were newly issued shares and 
the remaining were sold by the existing shareholders, reflecting 
29% of the company shares (upon completion). The offering price 
was SEK30 (approximately €3.2 as at December 31st 2017).

B.  The company raised gross proceeds of €6,537 thousand which 
were recorded as part of the Consolidated Statement of Changes 
in Equity during 2017, such amount was offset by legal and pro-
fessional service fees aggregated to €1,717 thousand which were 
incurred in connection with the IPO.

  
The company together with its subsidiaries (the “Group”) is a top 
platform provider which offers a total “all-in-one” solution for 
online gaming operators. The Group provides an advanced solution 
combining a robust platform, interactive games, and a set of com-
prehensive operational services. Gaming operators, affiliates and 
media companies benefit from flexible cross-platform solutions 
that include fully managed operations and customized integrations 
of a vast games offering.

NOTE 2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The significant accounting policies followed in the preparation of 
the financial statements, on a consistent basis, are:
      
1. Accounting principles
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards including, International 
Accounting Standards and interpretations (collectively “IFRSs”) 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) as 
adopted by the European Union (“adopted IFRSs”). 
 The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under 
the historical cost convention except for derivative financial instru-
ments, funding transactions with a related group and the employee 
stock option scheme, which have been measured at fair value.

2. Comparative information
Comparative figures stated in the statements of comprehensive 
income, financial position and cash flows have been reclassified to 
conform to the current year’s presentation format for the purpose 
of adequate presentation.

3. Foreign currency
The financial statements of the company and its subsidiaries are 
prepared in Euro (the functional currency), which is the currency 
that best reflects the economic substance of the underlying events 
and circumstances relevant to the Group’s transactions. Balances 
in foreign currencies are converted into Euro in accordance with the 
principles set forth by International Accounting standard (IAS) 21 
(“The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates”). Accordingly, 
transactions and balances have been converted as follows: 
 Monetary balances - at the rate of exchange applicable at the 
end of the reporting year; All other items - at exchange rates appli-
cable as at the date of recognition of those items. 

4. Basis of consolidation
Where the company has control over an investee, it is classified as 
a subsidiary. The company controls an investee if all three of the 
following elements are present: power over the investee, exposure 
to variable returns from the investee, and the ability of the investor 
to use its power to affect those variable returns. The consolidated 
financial statements present the results of the company and its 
subsidiaries as if they formed a single entity. Intercompany trans-
actions and balances between Group companies are therefore 
eliminated in full.

5. Revenue recognition
Revenues generated from online gaming through the company’s 
various self-owned brands is recognized in the accounting periods 
in which the transactions occur and is measured at the fair value of 
the consideration received or receivable, net of certain promotional 
bonuses and VAT.
 In instances of revenues split arrangements where the company 
is the principal in the transaction, revenues is recorded on a gross 
basis and the third party revenues portion related to the sale is 
recorded within distribution costs as royalties, while in cases where 
the company acts as an agent between the customer and the ven-
dor, revenues is recorded net of costs. 
 Revenues in respect of network service arrangements where a 
third-party uses the Group’s gaming platform is recognized in the 
accounting period in which the gaming transactions occur and is 
measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. 
 
6. Distribution expenses
Distribution expenses represent royalties payable to partners, 
customer related acquisition and other costs.

7. Gaming duties 
Gaming duties relate to gaming taxes imposed by various EU 
countries.

8. Income taxes 
Current income taxes are calculated in accordance with the tax 
legislation and applicable tax rates in force at the end of the report-
ing year in the countries in which the Group companies have been 
incorporated. 
 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized where the car-
rying amount of an asset or liability in the consolidated Statement 
of Financial Position differs from its tax base, except for differences 
arising on:
•  the initial recognition of an asset in a transaction (which is not a 

business combination) that at the time of the transaction does not 
affect accounting or taxable profit; and

•  Investments in subsidiaries where the Group is able to control the 
timing of the reversal of the difference and it is probable that the 
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The amount of the deferred tax asset or deferred tax liability is de-
termined using tax rates that have been enacted by the reporting 
date and are expected to apply when the deferred tax liabilities/
assets are expected to be settled/used.

9. Investment in associates  
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influ-
ence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial 
and operating policy decisions of the investee, but does not control 
or joint control over those policies. The Group’s investment in its as-
sociates is accounted for using the equity method. Under the equity 
method, the investment in an associate is initially recognized at cost 
plus direct transaction cost. The carrying amount of the investment 
is adjusted to recognize changes in the Group’s share of net assets 
of the associate since the acquisition date. Goodwill relating to the 
associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment and 
is not tested for impairment separately. 
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After the application of the equity method, the Group determines 
whether it is necessary to recognize an impairment loss on the 
investment in its associate. At each reporting date, the Group deter-
mines whether there is an objective evidence that the investment 
in the associate is impaired. If there is such evidence, the Group 
calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between 
the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value, and 
then recognizes the loss as ‘Non-recurring expenses’ in the State-
ment of Comprehensive Income.

10. Property and equipment
Property and equipment comprise computers, leasehold improve-
ments, office furniture and equipment, and motor vehicles and are 
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment.  
 Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of fixed assets to 
their residual amount. The Group utilized the straight line basis to 
depreciate its fixed assets as it reflects the future economic benefits 
from those assets. The principal annual rates used for this purpose, 
which are consistent with those of the previous years, are: 

%
Computers 33
Office furniture and equipment 7
Motor vehicles 17
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the term  

of the lease and useful lives

Subsequent expenditures are included in the assets carrying 
amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only 
when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the 
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other 
repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the 
financial period in which they are incurred.
 Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing 
proceeds with carrying amount and are recognized in profit or loss.
 The residual value, the depreciation method and the useful life of 
an asset are reviewed at least each year-end and the changes are 
accounted for as a change in accounting estimate on a prospective 
basis. As for impairment test of fixed assets, see Note 2.12 below.

11. Intangible assets
Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over the useful life 
and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that 
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortization period and 
the amortization method for an intangible asset with a finite useful 
life are reviewed at least at the end of each year. Changes in the ex-
pected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future 
economic benefits embodied in the asset are treated as changes 
in accounting estimates. The amortization expense on intangible 
assets with finite lives is recognized in the Statement of Compre-
hensive Income in the expense category that is consistent with the 
function of the intangible assets.
A.  Intangible assets comprise costs incurred in relation to gaming 

license applications. Gaming application expenditures incurred 
are capitalized only where the expenditure will lead to new or 
substantially improved products or processes, the Group has 
intention, ability and sufficient resources to complete the intangi-
ble asset and use it, the intangible assets will probably generate 
future economic benefits and the Group has the ability to mea-
sure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset. 
Gaming license applications are amortized over the license term.

B.  Development expenditures on specific projects are recognized 
as an intangible asset when the Group can demonstrate that:

 •  It is technically feasible to develop the product for it to be sold, 
regardless of whether the entity intends to do so;

 • Adequate resources are available to complete the development
 • There is an intention to complete and use or sell the product
 • The Group is able to use or sell the product
 • The use of product will generate future economic benefits, and 
 • Expenditure on the project can be measured reliably.

Following initial recognition of the development expenditure as an 
asset, the asset is carried at cost less any accumulated amortiza-
tion and accumulated impairment losses. Amortization of the asset 
begins when development is complete and the asset is available 
for use. It is amortized over the period of expected future benefit. 
During the period of development, the asset is tested for impair-
ment annually.
 Development expenditure not satisfying the above criteria and 
expenditure on the research phase of internal projects are recog-
nized in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as incurred. 
 During 2017 and 2016, the Group capitalized development cost 
of €2,619 thousand and €2,080 thousand, respectively.
 The useful life of the Intangible Assets is between 4-8 years 
(mainly 8 years) and amortized on a straight line basis over the 
expected useful lives of the assets concerned.

12. Impairment of non-financial assets 
The Group evaluates the need to record an impairment of the 
carrying amount of fixed assets and intangible assets whenever 
events or changes in the circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount is not recoverable. If the carrying amount of the above 
assets exceeds their recoverable amount, the assets are reduced 
to their recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher 
of the net sale price and value in use. In measuring value in use, the 
expected cash flows are discounted using a pre-tax discount rate 
that reflects the specific risks of the asset. The recoverable amount 
of an asset that does not generate independent cash flows is de-
termined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 
Impairment losses are recognized in the statement of comprehen-
sive income.

13. Financial assets
The Group classifies its financial assets as loans, receivables and 
derivatives as discussed below. The Group has not classified any of 
its financial assets as held to maturity or available for sale. 
 This category assets are carried in the Consolidated Statement of 
Financial Position at fair value with changes in fair value recognized 
in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income in the 
finance income or expenses line item. 
 The Group’s financial assets comprise capital notes, loans and 
accrued interest due from a related group, trade receivables, other 
receivables, cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash. 
  Trade receivables principally represent amounts due from pay-
ment processors that remit funds on behalf of customers and oth-
er types of contractual monetary asset and cash. Carried amounts 
are netted from an estimate made for bad and doubtful debts 
based on a review of all outstanding amounts at the period-end. 
An estimate for doubtful debts is made when there is objective 
evidence that the Group will not be able to collect amounts due ac-
cording to the original terms of receivables. Bad debts are written 
off when identified.
 Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and deposits 
held at call with banks with original maturities of three months or 
less.
 Restricted cash mainly include pledges for the Group’s leased 
premises, security deposits for hedging positions and funds held 
on behalf of gaming players by the Italian Gaming Regulator.

14. Financial liabilities
The Group’s financial liabilities are all categorized as financial lia-
bilities measured at amortized cost. Financial liabilities include the 
following items:
• Loans with respect to leasehold improvements
•  Client liabilities due to players for deposits not yet utilized in 

gaming activity;
•  Trade payables and other short-term monetary liabilities.

The above financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value, 
net of related expenses and subsequently carried at amortized 
cost using the effective interest rate method, which ensures that 
interest expense over the period to repayment is at a constant rate 
on the balance of the liability carried in the Statement of Financial 
Position.
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15. Derivative financial instruments
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge certain 
currency cash flow exposures nominated in NIS. The derivative in-
struments used by the Group consist mainly of call and put options 
as well as forward foreign exchange contracts.
Derivative financial instruments are recognized in the Statement 
of Financial Position at fair value. Changes in the fair value of 
derivative financial instruments are recognized as finance income 
(expense) in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. The Group 
does not comply with hedge accounting with requirements in 
accordance IAS 39.

16. Leases 
All of the Group’s leases are classified as operating leases. Rentals 
payable under operating leases are charged directly to profit or 
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. 
Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an 
operating lease are also spread on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term.

17. Provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions, which are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount, are 
recognized when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation 
as a result of past events, if it is probable that an outflow of funds 
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of 
the amount of the obligation can be made.
 Where the Group has a possible obligation as a result of a past 
event that may, but probably will not, result in an outflow of eco-
nomic benefits, no provision is made. Disclosures are made of the 
contingent liability (which its likelihood to succeed is not remote) 
including, where practicable, an estimate of the financial effect, un-
certainties relating to the amount or timing of outflow of resources, 
and the possibility of any reimbursement.
 Where time value is material, the amount of the related provision 
is calculated by discounting the cash flows at a pre-tax rate that 
reflects market assessments of the time value of money and any 
risks specific to the liability.

18. Employee benefits 
The Group employs personnel in Israel and Malta. The Group’s 
legal commitment for severance and pension payments to its Israeli 
subsidiary’s employees is partially fulfilled by monthly deposits with 
insurance policies and/or other funds in favor of the employees. 
 The Israeli subsidiary has adopted the general authorization in 
accordance with section 14 Severance Pay Law, 1963 (“Section 14”), 
according to which deposits to the pension funds and/or policies of 
insurance companies exempt the subsidiary from additional pay-
ments. However, the Group’s liabilities for severance pay, attributed 
to certain employees that are not subject to Section 14 are com-
puted on the basis of the employee’s most recent salary as at the 
balance sheet date, in accordance with the Severance Pay Law, and 
are partially covered by monthly deposits with insurance policies 
and/or other funds in favor of the employees and the remaining 
are accrued for in the financial statements. The latter arrangement 
is applicable also to the Israeli employees who work in a Maltese 
subsidiary in accordance with their employment agreements.
 As most of the Group’s employees are covered by Section 14 and 
due to immateriality, the Group does not use actuarial estimates 
and calculations for severance obligations. The Group accounts for 
such employees who are not subject to Section 14, by recording 
accruals on the full amounts assuming that all of these employees 
will be terminated as at the end of the reporting period (shut-down 
method). 

19. Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity and are stated at the value 
of the proceeds received net of related expenses.

20. Dividend distribution
Dividends are recorded in the Group’s financial statements in the 
period in which they are approved by the Group’s Board of Directors. 
Following the redomiciliation, the approval of the company’s share-
holders is required.

21. Share-based payments
Certain employees participate in the Group’s share option plan 
which commenced in 2008. The fair value of the options granted 
is charged to profit and loss over the vesting period of the options 
and the credit is taken to equity, based on the Group’s estimate of 
options that will eventually vest.  Fair value is determined by the 
Black Scholes valuation model. The share options plan does not 
have any performance conditions other than continued service. 
 Under the Group’s share option plan, certain employees were 
granted options which will become exercisable only upon con-
summation of Merger & Acquisition (“M&A”) or IPO transactions 
(“Non-Market Vesting Conditions”). The Group accounted for those 
options as follows:
 At the end of each reporting period, the Group considered the 
likelihood of fulfillment of the Non-Market Vesting Conditions, when 
estimating the number of options that would be vested, of those 
granted prior to June 30th 2014.   
 Effective July 1st 2014, the accounting for non-market vesting 
conditions was changed for grants made from that date; pursuant 
to which, the Group considered the likelihood of fulfillment of the 
Non-Market Vesting Conditions in evaluating the fair value of the 
options that were granted subsequent to June 30th 2014, and 
accordingly share based payments expenses were recorded.

22. Non-controlling interests
Non-controlling interest is recognized at the present ownership 
instruments’ proportionate share in the recognized amounts of the 
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The comprehensive income of 
non-wholly owned subsidiaries is attributed to the equity holders 
of the company and to the non-controlling interests in proportion 
to their relative ownership interests.

23. Fair value measurement 
The Group measures certain financial instruments, including de-
rivatives and option scheme expense, at fair value at each financial 
position date. Fair value is the price that would be received or paid 
in an orderly transaction between market participants at a par-
ticular date, either in the principal market for the asset or liability 
or, in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous 
market for that asset or liability accessible to the Group.  
 The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the 
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to mea-
sure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs 
and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs. 
 The fair value measurement hierarchy is based on the input 
to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The input is 
categorized into three levels, with the highest level (level 1) given 
to input for which there are unadjusted quoted prices in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities and the lowest level (level 
3) given to unobservable inputs.

24. Discontinued operations 
A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s business 
that represents a separate major line of business or geographical 
area of operations or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a 
view to resale, that has been disposed of, has been abandoned or 
that meets the criteria to be classified as held for sale.
 Discontinued operations are presented in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income as a single line. For further 
details see Note 25.

25. Earnings per share 
Basic earnings per share (“EPS”):
Basic EPS is calculated by dividing:
• the profit attributable to the equity holders of the company
•  by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 

during the financial year, adjusted for ordinary shares issued 
during the year.
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Diluted EPS:
Diluted EPS adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic 
earnings per share to take into account:
•  the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that 

would have been outstanding assuming the conversion of options 
takes place as expected.

•  the addition of the shares to be derived from realization must 
have a dilutive effect.

The company utilizes the retrospectively method for the calculation 
of basic and diluted earnings per share, following a split of its share 
capital.

26. New standards, interpretations  
and amendments not yet effective 
Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards 
which are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the 
Group:
a. International Financial Reporting Standard 15 “Revenues from  
Contracts with Customers” (hereinafter – “IFRS 15”).
IFRS 15 will replace, on its first implementation, the directives on 
the subject of recognizing revenues existing today under Interna-
tional Financial Reporting Standards.
 The core principle of IFRS 15 is that revenues from contracts with 
customers must be recognized in a way that reflects the transfer of 
control of goods or services supplied to customers in the framework 
of the contracts by amounts which reflect the proceeds that the entity 
expects that it will be entitled to receive for those goods or services.
 IFRS 15 sets forth a single model for recognizing revenues, ac-
cording to which the entity will recognize revenues according to the 
said core principle by implementing five stages:
1) Identifying the contract(s) with the customer.
2) Identifying the separate performance obligations in the contract.
3) Determining the transaction price.
4)  Allocating the transaction price to separate performance obliga-

tions in the contract.
5)  Recognizing revenues when (or as) each of the performance 

obligations is satisfied.

The Standard will be implemented retrospectively as of annual 
periods starting January 1st, 2018. 
 The Group will apply IFRS 15 as of the first quarter of 2018, in 
accordance with the transitional directive, which allows recognition 
of the cumulative effect of the initial application as an adjustment 
to the opening balance of equity of initial application.
 The Group analyzed the IFRS 15 implications and concluded that 
the impact of its adoption on its consolidated financial statements 
will be immaterial.

b. International Financial Reporting Standard 16 “Leases”  
(hereafter – “IFRS 16”).
IFRS 16, Leases, which replaces the current guidance in IAS 17. IFRS 
16 requires lessees, with certain exceptions, to recognize a lease 
liability reflecting future lease payments and a ‘right-of-use asset’ 
for lease contracts. The standard is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1st, 2019, with earlier application 
permitted if IFRS 15, Revenues from Contracts with Customer, are 
also applied. The Group is yet to assess IFRS 16’s full impact.

Both the above standards have been endorsed for use in the 
European Union. 

NOTE 3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND  
JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of consolidated financial statements under IFRS 
as adopted by the EU requires the Group to make estimates and 
judgements that affect the application of policies and reported 
amounts. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated 
and are based on historical experience and other factors including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these 
estimates.
 Included in this Note are accounting policies and/or estimates 
which cover areas that the Directors and Management consider 
require judgments and/or assumptions which have a significant risk 
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets 
and liabilities in the future. These policies together with references 
to the related Notes to the financial statements, which include fur-
ther commentary on the nature of the estimates and judgements 
made, can be found below:

Revenues:
The Group applies judgement in determining whether it is acting 
as a principal or an agent where it provides services to business 
partners through its business to business unit. In making these 
judgements the Group considers, by examining each contract with 
its business partners, which party has the primary responsibility 
for providing the services and is exposed to the majority of the 
risks and rewards associated with providing the services, as well as 
if it has latitude in establishing prices, either directly or indirectly. 
See also Note 2.5.

Funding transactions with a related group: 
The discounted cash flow of the anticipating repayments  in connec-
tion with the funding transactions with a related group determined 
in 2015 and 2017, the relating reserve with respect to funding trans-
actions with a related group recorded then and the relating interest 
income recorded since 2015 were based on discounted cash flow of 
the anticipating repayments by an annual market interest rate valued 
by a reputable appraiser.  

Capitalization of development costs:
Costs relating to internally generated intangible assets, are capi-
talized if the criteria for recognition as assets are met. The initial 
capitalization of costs is based on Management’s judgment that 
technological and economic feasibility criteria are met. In making 
this judgment, Management considers the progress made in each 
development project and its latest forecasts for each project. For 
further details see Notes 2.11 and 14.  

Contingent liabilities and regulatory matters: 
The Group makes a number of judgements with respect to the 
accounting for contingent liabilities relating to regulatory matters. 
For further details see Notes 2.17 and 24.
  
Income taxes:
The Group operates substantially in three countries. The applicabil-
ity of corporate income taxes of the three jurisdictions and/or the 
allocation of the Group’s taxable income to the three jurisdictions, 
are subject to Management’s assessments and judgments, upon 
consultations with the Group tax advisors. For further details see 
Notes 2.8 and 8. 

Valuation and impairment charge with respect  
to Neolotto Limited (“Neolotto”): 
On April 2nd 2015, Neolotto issued shares to a third party in consid-
eration for €5 million based on pre-money company valuation of €15 
million. On September 4th 2015, Neolotto issued shares to the third 
party in consideration of €3 million, based on pre-money company 
valuation of €19.4 million, out of which €11 thousand was paid in 
cash and the remainder in future media services to be provided to 
the Neolotto group by the investor. Due to difficulties of Neolotto to 
achieve its business plan, Management did not anticipate positive 
cash flows from Neolotto, and therefore the investment and the loan 
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granted to Neolotto were fully impaired on December 31st 2015.
During November 2016, Neolotto issued shares in consideration 
for €600 thousand to the company (€292 thousand), to Neolotto 
employees (€88 thousand) which was funded by the company and 
to a third party (€220 thousand). As a result, the company recorded 
an investment totaled to €380 thousand within its non-current 
assets, reflecting the then fair value of the investment, valued by a 
reputable appraiser.  
 During 2017 Neolotto raised additional amounts. For further 
details see Notes 2.9 and 12.

Share based payments/compensation:
The relating compensation expenses of stock options vested over 
service periods, but exercisable only upon consummation of M&A 
or IPO transactions, granted to employees prior to June 30th 2014, 
should have been recorded in periods when the likelihood of such 
transactions to be fulfilled is probable, such likelihood has material-
ized in 2017, see Notes 2.22 above, 1 and 9 for further details. 
 The relating compensation expenses of stock options, vested 
over service periods, exercisable only upon consummation of M&A 
or IPO transactions, granted to employees after June 30th 2014, 
were recorded based on the fair values of the options, considering 
the Black-Scholes model assumptions as well as the likelihood of 
the fulfillment of such transactions at the respective grant dates. 
For further details see Note 2.22 above and Note 9.     

NOTE 4 DEFINITIONS

EBITDA (Earnings before 
interest, taxes, deprecia-
tion and amortization)

Profit before financial income/expense, 
income taxes, depreciation and amor-
tization.

Average number of  
employees

number of employees expressed as  
full-time equivalent (full year’s work)

B2B Business to Business

B2C Business to Customer

NOTE 5 SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segmental results are reported in a manner consistent with the in-
ternal reporting provided to Management. The operating segments 
identified are:
• B2B
• B2C
Until September 30th, 2017, management assesses the perfor-
mance of operating segments based on revenues and segment 
results. Segment results contain revenues net of royalties and 
acquisitions expenses for the B2B and B2C segments, respectively. 
 In connection with the preparation of 2018 business plan during 
the three-month period ended December 31st 2017 and in order 
to enhance management’s view of each of the segments as an 
independent business unit, inter-segments charges with respect to 
the platform related services (B2B to B2C) and expenses allocation 
have been applied and analyzed.
 The elimination column includes inter-segment adjustments for 
B2B revenues and B2C expenses from platform related services 
to conform to the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive 
Income. The comparable information was re-classified accordingly.

For the year ended Dec 31st 2017

€000 B2B B2C
Elimi-

nation Total
Revenues (including EU VAT) 37,095 34,828 – 71,923
Revenues (inter-segment) 5,224 – –5,224 –
EU VAT –250 –898 – –1,148
Net revenues 42,069 33,930 –5,224 70,775
Expenses –34,189 –27,548 5,224 –56,513
EBITDA 7,880 6,382 – 14,262

Unallocated expenses:
Amortization and  
depreciation –1,228
Operating income 13,034
Interest income and 
foreign currency exchange 
differences with respect to 
funding to a related group 504
Finance income  177
Finance expenses –685
Income before income taxes 13,030

For the year ended Dec 31st 2016

€000 B2B B2C
Elimi-

nation Total
Revenues (including EU VAT) 30,008 31,010 – 61,018
Revenues (inter-segment) 4,652 – –4,652 –
EU VAT –298 –546 – –844
Net revenues 34,362 30,464 –4,652 60,174
Expenses –27,193 –26,239 4,652 –48,780
EBITDA 7,169 4,225 – 11,394

Unallocated expenses:
Amortization and  
depreciation –837
Operating income 10,557
Interest income and 
foreign currency exchange 
differences with respect to 
funding to a related group 2,750
Finance income  184
Finance expenses –1,240
Income before income taxes 12,251

NOTE 6 ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

For the year ended Dec 31st 
€000 2017 2016
Staff expenses 6,805 6,237
Employee stock option scheme  
expenses 309 81
Research and development services 
from a related group (see Note 21C) 408 618
Legal and accounting 600 453
Rent and maintenance 826 602
Professional services 455 308
Other operating expenses 1,215 1,046

10,618 9,345
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NOTE 7 FINANCE INCOME AND EXPENSES 

For the year ended Dec 31st 
€000 2017 2016
A. Finance income:
Financing income on derivative  
financial instruments 58 70
Bank interest received and other 119 114

177 184
B. Finance expenses:
Currency exchange rate differences  –503 –1,070
Bank charges –74 –56
Other –108 –114

–685 –1,240
Net finance expenses –508 –1,056

NOTE 8 INCOME TAXES 

For the year ended Dec 31st 
€000 2017 2016
Income taxes:
Current income taxes 705 740
Income taxes with respect to  
previous years 107 –49
Deferred taxes –32 9
Total 780 700

The total charge for the year can be reconciled to accounting profit 
as follows:

For the year ended Dec 31st 
€000 2017 2016
Income before income taxes 13,030 12,251
Income taxes at effective tax  
rate in Gibraltar (0%) – –
Different tax rates applied in  
overseas jurisdictions 780 700
Total 780 700

The corporate tax liabilities in various tax jurisdictions are recorded 
in the Corporation Tax Payable balance on the Consolidated State-
ment of Financial Position.

Gibraltar:
The company was tax registered in Gibraltar until May 9th 2017. In 
Gibraltar, the Group benefited from the exempt company regime. 
From January 1st 2011 onwards, the Group was subject to the 
Gibraltar corporation tax at 10% on profits derived from activities 
carried out in Gibraltar. The Group subsidiaries are located in 
different tax jurisdictions and are taxed on their operating profit for 
local taxation purposes.

Malta:
The company commencing May 9th 2017 and its subsidiaries in 
Malta are subject to corporate tax rate in Malta of 35%, however 
according to Maltese tax regime certain portion of the Maltese 

tax payable amounts is refundable upon meeting certain criteria 
defined under the Maltese tax ordinance inter alia of dividend dis-
tributions. Receivable tax amounts are recorded in the Corporation 
Tax receivable balance on the Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position.

Israel:
The subsidiaries in Israel are subject to corporate tax rates in Israel of 
26.5% in 2015, 25% in 2016, 24% in 2017 and 23% in 2018 thereafter. 

NOTE 9 STAFF COSTS AND BENEFITS 

Total staff costs comprise the following:

For the year ended Dec 31st 
€000 2017 2016
Salaries and wages 5,422 5,204
Employer social contributions 1,383 1,033
Share based compensation 309 81
 7,114 6,318

Average number of employees 2017 2016
Acquisition, sales and marketing 38 43
Operations 77 79
Research and development* 12 10
Management and general 18 18
 145 150

*  Commencing 2015, the Group has partially outsourced its  
research and development activities.

The Group has an employee share option plan (“ESOP”) for granting 
to certain employees of non-transferable options to be exercised 
to the company’s shares, upon satisfaction of their vesting, exercise 
and lock-up (IPO) terms. 

The following tables present the required information with respect 
to the ESOP:

2017
Number  

of options

Weighted  
average 
exercise 

price
Outstanding at the beginning of the year 2,320,000 €0.50
Granted during the year 550,500 €1.88
Forfeited –15,000 €2.13
Outstanding at the end of the year 2,855,500 €0.76
Exercisable 538,300 €0.50

2016
Number  

of options

Weighted  
average 
exercise 

price
Outstanding at the beginning of the year 2,476,800 €0.50
Granted during the year – €0.50
Forfeited –156,800 €0.50
Outstanding at the end of the year 2,320,000 €0.50
Exercisable 257,600 €0.50
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Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the following exercise prices and periods:

Number
Grant date Expiry date Exercise price Dec 31st 2017 Dec 31st 2016
April 3rd 2008 April 3rd 2018 €0.50 128,400 132,400
August 17th 2008 August 17th 2018 €0.50 4,000 4,000
April 1st 2009 April 1st 2019 €0.50 24,000 24,000
April 1st 2010 April 1st 2020 €0.50 7,200 7,200
August 23rd 2010 August 23rd 2020 €0.50 60,000 60,000
January 28th 2011 January 28th 2021 €0.50 24,000 24,000
August 8th 2011 August 8th 2021 €0.50 6,000 6,000
November 3rd 2011 November 3rd 2021 €0.50 750,400 750,400
December 19th 2012 December 19th 2022 €0.50 84,000 84,000
February 7th 2014 February 7th 2024 €0.50 300,000 300,000
July 7th 2014 July 7th 2024 €0.50 52,000 52,000
October 7th 2014 October 30th 2024 €0.50 112,000 112,000
November 19th 2015 November 19th 2025 €0.50 760,000 764,000
February 28th 2017 February 28th 2027 €0.50 264,000 –
June 21st 2017 June 21st 2022 €2.46 80,000 –
July 31st 2017 July 31st 2022 €2.51 80,000 –
August 29st 2017 August 29th 2022 €3.99 119,500 –
Outstanding at the end of the year 2,855,500 2,320,000

NOTE 11 EARNINGS PER SHARE   

€000, except per share data  
and number of shares

For the year  
ended Dec 31st
2017 2016

Basic and Diluted earnings per share:
Net income from continuing  
operations attributable to the  
equity holders of the company 9,788 11,552
Weighted average number of  
ordinary shares issued* 42,956,690 41,994,320
Dilutive effect of share options* 2,188,050 661,938
Weighted average number of dilutive 
ordinary shares* 45,144,740 42,656,258

Basic earnings per share (€) 0.23 0.28
Diluted earnings per share (€) 0.22 0.28

€000, except per share data  
and number of shares

For the year  
ended Dec 31st
2017 2016

Basic and Diluted earnings per share:
Net income attributable to the  
equity holders of the company 11,097 15,145
Weighted average number of  
ordinary shares issued* 42,956,690 41,994,320
Dilutive effect of share options* 2,188,050 661,938
Weighted average number of  
dilutive ordinary shares* 45,144,740 42,656,258

Basic earnings per share (€) 0.26 0.36
Diluted earnings per share (€) 0.25 0.36

*  On May 23rd 2017, the company completed a 4:1 share split of its share capital 
and issued 31,495,740 new ordinary shares, which was applied retrospectively for 
the calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share.

On May 23rd 2017, the company completed a 4:1 share split of 
its share capital, the number of options, exercise price and the 
exercise price presented in the tables above assume such split 
retrospectively.
 On February 28th 2017, the company granted to certain employ-
ees 264,000 options to purchase its shares, such options shall vest 
over a three-year period – 33% at the end of each year. 
 On June 21st 2017 and on July 31st 2017, the company granted 
80,000 options at each date to two of the company’s board mem-
bers, such options shall vest over a three-year period – 33% at the 
end of each year.
 On August 29th 2017, the company granted all its employees who 
completed a minimum of certain number of months of service, based 
on seniority 126,500 options to purchase its shares, such options shall 
vest over a three-year period – 33% at the end of each year. 7,000 
options out of this grant were forfeited prior to December 31st 2017.
 The Group recorded €309 thousand and €81 thousand employ-
ee stock option scheme expenses during the years ended Decem-
ber 31st 2017 and 2016 respectively.
 The fair value of those granted options was calculated based 
on the Black-Scholes model, utilizing the following assumptions: 
Stock price €3.36-4.21, Expected term 3.5-6.5 years, Volatility 45%, 
Dividend yield 17% and risk free rate -0.5%-1.98%. The fair value of 
the options estimated at € 0.26-0.80 per option.

NOTE 10 AUDITOR FEES AND EXPENSES  

BDO Limited is the selected auditor of the Group. The following 
remuneration is a summary of the audit and related fees recorded 
during 2017 and 2016 as part of the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income:

For the year ended Dec 31st
€000 2017 2016
Audit fees 105 77
Related fees 30 20
 135 97
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NOTE 12 INVESTMENT AND LOANS – ASSOCIATED COMPANIES   

A.  During November 2016, Neolotto issued shares in consideration 
of €600 thousand to the company (€292 thousand), to Neolotto 
employees (€88 thousand) which was funded by the company and 
to a third party (€220 thousand). As a result, the company record-
ed an investment totaled to €380 thousand within its non-current 
assets and its interest in Neolotto had increased to 37.6%.  
 On May 17th 2017, Neolotto Limited, an associated compa-
ny (“Neolotto”) raised €300 thousand one year loans from its 
shareholders; of which the company lent €200 thousand and the 
remainder was lent by another shareholder (“ASH”). Such loans 
shall bear an interest at a rate of 6% per annum. The loans and 
the interest shall be early repaid on an IPO or M&A transactions 
as defined in the agreement. On July 31st 2017, Neolotto raised 
an additional €500 thousand of which the company lent €250 
thousand and the remainder was lent by ASH under the same 
terms above. On 20 September 2017, in order to pursue business 
opportunities, a convertible loan agreement (“CLA”) was signed 
between the company, ASH (“Lenders”) and Neolotto. Based on 
that agreement, both lent Neolotto €500 thousand each on 30 
August 2017 and the remainder, €1,750 thousand each during 
October 2017. The loans amounts, together with the previous 
loans amounts described above and the accrued interest, will 
be repaid by December 31st 2018. The loans bear an interest 
rate of 6% per annum and shall be converted to ordinary shares 
of Neolotto in accordance with the provisions of the CLA and at 
the discretion of the Lenders. In 2017, the Group recorded its 
share of Neolotto results aggregated to €2,410 thousand loss 
and accrued interest income of €46 thousand, both amounts are 
presented as part of the “Non-recurring expenses and company 
share in the results of associated companies and other related” 
within the “Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income”. 

B.  In February 2017, the company, through its wholly owned sub-
sidiary (the “Acquirer”), acquired 30% of the shares of Mino-
tauro Media Limited (“MML”) for a total consideration of €1,183 

thousand, of which €828 thousand and €355 thousand were 
paid on 3 February 2017 and June 30th 2017, respectively. MML 
is engaged in the business of marketing and promoting online 
gaming services via its domain names. The Acquirer was granted 
a call option for the remaining 70% of MML and the seller  was 
granted a put option, exercisable from August 2018 to June 2021, 
based on a multiple of 6 times of the exit EBITDA of MML capped 
at €12.6 million, as described in the shareholders’ agreement. 
Such options are considered financial derivative instruments and 
are measured and presented at fair value based on a valuation 
which considered as a level 3 category of the fair value hierarchy 
and conducted by a reputable appraiser, pursuant to which, 
the call and put options were valued as €371 thousand and €33 
thousand, respectively as at the transaction date and included 
as part of the Investments and loans - associated companies in 
the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. The allocated 
cost to the acquired shares was valued at €845 thousand by the 
reputable appraiser. In 2017 the Group recorded its share of 
MML results aggregated to €44 thousand loss, such amount is 
presented as part of the “Non-recurring expenses and company 
share in the results of associated companies and other related” 
within the “Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income”.

C.  On November 20th, 2017, the company’s board of directors 
approved an investment in a company that launched Mr. Play, 
a new casino and sports betting brand. The company is will 
providing the technology and is a significant shareholder in the 
venture, holding 40% of its shares, along with various investors. 
The shareholders will fund the new company up to €4 million, 
of which, the company will invest up to €2 million, based on 
business milestones. As at December 31st 2017 the Group had 
invested €84 thousand which were included as part of the In-
vestments and loans - associated companies in the Consolidated 
Statement of Financial Position.

NOTE 13 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

€000 Computers

Office
furniture and

equipment
Motor

vehicles

Leasehold  
improve- 

ments Total
Cost – As at Jan 1st 2017 1,362 462 32 1,351 3,207
Additions 341 80 32 122 575
Disposal –1 –125 –20 – –146
As at Dec 31st 2017 1,702 417 44 1,473 3,636

Accumulated depreciation – As at 1 Jan 2017 1,216 179 15 663 2,073
Additions 155 36 4 144 339
Disposal – –86 –3 – –89
As at Dec 31st 2017 1,371 129 16 807 2,323
Net Book Value – As at Dec 31st 2017 331 288 28 666 1,313

€000 Computers

Office
furniture and

equipment
Motor

vehicles

Leasehold  
improve- 

ments Total
Cost – As at Jan 1st 2016 1,253 460 27 1,324 3,064
Additions 109 2 5 27 143
As at Dec 31st 2016 1,362 462 32 1,351 3,207

Accumulated depreciation – As at 1 Jan 2016 1,099 147 14 517 1,777
Additions 117 32 1 146 296
As at Dec 31st 2016 1,216 179 15 663 2,073
Net Book Value – As at Dec 31st 2016 146 283 17 688 1,134
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NOTE 14 INTANGIBLE ASSETS   

Gaming 
licenses

Capitalized 
development 

costs Total
Cost – As at Jan 1st 2017 765 2,895 3,660
Additions 151 2,916 3,067
As at Dec 31st 2017 916 5,811 6,727

Accumulated amortization –  
As at Jan 1st 2017 549 339 888
Additions 202 687 889
As at Dec 31st 2017 751 1,026 1,777
Net Book Value –  
As at Dec 31st 2017 165 4,785 4,950

Gaming 
licenses

Capitalized 
development 

costs Total
Cost – As at Jan 1st 2016 578 815 1,393 
Additions 187 2,080 2,267
As at Dec 31st 2016 765 2,895 3,660

Accumulated amortization –  
As at Jan 1st 2016  294 53  347 
Additions 255 286 541
As at Dec 31st 2016 549 339 888
Net Book Value –  
As at Dec 31st 2016 216 2,556 2,772

NOTE 15 TRADE RECEIVABLES 

As at Dec 31st
€000 2017 2016
Payment processors receivables 9,149 4,749
Trade receivables 426 317

9,575 5,066

The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade receiv-
ables approximates to their fair values, which is based on estima-
tion of amounts recoverable.

NOTE 16 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

As at Dec 31st
€000 2017 2016
Cash at bank 10,557 10,201
Funds attributed to players deposits reserves 2,855 2,059

13,412 12,260

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents are invested in short term 
daily deposits denominated mainly in Euros with major interna-
tional banks.
 Funds attributed to players represent cash balances used mainly 
as security deposits to cover future players payment commitments.

NOTE 17 SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

As at Dec 31st
2017 2016

Share Capital Number of shares
Share capital is comprised of shares  
at £0.0025 par value as follows:
Authorized 4,000,000,000 4,000,000,000
Issued 44,094,036 41,994,320
Fully paid 44,094,036 41,994,320

On May 23rd 2017, the company completed a 4:1 share split of 
its share capital and issued 31,495,740 new ordinary shares. The 
December 31st 2016 figures presented above assume such split 
retrospectively.
 On December 28th 2015, the company’s Board of Directors 
declared a dividend of €6.5 million to the company shareholders 
which was paid in January 2016.
 On April 6th 2016, the company’s Board of Directors declared a 
dividend of €5 million to the company shareholders which was paid 
in April and May 2016.
 On January 23rd 2017, the company’s Board of Directors de-
clared a dividend of €6 million to the company shareholders which 
was paid in February 2017.
 On May 18th 2017, the company’s Board of Directors declared a 
dividend of €6 million to the company shareholders which was paid 
in June 2017.

Reserves
The following describes the nature and purpose of each reserve 
within the company equity:

Reserve Description and purpose

Retained earnings: Cumulative net gains and losses recognized 
in the consolidated Statement of Compre-
hensive Income net of dividend declared.

Share-based  
payments:

Share based payments reserve represents 
the accumulated expenses recognized 
with respect to the outstanding share 
options at the end of the year.

Non-controlling  
interests:

Interests of other shareholders in certain 
subsidiaries.

Reserve with respect  
to funding transactions 
with a related group:

See Note 21B.

NOTE 18 CLIENT LIABILITIES 

Client liabilities represent amounts due to customers including net 
deposits received, undrawn winnings and certain promotional bo-
nuses. The carrying amount of the client liabilities approximate to 
their fair value which is based on the net present value of expected 
future cash flows.

62 ASPIRE GLOBAL ANNUAL REPORT 2017

FINANCIAL NOTES



NOTE 19 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

As at Dec 31st
€000 2017 2016
Accrued expenses 5,035 2,542
Royalty payables 2,010 1,350
Trade payable 1,402 1,129
Employees payable 1,031 618
Value added tax 519 445
Other payables 1,508 756

11,505 6,840

The carrying amount of trade and other payables approximates 
their fair value which is based on the net present value of expected 
future cash flows.

NOTE 20 OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 

The total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable 
operating lease agreements are analyzed below:

As at Dec 31st
€000 2017 2016
Within one year, see A below 1,332 1,222
Later than one year but not later than  
five years, see A below 3,914 3,276

5,246 4,498

All operating lease commitments relate to buildings and operating 
car lease arrangements. Here are the current lease arrangements:
A.  In September 2011, the Israeli subsidiary entered into a lease 

agreement for office space. The agreement commenced in 
January 2012 for a period of 60 months with an option to renew 
for an additional 57 months. The annual lease payment (NIS de-
nominated) is approximately €752 thousand and is linked to the 
Israeli consumer price index (“ICPI”) such annual payment should 
increase by 6% during the option period. In September 2016 
the subsidiary realized such option. Commencing April 2015, all 
expenses related to the above lease agreement are charged to a 
related group which is the user of this office space.  

B.  In February 2015, the Israeli subsidiary entered into a new lease 
agreement for office space for a term of 34 months with an 
annual lease payment (NIS denominated) of approximately €296 
thousand linked to the ICPI.  

C.  On May 8th 2017, the Israeli subsidiary entered into a lease 
agreement for an office space. The agreement commenced in 
September 2017 for a period of 60 months with a 60 months 
renewal option. The annual lease payment and related expenses 
(NIS denominated) are approximately €401 thousand and are 
linked to the ICPI, such annual payment should increase by 5% 
during the option period.

D.  In October 2009, a Maltese subsidiary entered into a lease 
agreement for office space. The agreement commenced in May 
2010 for a period of 44 months with an option to extend the 
lease period for additional four fixed periods of one year each, 
those options were realized by the subsidiary. In December 2015 
the subsidiary signed an extension notice for an additional year, 
all together up to December 31st 2018. The 2017 annual rent was 
approximately €175 thousand.  

NOTE 21 RELATED PARTIES  

A.  Barak Matalon, Pinhas Zahavi, Eli Azur and Aharon Aran are the 
Principal Shareholders of the Group. During the periods, the 
Principal Shareholders, and corporate entities controlled by the 
Principal Shareholders, did not receive any remuneration in the 
form of salary, bonuses or consulting fees except for one of them 
who has been engaged as a consultant. The consulting fees for 
the years ended December 31st 2017 and 2016 amounted to 
€133 thousand and €128 thousand, respectively.

B.  On April 30th 2014 (“Effective Date”), the Group transferred to 
a related group all the assets related to the iLottery business, 
valued at €6,130 thousand which was estimated during 2015 
based on a valuation performed by a reputable appraiser. The 
consideration was determined on April 24th 2015 in a way of 5 
years (counted from the Effective Date) two capital notes linked 
to the exchange rate of the U.S. dollar and bearing an annual 
interest of 1% to be paid quarterly, commencing as at the second 
anniversary of the Effective Date. The terms of the capital notes 
were below fair market value for such a financial asset. There-
fore, the €3,916 thousand difference of the discounted cash flow 
to be generated from the capital notes based on a market annual 
interest rate of 20% (“Market Interest Rate”), determined by a val-
uation performed by a reputable appraiser amounted to €3,945 
thousand (“Fair Value of the Capital Notes”), and their face value, 
was recorded directly into the statement of changes in equity in 
2015 under “Reserve with respect to funding transactions with 
a related group” as “Benefit to the company equity holders with 
respect to funding transactions”. Since that date, interest income 
has been recorded based on the Market Interest Rate on the Fair 
Value of the Capital Notes.  
 Additionally, during the first 7 months of 2015 and the year 
2014, the Group granted the related group on demand funding 
with no specified terms, aggregated to €7,997 thousand and 
€3,968 thousand, respectively. On April 24th 2015, it was agreed 
that the above mentioned outstanding amounts as at that date 
and any further funding, would be repaid back to the Group in 
2019, would be linked to the exchange rate of the U.S. dollar 
and bear 1% annual interest to be paid then, which was below 
market terms for such financial assets. Therefore, the difference 
of €5,800 thousand of the discounted cash flows to be generated 
from the loans based on the Market Annual Interest amounted 
to €6,431 thousand in 2015 (“Fair Value of the Loans”), and their 
face value, were recorded directly into the statement of changes 
in equity under “Reserve with respect to funding transactions 
with a related group” as “Benefit to the company equity holders 
with respect to funding transactions”. Since that date, interest 
income has been recorded based on the Market Interest Rate on 
the Fair Value of the Loans.  
 On May 18th 2017, an agreement was reached between the 
company and the related group, pursuant to which, the payment 
terms were changed so that the outstanding amounts men-
tioned above will be repaid in 2018 or 2020 in the case of the 
exercise of call option by a shareholder of the related group and 
if not, in 2022. The new terms are below market terms for such 
financial assets, therefore the difference of €5,655 thousand of 
the discounted cash flows to be generated from the outstanding 
amounts based on the Market Annual Interest amounted to 
€8,651 thousand (“Fair Value of the Outstanding Amounts”), and 
their face value were recorded in the year ended 31 December 
2017 directly into the statement of changes in equity under 
“Reserve with respect to funding transactions with a related 
group” as “Benefit to the company equity holders with respect 
to funding transaction”. From that date, interest income should 
has been recorded based on the Market Interest Rate on the Fair 
Value of the Outstanding Amounts.

C.  Other transactions: 
In 2017, the Group consumed development services from a relat-
ed group aggregated to €2,619 thousand which were capitalized 
as an intangible asset. Additionally, the Group consumed research 
and development services from the related group aggregated to 
€408 thousand which were recorded as research and develop-
ment services from a related group within administrative expens-
es. Furthermore, the Group was entitled for a reimbursement of 
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certain administrative expenses and rent and related aggregated 
to €304 thousand and €1,340 thousand, respectively which were 
recorded as a deduction of the staff expenses and rent and main-
tenance within administrative expenses, respectively. 
  In 2016, the Group consumed development services from a re-
lated group aggregated to €2,080 thousand which were capitalized 
as an intangible asset. Additionally, the Group consumed research 
and development services from the related group aggregated to 
€618 thousand which were recorded as research and development 
services from a related group within administrative expenses. Fur-
thermore, the Group was entitled for a reimbursement of certain 
administrative expenses and rent and related aggregated to €293 
thousand and €1,072 thousand, respectively which were recorded 
as a deduction of the staff expenses and rent and maintenance 
within administrative expenses, respectively.

NOTE 22 SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES  

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries and associates as at the end of 
the years 2017 and 2016 are set out below. For further details on  
Neolotto, MML and Market Play, see Note 12 above:

Name

Country 
of incor-
poration

Proportion 
of voting 
rights and 
ordinary 
share capi-
tal held

Nature of  
business

Aspire Global  
International 
Limited  

Malta 100% Maltese-licensed B2C 
trading company 

AG Software 
Ltd

Malta 100% Maltese-licensed B2B 
trading company

Aspire Global 
Marketing 
Solutions Ltd 

Israel 100% Provides certain market-
ing and customer support 
service to Aspire Global 
Limited

AG Com -
munications  
Limited

Malta 100% B2C trading company 
holding licenses in Italy 
and Denmark

Utopia 
Management 
Group Ltd

British  
Virgin 
Islands

100% Provides certain mar-
keting and acquisition 
services 

ASG Techno-
logies Ltd

British  
Virgin 
Islands

100% Acts as a nominee with 
respect to the registration 
of certain domains owned 
by the Group

Novogoma  
Ltd

Malta 83% Social online gaming  
trading company

Novogoma 
Technologies 
Ltd

Israel 83% Designs and develops 
social online gaming  
software platform

Neolotto Ltd Malta 37.6% Online lottery tickets 
reseller focused on the 
German market

Minotauro  
Media  
Limited

Ireland 30% engaged in the business 
of marketing and promot-
ing online gaming services 
via its domain names

Market  
play Ltd

Malta 40% engaged in the business 
of marketing and promot-
ing online gaming services 
via its domain names

All the Subsidiaries are wholly held by the company, except for the fol-
lowing: Novogoma Technologies Ltd which is held by Novogoma Ltd and 
Minotauro Media Limited which is held by AG Communications Limited.

NOTE 23 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND  
RISK MANAGEMENT  

The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks, which result 
from its financing, operating and investing activities. The objective 
of financial risk management is to minimize exposures in these 
financial risks and to mitigate a negative impact on the Group’s 
financial performance and position. The Group’s financial instru-
ments are:
• Capital notes, loans and accrued interest due from related group
• Trade receivables
• Other receivables 
• Cash and cash equivalents
• Restricted cash
• Loans with respect to leasehold improvements
• Client liabilities
• Trade and other payables

As at Dec 31st
€000 2017 2016
Financial assets:
Capital notes, loans and accrued  
interest due from  
related group 9,001 14,152
Trade receivables 9,575  5,066
Other receivables 1,215 378
Cash and cash equivalents 13,412 12,260
Restricted cash 854 1,523
Total 34,057 33,379

Financial liabilities:
Loans with respect to leasehold  
improvements 438 566
Client liabilities 3,515 3,016
Trade and other payables 11,505 6,840
Total 15,458 10,422

Capital
The capital employed by the Group is substantively composed of 
equity attributable the equity holders of the company. The primary 
objective of the Group is maximizing shareholders’ value, which, 
from the capital perspective, is achieved by maintaining the capital 
structure most suited to the Group’s size, strategy, and underlying 
business risk.
 The risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are 
mainly credit risk, currency risk and liquidity risk. The risk manage-
ment policies employed by the Group to manage these risks are 
discussed below.
 
a. Credit risk
Credit risk arises when a failure by counterparties to discharge their 
obligations could reduce the amount of future cash inflows from 
financial assets on hand at the end of the reporting year.
 The Group closely monitors the activities of its counterparties 
enabling it to ensure the prompt collection of processor and 
customer balances. Furthermore, the company engages only with 
reputable payment service providers. These are third party compa-
nies that facilitate deposits and withdrawals of funds to and from 
customers. These are mainly intermediaries that transact on behalf 
of the main credit card companies. 
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b. Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the value of financial assets or liabili-
ties will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. 
 Foreign exchange risk also arises when Group operations are 
entered into in currencies denominated in a currency other than 
the functional currency. 
 Transaction exposures: The Group’s policy is that all material 
transaction currency exposures are economically hedged using 
foreign exchange contracts and/or by holding cash in the relevant 
currency. Additionally, the Group has discretion to hedge some or 
all of its forecast operational costs in Israel up to 12 months. Cur-
rency exposures are monitored by the Group on a monthly basis. 

Sensitivity analysis to currency and interest rate risk
The Group has not presented a sensitivity analysis for the impact 
on its statement of comprehensive income of potential movements 
in interest rates, as in the opinion of the directors, the change in 
the fair value of its financial assets or liabilities would be negligible. 
 Any change in the currency exchange rates will cause a respec-
tive change on the relating asset or liability and accordingly will 
affect the statement of comprehensive income.
 The tables below lists the monetary assets and liabilities by 
currency:

As at Dec 31st 2017
€000 EUR GBP USD NIS Others Total
Assets:
Capital notes, loans and accrued interest due  
from a related group

– – 9,001 – – 9,001

Trade receivables 7,081 772 39 3 1,680 9,575
Other receivables 626 24 31 534 – 1,215
Cash and cash equivalents 8,006 2,653 28 67 2,658 13,412
Restricted cash 269 – – 585 – 854
Monetary assets 15,982 3,449 9,099 1,189 4,338 34,057

Liabilities:
Loans with respect to leasehold improvements – – – 438 – 438
Client liabilities 1,715 1,186 204 – 410 3,515
Trade and other payables 9,433 18 38 1,438 578 11,505
Monetary liabilities 11,148 1,204 242 1,876 988 15,458

As at Dec 31st 2016
€000 EUR GBP USD NIS Others Total
Assets:
Capital notes, loans and accrued interest due  
from a related group

– – 14,152 – – 14,152

Trade receivables 3,305 607 36 – 1,118  5,066
Other receivables 273 24 16 64 1 378
Cash and cash equivalents 6,910 2,319 31 68 2,932 12,260
Restricted cash 890 80 – 553 – 1,523
Monetary assets 11,378 3,030 14,235 685 4,051 33,379

Liabilities:
Loans with respect to leasehold improvements – – – 566 – 566
Client liabilities 875 1,141 207 – 793 3,016
Trade and other payables 5,905 39 33 724 139 6,840
Monetary liabilities 6,780 1,180 240 1,290 932 10,422

c. Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk exists where the Group might encounter difficulties in meeting its financial obligations as they become due. The Group moni-
tors its liquidity in order to ensure that sufficient liquid resources are available to allow it to meet its obligations.
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The following table details the contractual maturity analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities:

As at Dec 31st 2017

On demand In 3 months
Between 3 months 

and 1 year
More than  

1 year Total
€000

Loans with respect to leasehold improvements - - - 438 438
Client liabilities 3,515 - - - 3,515
Trade and other payables - 10,231 1,274 - 11,505
Total 3,515 10,231 1,274 438 15,458

As at Dec 31st 2016

On demand In 3 months
Between 3 months 

and 1 year
More than  

1 year Total
€000

Loans with respect to leasehold improvements - - - 566 566
Client liabilities 3,016 - - - 3,016
Trade and other payables - 6,089 751 - 6,840
Total 3,016 6,089 751 566 10,422

NOTE 24 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES   

A.  The Group is a gaming operator and provides gaming services to 
players. As part of Management’s ongoing regulatory compliance 
process, Management continues to monitor legal and regulatory 
developments and their potential impact on the Group’s oper-
ations. Given the changing nature of the legal and regulatory 
landscape of the online gaming industry, the Group from time 
to time has been challenged by certain regulatory authorities in 
respect of its activities in certain jurisdictions.

B.  During 2013, Aspire Global International Limited, a subsidiary, 
was issued a fine in the amount of €300 thousand by a European 
Court. The subsidiary appealed the ruling, and a hearing of its 
appeal was held before the appellate court on January 13th 2017, 
acquitting the subsidiary. As a result, during 2017, the Group re-
versed the €300 thousand accrual recorded in 2013. In addition, 
due to the change in the regulatory environment in connection 
with the Group’s business in the specific European country, the 
Group ceased its operations there in May 2017, see also Note 25 
for additional information. 

NOTE 25 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS   

In May 2017, the Group ceased major operations in a European 
country due to a change in the regulatory environment as it affect-
ed the Group’s business there. As a result, the Group presented 
the results of its operations there as a “Profit on discontinued oper-
ations, net of tax” within the “Consolidated Statements of Compre-
hensive Income”. The profit on discontinued operations, net of tax 
approximates the net cash generated from operating activities and 
there were no cash flows from investing or financing relating to the 
discontinued operations.

For the year ended Dec 31st
€000, except per share data 2017 2016
Revenues 1,567 5,510
Distribution expenses –394 –1,407
Administrative income (expenses) 205 –321

–189 –1,728

EBITDA and income before  
income taxes 1,378 3,782
Income taxes –69 –189
Net income 1,309 3,593

Earnings per share attributable to the 
equity holders of the company (€):
Basic 0.03 0.08
Diluted 0.03 0.08
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NOTE 26 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS   

A.  On February 7th 2018, certain employees were granted options 
to purchase 441,750 shares, in line with the company’s 2017 
share option scheme. The exercise price was set to the share 
price on the grant day. During Q1 2018, options for 116,000 
shares were exercised, based on an option scheme from 2007.  

B.  On February 7th 2018, the Board of Directors proposed a 
dividend to the company’s shareholders on behalf of the 2017 
financial year results in the amount of approximately €3.8 million 
equivalent to SEK0.85 per share.  The dividend is subject to the 
shareholders’ approval.

C.  On April 3rd 2018, the company issued €27.5 million three year 
senior secured bonds under an €80 million framework. The 
bond carries a floating interest rate of Euribor 3m plus 7% and 
an Euribor floor of zero. The company intends to apply to have 
the bonds listed on the Nasdaq Stockholm. Additional terms 
and covenants are specified in the terms and conditions for 
the bond.
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ASSURANCE BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

ASSURANCE BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The undersigned certify that the consolidated financial 
statements and the annual report have been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Stan-
dards, IFRS, as adopted by the EU, and with generally 
accepted accounting principles, and give a true and fair view 
of the financial position and results of the Group and that 

the Director’s Report for the Group provide a fair overview 
of the development of the Group’s operations, financial po-
sition and results, as well as a fair description of significant 
risks and uncertainties faced by the companies included in 
the Group. 

Stockholm, April 9th 2018

Carl Klingberg  
Chairman of the board 

 Fredrik Burvall  Tsachi (Isaac) Maimon 
 Board member Board member  

 Barak Matalon  Pinhas Zahavi 
 Board member Board member  

The Audited report was issued at Gibraltar, April 9th, 2018

Gibraltar BDO Limited
Christian Summerfield, auditor
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ASSURANCE BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholders of Aspire Global plc (formerly Aspire Global Limited)

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

OPINION 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of 
Aspire Global plc and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which 
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position 
as at December 31st 2017, and the consolidated state-
ment of comprehensive income, consolidated statement 
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash 
flows for the year then ended, and Notes to the consolidat-
ed financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies. 

In our opinion the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the finan-
cial position of the Group as at December 31st 2017, and its 
financial performance and its cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards adopted by EU (IFRSs).

BASIS FOR OPINION 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in 
accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board 
for Accountants Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
(IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical respon-
sibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF MANAGEMENT AND DIRECTORS
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in accordance 
with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of finan-
cial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the management 
is responsible for assessing the company’s ability to con-
tinue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless management either intend to liquidate 
the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Directors are responsible for overseeing the company’s 
financial reporting process. 
 
AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT  
OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accor-
dance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
consolidated financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also: 
•   Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 

of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control. 

•   Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to 
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are ap-
propriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s 
internal control.

•   Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the directors. 

•   Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use 
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncer-
tainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated fi-
nancial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

•   Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 
of the consolidated financial statements, including the dis-
closures, and whether the financial statements represent 
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation.

•   Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the 
financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidat-
ed financial statements. We are responsible for the direc-
tion, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We 
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and sig-
nificant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies 
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared 
for and only for the company’s members as a body in ac-
cordance with our engagement letter and for no other pur-
pose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume 
responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person 
to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may 
come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in 
writing.

Christian Summerfield (Non-Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of
BDO Limited 

5.20 World Trade Center
6 Bayside Road
Gibraltar

April 9th, 2018 
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DEFINITIONS

Aspire Global’s definitions of a number of performance measures 
and industry terms presented in the annual report. 

Active players Players with activated (played) deposits during the period

Affiliate Companies that convey advertising on the internet on behalf of various websites

Betting duties Betting duties are excise duties on gaming. The tax is paid by anyone organizing gaming for 
the public or organizing games for business purposes. 

company Hold Net gaming revenues/deposits 

CRM Customers Relation Management

Earnings per share Profit for the period divided by the average number of outstanding shares during the period

EBITDA Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization

EBITDA margin EBITDA/net revenues 
(Note that being the license holder means Aspire Global receives payment directly from 
players, as oppose to a royalty from partners; which is the case for most other B2B-com-
panies. Adjusted for these circumstances, the company’s EBITDA margin would be much 
higher, meaning EBITDA-margin is not fully comparable to the EBITDA-margin of peers.)

EBITDA margin, adjusted EBITDA margin adjusted for discontinued operations

EBITDA, adjusted EBITDA adjusted for discontinued operations

Gaming license Approval to operate and provide online gaming in a regulated market

Gaming transactions Total bets on games in a certain period

GDPR Abbreviation of the English name General Data Protection Regulation. In Swedish, this is 
called the Allmänna dataskyddsförordningen. GDPR is a regulation adopted by the EU, 
which applies as of May 25th 2018. The aim is to strengthen protection for individuals in 
the handling of personal information and the regulation defines the handling of informa-
tion that can be directly or indirectly linked to an individual

Gross Gaming Revenues (GGR) Total bets minus prizes

HTML Hyper Text Markup Language. A standard markup language used to create web pages

Jackpot Typically a large cash prize, accumulated of unwon prizes

LTV Total net profit from a specific player

LTV-model Lifetime Value Model – Statistic tool for prediction of the total future net profit from a 
specific player 

MGA Malta Gaming Authority

Net Gaming Revenues Gros gaming revenue (GGR) adjusted for bonus costs and external jackpot contributions

Partner royalties Share of net gaming revenue (NGR) kept by Aspire Global before paying partners. 

Player acquisition cost The cost of acquiring FTDs

Regulated markets Markets with local regulations for online gaming, limiting casinos operations to companies 
holding a local license

Revenue growth Revenues (period)/Revenues (previous period)

Revenues, adjusted Revenues adjusted for discontinued operations 

Set-up-fee A fixed set-up fee is charged immediately following the agreement to launch a new casino

Slots Casino game with three or more reels which spin when a button is pushed.  
Slot machines are also known as one-armed bandits. 

DEFINITIONS
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IPO 
In 2017, Aspire Global was listed for trading on the NASDAQ 
First North Premier in Stockholm, Sweden. The offering 
comprised of 8,856,603 existing Shares offered by the 
selling shareholders and 2,099,716 new shares issued by 
the company. The Offering Price had been set to SEK 30 per 
share, corresponding to a value of the company’s shares of 
SEK 1,323 million after the completion. The offering was sig-
nificantly over-subscribed and trading commenced on Tues-
day July 11th. At year-end 2017, the number of shareholders 
was 958, ten of which held 85.76% of shares and votes. 

SHARE PERFORMANCE 
Based on the closing price paid on December 29th 2017, SEK 
35, Aspire Global’s market capitalization was SEK 1,543 million. 
The share price rose 16.7% in 2017 from the listing on July 11th, 
2017, while the total index, OMX Stockholm PI, decreased by 
1.8% in the same period. The highest closing price during the 
year was SEK 42.60 on August 7th, 2017, and the lowest closing 
price was SEK 30.00, on July 11th, 2017; listing date. Since the 
listing, a total of 6,496,180 shares were traded, with an average 
daily trading volume of 53,247 shares. 

OUTSTANDING SHARE OPTIONS
At year-end 2017, there were 44,094,036 outstanding shares, 
totaling 68 TEUR. 2,855,500 share options are outstanding of 
which 538,300 were exercisable per 31 December 2017. 

DIVIDENDS AND DISTRIBUTION POLICY 
Aspire Global’s dividend policy is to distribute annual divi-
dend totaling at least 50% of the company’s net profits after 
taxes, subject to the discretion of the Board of Directors. 
When considering the distribution of dividends, the Board 
of Directors of Aspire Global may consider the then-existing 
conditions, including the company’s financial results, capital 
requirements, the Group’s ability to meet its foreseeable 
financial liabilities, investment opportunities, contractual re-
strictions, statutory restrictions on Aspire Global’s ability to 
pay dividends as prescribed by the Maltese companies laws, 
and other factors deemed relevant by the board. During 
2017, Aspire Global distributed €12 million. 

The Aspire Global share has been listed on NASDAQ First North Premier 
in Stockholm, Sweden, since July 11th, 2017 under the name ASPIRE. 

THE SHARE
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LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS 

(December 31st 2017)
Number of 

shares

Share of 
votes and 

cappital
Matalon, Barak 12 048 000 27%
Pini Zahavi 7 503 000 17%
Eli Azur 7 500 516 17%
Aran, Aharon 3 000 000 7%
Swedbank Robur Ny Teknik BTI 1 686 650 4%
Swedbank Nordic Microcap 1 666 650 4%
Oppenheimer and Co (ESOP) 1 447 740 3%
Fondita Nordic small CAP 1 350 000 3%
JPMEL – Stockholm branch 900 000 2%
BPSS LDN/Henderson European 
smaller 713 267 2%
Swiss Life Lichtenstein AG 650 378 1%
Ram One 580 821 1%
Larsson, Martin 550 000 1%
Försäkringsaktiebolaget,  
Avanza pension 484 548 1%
Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken S.A, 
W8IMY 349 191 1%
Ålandsbanken i ägares ställe 335 276 1%
Danica Pension 70145887 250 028 1%
Lars Wingefors Kapitalförvaltning 231 250 1%
SEB S.A. Client Assets UCITS. 215 365 0.5%
Öhman Global growth 212 500 0.5%
Total 20 largest shareholders 41 675 180 95.00%
Other 938 shareholders 2 418 856 5.00%
Total 44 094 036 100%

OWNERSHIP DISTRIBUTION
Number of 

shareholders
Number of 

shares
Share of 

votes
Physical entities 872 31 768 643 91%
Legal entities 86 12 325 393 9%
Total 958 44 094 036 100%
Of which based in 
Sweden 801 7 782 279 000 18%

DISTRIBUTION STRUCTURE
Number of 

shareholders
Number of 

shares
Share of 

votes
1–1000 681 216,657 0.5%
1,001–5,000 186 434,368 1.0%
5001–25,000 54 637,262 1.4%
25,001–50,000 10 354,015 0.8%
50,001–100,000 4 284,677 0.6%
100,001–500,000 10 2,570,035 5.8%
500,001–1,000,000 5 3,394,466 7.7%
>1,000,001 8 36, 202,556 82.1%
Total 958 44,094,036 100%

ANALYST WHO MONITOR ASPIRE GLOBAL
Lars-Ola Hellström
Viktor Högberg
Pareto Securities AB

Johan Svantesson
Kristoffer Lindström
Redeye

Markus Augustsson
Birger Jarl Securities

THE SHARE

KEY FIGURES, PER SHARE
 • Earnings per share, from continuing operations €0.27*

 • Outstanding shares at year end, thousands 44,096

 • Average number of shares, thousands 42,957

 • Last price paid 2017, SEK 35.00

 • Highest closing price paid 2017, SEK 42.60

 • Lowest closing price paid 2017, SEK 30.00

 • Market capitalization at year-end, SEK 1,543 million

 • Number of shareholders, December 31st, 2017, 958

* €0.23 including results of associated companied
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SHAREHOLDER  
INFORMATION
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
Aspire Global Plc invites its shareholders to participate in 
the company’s Annual General Meeting on Tuesday May 
8th 2018, at 13:00, in Berzelii park 9, 103 91, Stockholm, 
Sweden. Registration starts at 12:00 p.m.

Shareholders who would like to participate in the AGM 
must be registered in the share register maintained by 
Euroclear Sweden AB by Wednesday May 2nd 2018 and 
register their attendance with the company no later than 
Thursday May 3rd 2018, via email agm@aspireglobal.com 

Registration 
When registering, shareholders must include their name, 
personal identity or corporate registration number, ad-
dress, telephone number, email address, the names of any 
assistants and their shareholding. Power-of-attorney forms 
for shareholders wishing to participate by proxy will be 
available on the company’s website, www.aspireglobal.com. 
Shareholders participating by proxy are required to provide 
their proxy with a dated power-of-attorney form. If the 
power of attorney is provided on behalf of a legal entity, a 
certified copy of a registration certificate or equivalent doc-

ument for the legal entity must be enclosed with the notice 
of attendance. The power of attorney and registration cer-
tificate must be sent to the company at the above address 
well in advance of the meeting. The power of attorney may 
not be more than five years old. 

Nominee-registered shares
Shareholders whose shares are registered with a bank’s 
trust department or another nominee must temporarily 
have their shares re-registered in their own name with 
Euroclear Sweden AB to be able to participate in the AGM. 
Said re-registration must be completed by no later than 
Wednesday May 2nd 2018. 

Dividend
The Board proposes that the AGM resolve on a transfer of 
€3.8 million, or SEK 0.85 per share, to be paid for the 2017 
financial year. The Board of Directors intends to propose to 
the AGM that the dividend to sharholders is paid in cash.  

CALENDAR FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 2018
Interim report for the 3-month period  
January-March (Q1) May 8th 2018

Interim report for the 6-month period  
January-June (Q2)  August 14th 2018

Interim report for the 9-month period  
January-September (Q3) November 8th 2018

Year-end report (Q4)  February 14th 2019

Financial reports are available in English at the company website,  
www.aspireglobal.com/investors. 

CONTACT 
 • Tsachi Maimon, CEO, tel: +356-79777898  

or email: tsachi@aspireglobal.com 

 • Motti Gil, CFO, tel: +972- 73 372 3154  
or email: mottigi@aspireglobal.com 
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COMPANY 
HISTORY
2005 – THE COMPANY IS FOUNDED
The company is founded as NeoPoint Technologies Limited, 
serving the online scratch card market through the website 
“Scratch2Cash,” followed by a proprietary online slots site 
launched in the United Kingdom.  

2008 – GAMING LICENSE IN MALTA
A gaming license is obtained in Malta and white label part-
ners are signed in eight markets. 

2012 – EXPANSION TO REGULATED MARKETS
Gaming licenses are obtained in the newly regulated mar-
kets of Denmark, Belgium and Italy, and the casino offering 
is expanded to these markets. 

2014 –  TOTAL OF 15 PARTNERS, COMPANY NAME IS 
CHANGED TO ASPIRE GLOBAL

A license is obtained in the United Kingdom and the online 
lottery business is organized as a separate company (NeoG-
ames), while the new company Aspire Global focuses on the 
white label offering. 

2016 – TOTAL OF 25 PARTNERS
Six new operators are added, five new brands are launched 
and the game portfolio is expanded with four new game 
suppliers: Microgaming, CGS-NYX, Evolution Gaming and 
Play n’ Go. Focus shifts to the B2B-segment and regulated 
markets.  

2017 – SEE PAGE 4-5

THE COMPANY
MALTA
Aspire Global plc
Level G, Office 1/5086,  
Quantum House
75 Abate Rigord Street
Ta’ Xbiex XBX1120, Malta

ISRAEL
Aspire Global Marketing Solutions Ltd.
30 Sheshet Hyamim Street
5120261 Bnei Brak, Israel

CERTIFIED ADVISOR
FNCA AB
Humlegårdsgatan 5
P.O. Box 5807
SE-102 48 Stockholm,  
Sweden

THE COMPANY’S AUDITOR
BDO LIMITED – GIBRALTAR
5.20 World Trade
6 Bayside Road
Gibraltar, GX11 1AA

ADDRESSES
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